Inauguraldissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften der Universität Mannheim

vorgelegt von

Dirk Saller

aus Mannheim

Mannheim 2001

D. Saller

Dekan:Prof. Dr. Guido Moerkotte, Universität MannheimReferent:Prof. Dr. Ernst Binz, Universität MannheimKorreferent:Prof. Dr. Marco Modugno, Universität Florenz, Italien

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 25. Mai 2001

ii

In deep gratitude to my family

D. Saller

iv

Deutsche Zusammenfassung: "Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics"

Die Arbeit besteht aus zwei Teilen.

Im ersten Teil der Arbeit präsentiere ich eine aktuelle Version der Theorie der kovarianten Quantenmechanik und des klassischen Hintergrunds. Diese Theorie wurde ursprünglich von Jadczyk und Modugno vorgeschlagen und dann in Kooperation mit anderen Personen weiterentwickelt. Sie ist ein geometrisches Modell für die Quantenmechanik eines skalaren oder spin-tragenden Teilchens in einer gekrümmten Raumzeit mit absoluter Zeit mit gegebenem klassischem gravitativen und elektromagnetischem Feld. Von ein paar Axiomen ausgehend, liefert die Theorie auf kovariantem Weg, über einen globalen Lagrange Formalismus, die Schrödinger Gleichung und die Quantenoperatoren, welche klassischen quantisierbaren Funktionen über die Klassifizierung ausgezeichneter Quantenvektorfelder zugeordnet sind.

Im zweiten Teil der Arbeit untersuche ich systematisch die infinitesimalen Symmetrien der klassischen und der quantistischen geometrischen Struktur. Dieser Teil handelt von den wesentlichen originellen Beiträgen der Arbeit. Einige Ergebnisse spiegeln wohlbekannte Tatsachen aus anderen mathematischen Modellen der Quantenmechanik wider, werden aber mit neuartigen Techniken hergeleitet. Andere Ergebnisse sind vollständig neu. Die wichtigsten originellen Ergebnisse können mit Hilfe der folgenden Aussagen kurz beschrieben werden.

Die Quantensymmetrien sind Lie Algebren, welche natürlich isomorph zu Unteralgebren der neuen klassischen Lie Algebra der quantisierbaren Funktionen sind. Ich möchte betonen, dass diese Algebra keine Poisson-Unteralgebra ist.

Auf der anderen Seite kann man durch Verwendung des Quanten-Lagrange Formalismus zu jedem Element einer ausgezeichneten klassischen Unteralgebra einen erhaltenen Quantenstrom zuordnen. Diese Ergebnisse deuten auf einen Prequanten Ursprung der Wahrscheinlichkeitsinterpretation der Quantenmechanik.

D. Saller

CONTENTS

0.1 Covariant quantum mechanics			
			ХП
0.1.1 Classical background	• •		xii
0.1.2 Covariant quantum mechanics \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots			xix
0.2 Symmetries \ldots			xxiv
0.2.1 Classical symmetries			xxiv
0.2.2 Quantum symmetries			xxvi
1 Preliminaries			1
1.1 Basic notation			1
1.2 General connections			2
1.3 Lie derivatives of sections			5
1.4 Infinitesimal symmetries			7
1.5 Jets			9
1.6 Holonomic prolongation			10
2 Classical theory			15
2.1 Classical framework			15
2.1.1 Spacetime			16
$2.1.2$ Metric field \ldots			16
2.1.3 Gravitational and electromagnetic fields			20
2.1.4 Examples of spacetime			$\frac{1}{21}$
2.1.5 Classical phase space			21
2.1.6 Distinguished phase fields			$23^{}$
2.1.7 Classical kinematics			$\frac{-5}{25}$
2.1.8 Classical mechanics			$\overline{25}$
2.2 Hamiltonian stuff			$\frac{-3}{28}$
2.2.1 Musical morphisms			$\frac{-0}{28}$
2.2.2 Hamiltonian lift of functions			$\frac{-0}{30}$
2.2.3 Classical symmetries	• •		31
2.2.4 Poisson Lie algebra			32
2.3 Lie algebra of special quadratic functions			34
2.3.1 Special quadratic functions		•••	34
2.3.2 Classification of classical symmetries			37

		2.3.3	Special Lie bracket				 40
		2.3.4	Tangent lift of special quadratic functions				 44
		2.3.5	Further expression of the special bracket				 45
		2.3.6	Hamiltonian lift of special quadratic functions				 48
	2.4	Subal	gebras of the algebra of special quadratic functions				 52
		2.4.1	Subalgebra of constants of motion				 52
		2.4.2	Holonomic subalgebra				 55
		2.4.3	Self–holonomic subalgebra				 57
		2.4.4	Unimodular and conformal unimodular subalgebras \ldots				 64
		2.4.5	Classical subalgebra				 65
	2.5	Nöthe	er Symmetries			•	 66
	2.6	Covar	iant momentum map		•	•	 67
3	Qu	antum	n theory				71
	3.1	Quant	tum framework				 71
		3.1.1	Quantum bundle				 71
		3.1.2	Extended quantum bundle				 75
		3.1.3	Quantum connection				 76
		3.1.4	Quantum differentials				 79
		3.1.5	Quantum Lagrangian				 80
	3.2	Symm	netries of the quantum framework				 83
		3.2.1	Symmetries of the complex linear structure structure				 83
		3.2.2	Symmetries of the Hermitian metric of Q				 86
		3.2.3	Symmetries of the Hermitian metric of Q^{\uparrow}			•	 94
		3.2.4	Projectable Hermitian vector fields of Q^{\uparrow}			•	 100
		3.2.5	Symmetries of the quantum connection			•	 104
		3.2.6	Symmetries of the quantum structure			•	 107
	3.3	Quant	tum Nöther symmetries		•	•	 109
		3.3.1	Holonomic symmetries of the quantum Lagrangian		•	•	 109
		3.3.2	Quantum currents	•••	•	•	 113
	Co	nclusio	ons and outlook				Ι
	Ac	knowle	edgements				III
	Erl	klärung	g				V
	Bik	oliogra	phy				VII

The methods of progress in theoretical physics have undergone a vast change during the present century. The classical tradition has been to consider the world to be an association of observable objects (particles, fluids, fields, etc.) moving about according to definite laws of force, so that one could form a mental picture in space and time of the whole scheme. This led to a physics whose aim was to make assumptions about the mechanism and forces connecting these observable objects, to account for their behaviour in the simplest possible way. It has become increasingly evident in recent times, however, that nature works on a different plan. Her fundamental laws do not govern the world as it appears in our mental picture in any very direct way, but instead they control a substratum of which we cannot form a mental picture without introducing irrelevancies. The formulation of these laws requires the use of the mathematics of transformations. The important things in the world appear as the invariants (or more generally the nearly invariants, or quantities with simple transformation properties) of these transformations. The things we are immediately aware of are the relations of these nearly invariants to a certain frame of reference, usually one chosen so as to introduce special simplifying features which are unimportant from the point of view of general theory. ... There is the symbolic method, which deals directly in an abstract way with the quantities of fundamental importance (the invariants, etc., of the transformations) and there is the method of coordinates or representations, ... The second of these has usually been used for the presentation of quantum mechanics ...

P. A. M. Dirac, Principles of Quantum Mechanics (1958)

D. Saller

INTRODUCTION

Our fundamental picture of the physical world is due to the theory of general relativity and to the quantum field theory, which got great theoretical and experimental success.

The well established historical steps in classical theory have been: non relativistic theory, special relativity, general relativity. Analogously, the well established steps in quantum theory have been: non relativistic quantum mechanics, special relativistic quantum field theory. For instance, well known monographs on this subject are [29, 40] for non relativistic quantum mechanics, [16, 137] for quantum field theory and [123] for relativity.

Unfortunately, these theories deal with different objects, use partially incompatible mathematical methods and fulfill different requirements of covariance. In particular, the standard formulation of quantum theories is highly based on concepts and methods strictly related to a flat spacetime and inertial observers, which conflict with general covariance on a curved spacetime.

So, a still open problem is a consistent formulation of quantum field theories and general relativity. The problem has at least two faces:

general relativistic covariant formulation of quantum theories in a curved spacetime,quantum theory of gravitational field.

The model of *covariant quantum mechanics* discussed in this paper is aimed at contributing to the first face of the problem, by means of new ideas and methods [55, 56, 57, 20, 59, 60, 64, 130, 64, 161, 162, 67, 163, 164, 62, 128, 140]. Namely, we study a general relativistic covariant formulation of quantum mechanics on a classical background constituted by a curved spacetime fibred over absolute time and equipped with given spacelike Riemannian metric, and gravitational and electromagnetic fields. Thus, we restrict our investigation just to fundamental fields of classical and quantum mechanics, because we believe that this is an arena which could possibly suggest us good ideas for unifying deeper fundamental theories of physics.

The framework of our model is allowed by the possible general relativistic formulation of classical physics in a curved spacetime with absolute time. This theory is well established in the literature [31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 38, 51, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 87, 91, 100, 110, 141, 151, 152, 153, 154], even if it is much less popular than the Einstein theory of relativity. This theory is rigorous and self-consistent from a mathematical viewpoint and describes the phenomena of classical physics by an approximation which is intermediate between the classical theory and the Einstein theory of relativity.

Our model can be regarded as an intermediate step between the standard non relativistic quantum mechanics and a possible fully general relativistic quantum theory. This framework allows us to focus our attention on the general relativistic covariance and the curved spacetime, detaching them from the difficulties due to the Lorentz metric. Actually, our choice seems to be quite fruitful.

The main new methods and achievements can be summarised as follows.

First of all, our basic guide is the *covariance* (even more, the manifest covariance) of the theory as heuristic requirement. Nowadays, the concept of "covariance" has been formulated in a rigorous mathematical way through the geometric concept of "naturality" [75]. According to the covariance of the theory, *time* is not just a parameter, but a fundamental object of the theory; accordingly, the main objects of the theory are not assumed to be split into time and space components. As classical *phase space* we take the first jet space of spacetime and not its tangent space; indeed, this minimal choice allows us to skip anholonomic constraints. Another consequence of our choices is that classical mechanics is ruled not by a symplectic structure, but by a cosymplectic structure [3, 19, 103, 114]; actually, we do get a symplectic structure, but this describes only the spacelike aspects of classical theory and is insufficient to account for classical dynamics. An achievement of our theory is the Lie algebra of "special quadratic functions" (different from the Poisson algebra), which allows us to treat energy, momentum and spacetime functions on the same footing. We emphasize the fact that classical mechanics can be formulated in a covariant way by a Lagrangian approach, but not by a Hamiltonian approach, because the Hamiltonian depends essentially on an observer.

As far as quantum mechanics is concerned, all objects are derived, in a covariant way, from three minimal objects. Here, we have some novelties. The quantum bundle lives on spacetime and not on the phase space and the quantum connection is "universal". These assumptions allow us to skip all problems of polarisations [168]. Indeed, we replace the problematic search for such inclusions with a *method of projectability*, which turns out to be our implementation of covariance in the quantum theory. Another new assumption concerns the *Hermitian metric* of the quantum bundle, which takes its values in the space of complexified spacelike volume forms. This assumption allows us to skip the problems related to half-densities. The Schrödinger equation is obtained, in a covariant way, through a Lagrangian approach and not through the standard non covariant Hamiltonian approach. Indeed, we exhibit an *explicit expression* of the Schrödinger equation for any quantum system. The quantum operators arise automatically, in a covariant way, from the *classification* of distinguished first and second order differential operators of the quantum framework and not from a quantisation requirement of a classical system. The seat for the covariant probabilistic interpretation of quantum mechanics is a Hilbert bundle, naturally yielded by the quantum bundle, and not just a Hilbert space. Our theory provides explicit expressions of all objects for any *accelerated observer* and yields, at the same time, an interpretation in terms of gravitational field, according to the principle of equivalence.

In a few words, we start with really minimal geometric structures representing physical fields and proceed along a thread naturally imposed by the only requirement of general covariance. We take the well established *results* of classical and quantum mechanics as touchstone of our model. On the other hand, according to the aims of our theory,

we disregard those standard *methods*, which are incompatible with general covariance. Indeed, in the flat case, the results of our model reduce to the results of the standard classical and quantum mechanics.

The standard term "relativistic theory" links the special or general covariance with the Minkowski or Lorentz metric. This usage is clearly motivated by the historical developments of the Einstein theory. However, it would be more appropriate to refer the word "relativistic theory" only to its semantic meaning related to covariance. Indeed, the standard usage would be highly misleading in our context. In fact, our model is general relativistic, in the sense of covariance, but is not Minkowskian or Lorentzian.

Clearly, the Minkowski or Lorentz metric is physically related to the distinguished constant c. Actually, in our model this constant does not occur. The classical limit of Einstein general relativity for $c \to \infty$ is quite delicate, if we wish to understand the limit of the geometric structures of the model and not only the limit of some measurements. In a sense, our model could be regarded as the "true" classical limit of Einstein general relativity.

In this paper, we deal just with a given gravitational and electromagnetic field; this is sufficient as classical background of our covariant model of quantum mechanics. On the other hand, our classical model can be completed by adding, in a covariant way, the equations linking the gravitational and electromagnetic fields to their mass and charge sources [57]. These equations are a spacelike version of the Einstein and Maxwell equations. In fact, due to the spacelike nature of the metric, there is no way to couple the timelike components of the gravitational and electromagnetic fields with the timelike components of their sources. It is just this the main point which makes the Einstein model physically much more complete than ours.

The reader might be puzzled by the fact that we do not mention explicitly the representations of the (finite dimensional and infinite dimensional) groups involved in our theory. In fact, our natural geometric constructions provide these representations automatically. This is an outproduct of our explicitly covariant approach.

In our model we never make an essential use of the fact that the dimension of spacetime is n = 1 + 3; We just need $n \ge 1 + 2$. In fact we have applied our machinery to the quantisation of a rigid body, whose configuration space has dimension n = 1 + 3 + 3 [163]. However, within this thesis I have set n = 1 + 3 for simplicity. All my results can be generalized to n > 1 + 3.

Even more, in our model we never make an essential use of the fact that the spacelike metric of spacetime is Riemannian; we just need that it is non degenerate on each fibre. So, we could, for instance, apply our machinery to a model of dimension 5, with a fibring on an extra parameter, whose fibres are four dimensional Lorentzian manifolds. Such a model would work pretty well mathematically, but we do not know any interesting physical interpretation.

The scheme developed for covariant quantum mechanics of a scalar particle can be easily and nicely extended to the case of a spin particle [20].

In spite of the differences of the starting scheme of spacetime, several steps of the above

methodology appeared to be usefully translatable to the *Einstein case*. In particular, so far, we have been able to apply to the Einstein case the methods concerning the classical phase space, the algebra of quantisable functions and the algebra of pre-quantum operators [59, 63, 64, 61, 68, 65].

We hope that the new methods arising in our model could yield fruitful hints for a possible generally covariant formulation of quantum field theory in an Einstein framework.

Now, let us come to the contents of this thesis. I would like to stress that in the following systematic analysis of *symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics*, I have been influenced strongly by the spirits of Marco Modugno and Ernst Binz. On the other hand, the literature which I have studied during this research work was extensive. I have collected it in the bibliography. Beside the works of J. Janyška, M. Modugno and R. Vitolo, I have spent the most time with [2, 3, 19, 25, 29, 75, 94, 102, 103, 104, 105, 107, 108, 111, 113, 114, 115, 118, 139, 145, 146, 155, 168].

The rest of this introduction is a summary of the contents of this thesis[70] and serves as a leading guide in order to get a first, rough impression. The first section sketches the the classical background and the quantum theory within our framework. It is basically an up to date rearrangement of known results. The second section presents the main original contributions of this thesis to the theory. More precisely, I have studied systematically the symmetries of classical and quantum theory and, additionally, their interplay.

0.1 Covariant quantum mechanics

0.1.1 Classical background

We start by sketching our covariant model of classical curved spacetime fibred over absolute time, and the related formulation of classical mechanics. We recall the basic elements of the model and present new results, as well.

According to [57, 54], we postulate:

(C.1) a *classical spacetime* \boldsymbol{E} , which is an oriented four dimensional manifold;

(C.2) the *absolute time* T, which is an oriented one dimensional affine space, associated with the vector space $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$;

(C.3) a time fibring $t: E \to T$, which is a surjective map of rank 1;

(C.4) a "scaled" spacelike metric g, which is a "scaled" Riemannian metric on the fibres of spacetime;

(C.5) a gravitational field K^{\natural} , which is a linear connection of spacetime (i.e. of the fibring $T E \to E$), which preserves the time fibring and the spacelike metric and whose curvature fulfills the typical symmetry of Riemannian connections;

(C.6) a "scaled" *electromagnetic field* f, which is a "scaled" closed 2–form of spacetime.

Here, the word "scaled" used for the spacelike metric and the electromagnetic field means that these objects are tensorialised by a suitable scale factor which accounts for

the appropriate units of measurement.

A time unit of measurement will be denoted by $u^0 \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ and its dual by $u_0 \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}^*$.

We refer to charts of spacetime $(x^{\lambda}) = (x^0, x^i)$ adapted to the time fibring, to the affine structure of time and to a time unit of measurement $u_0 \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$.

With reference to a given particle of mass m and charge q, in order to get rid of any choice of length and mass units of measurement, it is convenient to "normalise" the spacelike metric and the electromagnetic field, by considering the Planck constant \hbar .

Thus, we consider the "re–scaled" spacelike metric $G := \frac{m}{\hbar} g$, which takes its values in $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$. Its coordinate expression is

$$G = G^0_{ij} u_0 \otimes \check{d}^i \otimes \check{d}^j \,,$$

where d^i is the spacelike differential of the coordinate x^i .

Analogously, we consider the "re–scaled" electromagnetic field $F := \frac{q}{\hbar} f$, which is a true form.

Accordingly, all objects derived from G and F will be re–scaled and will include the mass and the charge of the particle, and the Planck constant as well.

As phase space for the classical particle we take the first order jet space $J_1 E$ of the spacetime fibring [75]. We recall that $J_1 E$ can be naturally identified with the affine subspace of $\overline{\mathbb{T}}^* \otimes T E$, whose elements v are normalised according to the condition $v_0^0 = 1$ (which is independent from the choice of a unit of measurement of time). The chart naturally induced on the phase space by a spacetime chart is denoted by (x^0, x^i, x_0^i) .

We have assumed a projection of spacetime over time, but, according to the principle of general relativity, not a distinguished splitting of spacetime into space and time. In other words, for each spacetime vector X, we obtain, in a covariant way, its projection on time $X^0 u_0$, but not a timelike and a spacelike component.

On the other hand, an observer is defined to be a section $o: \mathbf{E} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$. The coordinate expression of an observer o is of the type $o = u^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i)$. An observer o yields a splitting of each spacetime vector X into its observed timelike and spacelike components $v = v^0(\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i) + (v^i - v^0 o_0^i) \partial_i^n$

A spacetime chart is said to be adapted to an observer if $o_0^i = 0$; conversely, each spacetime chart determines an observer.

According to the principle of general relativity, we do not assume distinguished observers.

The above objects $C.1, \ldots, C.6$ yield in a covariant way [57, 54]:

- the time form $dt: \mathbf{E} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}} \otimes T^* \mathbf{E}$ on spacetime;
- a spacelike volume form η and a spacetime volume form v on spacetime;
- a 2-form $\Omega^{\natural}: J_1 E \to \Lambda^2 T^* J_1 E$ on the phase space;
- a dt-vertical 2-vector $\Lambda^{\natural}: J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \Lambda^2 V J_1 \mathbf{E}$ of the phase space,
- a second order connection $\gamma^{\natural}: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}^* \otimes T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$ of spacetime,

Here, we have used the symbol \ddagger to label objects derived from the gravitational field. We obtain the following identities

$$\begin{split} i(\gamma^{\natural}) \, dt &= 1 \,, \qquad i(\gamma^{\natural}) \, \Omega^{\natural} = 0 \,, \qquad dt \wedge \Omega^{\natural} \wedge \Omega^{\natural} \wedge \Omega^{\natural} \not\equiv 0 \,, \\ d\Omega^{\natural} &= 0 \,, \qquad L[\gamma^{\natural}] \, \Lambda^{\natural} = 0 \,, \qquad [\Lambda^{\natural}, \, \Lambda^{\natural}] = 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, the pair (dt, Ω^{\natural}) turns out to be a *scaled cosymplectic structure* of the phase space.

Moreover, Λ^{\natural} and Ω^{\natural} yield inverse linear isomorphisms between the vector spaces of dt-vertical vectors and γ^{\natural} -horizontal forms of the phase space.

The Lie derivative of the spacelike metric G and of the spacelike volume form η with respect to a vector field of E is well defined provided that the vector field is projectable on T.

If X is a vector field of \boldsymbol{E} projectable on \boldsymbol{T} , then we define its *spacelike divergence* by means of the equality $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = L[X] \eta$. We have the coordinate expression

$$\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = X^0 \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_i (X^i \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}.$$

It is convenient to add an electromagnetic term to the gravitational field, in a covariant way [57, 54], according to the formula

$$K = K^{\natural} + K^{\mathfrak{e}} := K^{\natural} + \frac{1}{2} \left(dt \otimes \hat{F} + \hat{F} \otimes dt \right),$$

i.e., in coordinates,

$$K_h{}^i{}_k = K^{\natural}{}_h{}^i{}_k, \qquad K_0{}^i{}_k = K^{\natural}{}_0{}^i{}_k + \frac{1}{2}G_0^{ij}F_{jk}, \qquad K_0{}^i{}_0 = K^{\natural}{}_0{}^i{}_0 + G_0^{ij}F_{j0},$$

where $\hat{F} := G_0^{ij} F_{j\lambda} d^0 \otimes \partial_i \otimes d^{\lambda}$.

Then, "total" object K turns out to be a connection of spacetime, which fulfills the same properties postulated in (C.5). Moreover, all main formulas in classical and quantum mechanics concerning the given particle and involving the gravitational and electromagnetic fields can be expressed through the "total" K and its derived objects, without the need of splitting it into its gravitational and electromagnetic components.

Proceeding with the total spacetime connection K as before, we obtain the "total" second order connection, 2-form and 2-vector

$$\gamma = \gamma^{\natural} + \gamma^{\mathfrak{e}}, \qquad \Omega = \Omega^{\natural} + \Omega^{\mathfrak{e}}, \qquad \Lambda = \Lambda^{\natural} + \Lambda^{\mathfrak{e}},$$

where the electromagnetic terms $\gamma^{\mathfrak{e}}$, $\Omega^{\mathfrak{e}}$ and $\Lambda^{\mathfrak{e}}$ turn out to be, respectively, the Lorentz force, $\frac{1}{2}$ the re-scaled electromagnetic field and $\frac{1}{2}$ the re-scaled contravariant spacelike electromagnetic field (i.e. the magnetic field).

These total objects fulfill all properties fulfilled by the gravitational objects as above.

The total *cosymplectic 2–form* Ω encodes the full structure of spacetime (metric, gravitational field and electromagnetic field), hence it plays a central role in the theory.

We have the following coordinate expressions

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_{00}^{i} &= K_{h}^{i}{}_{k} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + 2 K_{0}^{i}{}_{k} x_{0}^{k} + K_{0}^{i}{}_{0} \\ \Omega &= G_{ij}^{0} \left(d_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} d^{0} - (K_{h}^{i}{}_{0} + K_{h}^{i}{}_{k} x_{0}^{k}) (d^{h} - x_{0}^{h} d^{0}) \right) \wedge (d^{j} - x_{0}^{j} d^{0}) \\ \Lambda &= G_{0}^{ij} \left(\partial_{i} + (K_{i}^{h}{}_{0} + K_{i}^{h}{}_{k} x_{0}^{k}) \partial_{h}^{0} \right) \wedge \partial_{j}^{0} . \end{aligned}$$

The classical mechanics can be achieved as follows.

The second order connection γ yields, in a covariant way, the generalised Newton law $\nabla j_1 s = 0$, for a motion $s : \mathbf{T} \to \mathbf{E}$. Clearly, this equation splits into its gravitational and electromagnetic components as $\nabla^{\natural} j_1 s = \gamma^{\mathfrak{e}} \circ j_1 s$.

Moreover, the classical dynamics can be derived from Ω , by a Lagrangian formalism, in the following covariant way [130, 54].

0.1.1. Proposition. The closed 2-form Ω admits locally *horizontal potentials* Θ : $J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T^* \mathbf{E}$, which are defined up to closed 1-forms of spacetime.

The horizontal potentials Θ have coordinate expression of the type

$$\Theta = -(\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j - A_0) d^0 + (G_{ij}^0 x_0^j + A_j) d^i, \quad \text{with} \quad A \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E}) . \square$$

A horizontal potential Θ and observer o yield the *classical potential* $A := o^* \Theta : E \to T^* E$, which is defined locally up to a closed form and depends on the observer.

0.1.2. Proposition. Let us consider a given horizontal potential Θ ; if o and $\bar{o} = o + v$ are two observers, then the associated potentials A and \bar{A} are related, in a chart adapted to o, by the formula

$$ar{A} = A - rac{1}{2} \, G^0_{ij} \, v^i_0 \, v^j_0 \, d^0 + G^0_{ij} \, v^j_0 \, d^i \, .$$

Therefore, each horizontal potential Θ determines a distinguished observer; in fact, there is a unique observer o, such that the spacelike component of the associated potential A vanishes. \Box

An observer o yields the observed 2-form $\Phi := 2 o^* \Omega : \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E}$.

0.1.3. Proposition. We have $\Phi_{\lambda\mu} = \partial_{\lambda}A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}A_{\lambda}$.

We obtain also $\Phi_{0k} := -G_{kj}^0 K_0{}^j{}_0$ and $\Phi_{hk} := G_{hj}^0 K_k{}^j{}_0 - G_{kj}^0 K_h{}^j{}_0$.

0.1.4. Proposition. A horizontal potential Θ yields, in a covariant way, the *classical Lagrangian* $\mathcal{L}: J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T^* \mathbf{T}$, with coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j + x_0^i A_i + A_0\right) d^0,$$

where A_{λ} are the components of the potential A observed by the observer o associated with the chart. The Lagrangian is defined locally and up to a gauge, but does not depend on any observer. The Poincaré–Cartan form associated with the Lagrangian \mathcal{L} turns out to be just Θ .

The Euler–Lagrange equation associated with \mathcal{L} turns out to coincide with the generalised Newton law. \Box

0.1.5. Proposition. A horizontal potential Θ and an observer o yield the *classical* Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H} : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T^* \mathbf{T}$ and the *classical* momentum $\mathcal{P} : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T^* \mathbf{E}$, defined as the negative of the o-horizontal component and the o-vertical components of Θ , respectively. Thus, we can write

$$\Theta = -\mathcal{H} + \mathcal{P}$$
 .

In an adapted chart, we have the coordinate expressions

$$\mathcal{H} = \left(\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j - A_0\right) d^0, \qquad \mathcal{P} = \left(G_{ij}^0 x_0^j + A_i\right) d^i.$$

They are defined locally and up to a gauge, and depend on the choice of the observer. \Box

The Newton law can be achieved also through \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{P} , by means of a Hamiltonian formalism; but this procedure is non covariant, as it depends on the choice of an observer.

Additionally, our structures yield further results on Lie algebras of functions and lifts of functions.

First of all, we obtain the Poisson Lie bracket $\{f, g\} := \Lambda^{\sharp}(df \wedge dg)$ for the functions of phase space.

A function f of phase space is *conserved* along the solutions of the Newton law if and only if $\gamma f = 0$. We denote the space of conserved functions by $\text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. This space turns out to be a subalgebra of the Poisson algebra.

The time fibring and the spacelike metric yield, in a covariant way, a distinguished subset of the set of functions of phase space [57]. Namely, we define a *special quadratic function* to be a function of phase space, whose second fibre derivative (with respect to the affine fibres of phase space over spacetime) is proportional to the spacelike metric. In other words, the special quadratic functions are the functions of the type

$$f = \frac{1}{2} f^0 G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 + f^i G^0_{ij} x^j_0 + \stackrel{o}{f}, \quad \text{with} \quad f^0, f^i, \stackrel{o}{f} \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

The time component of a special quadratic function f as above is defined to be the (coordinate independent) map $f'' := f^0 u_0 : \mathbf{E} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$.

0.1.6. Proposition. The space of special quadratic functions $\text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ turns out to be a Lie algebra through the *special* Lie bracket

$$[\![f, g]\!] := \{f, g\} + \gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f,$$

with coordinate expression

$$\begin{split} \llbracket f,g \rrbracket^{0} &= f^{0}\partial_{0}g^{0} - g^{0}\partial_{0}f^{0} - f^{h}\partial_{h}g^{0} + g^{h}\partial_{h}f^{0} \\ \llbracket f,g \rrbracket^{i} &= f^{0}\partial_{0}g^{i} - g^{0}\partial_{0}f^{i} - f^{h}\partial_{h}g^{i} + g^{h}\partial_{h}f^{i} \\ \llbracket f,g \rrbracket^{o} &= f^{0}\partial_{0}\overset{o}{g} - g^{0}\partial_{0}\overset{o}{f} - f^{h}\partial_{h}\overset{o}{g} + g^{h}\partial_{h}\overset{o}{f} - (f^{0}g^{k} - g^{0}f^{k})\Phi_{0k} + f^{h}g^{k}\Phi_{hk}. \Box \end{split}$$

0.1.7. Corollary. We have the following distinguished subalgebras of the special Lie algebra:

- the subalgebra Quan $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ of quantisable functions f, whose time components f'' depend only on time;

- the subalgebra $\text{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ of time functions f, whose time components f'' are constant;

- the subalgebra $\operatorname{Aff}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ of affine functions f, whose time components f'' vanish;

- the subalgebra $\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{Aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ of spacetime functions. \Box

0.1.8. Example. We obtain

 $\mathcal{L}_0, \mathcal{H}_0 \in \operatorname{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_R), \qquad \mathcal{P}_i \in \operatorname{Aff}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_R), \qquad x^{\lambda} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_R).$

Clearly, the special bracket and the Poisson bracket coincide on $\operatorname{Aff}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$.

We have distinguished lifts of special quadratic functions to vector fields of spacetime and of phase space. Let us denote by $\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ the Lie subalgebra of vector fields of \boldsymbol{E} which are projectable on \boldsymbol{T} .

0.1.9. Proposition. The time fibring and the spacelike metric yield, in a covariant way, for each $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, the *tangent lift* $X[f] : E \to TE$, whose coordinate expression is

$$X[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i \,.$$

The lift $\operatorname{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(E, TE) : f \mapsto X[f]$ turns out to be a Lie algebra morphism (with respect to the special bracket and the standard Lie bracket, respectively); its kernel is $\operatorname{Map}(E, \mathbb{R})$. \Box

0.1.10. Example. We obtain

 $X[\mathcal{L}_0] = \partial_0 - A_0^i \partial_i, \qquad X[\mathcal{H}_0] = \partial_0, \qquad X[\mathcal{P}_i] = -\partial_i, \qquad X[x^{\lambda}] = 0,$

where $A_0^i := G_0^{ij} A_j$.

We observe that $X[\mathcal{L}] = u^0 \otimes X[\mathcal{L}_0]$ turns out to be the unique observer for which the spacelike component of the observed potential A vanishes.

Moreover, $X[\mathcal{H}] = u^0 \otimes X[\mathcal{H}_0]$ turns out to be just the observer by which we have defined the Hamiltonian. \Box

0.1.11. Proposition. For each vector field X of \boldsymbol{E} projectable on \boldsymbol{T} , the spacetime fibring yields, in a covariant way [75], the *holonomic prolongation*

$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \coloneqq X_{(1)} : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$$

whose coordinate expression is

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \,\partial_{\lambda} + \left(\partial_0 X^i + \partial_j X^i \,x_0^j - \partial_0 X^0 \,x_0^i\right) \,\partial_i^0$$

This prolongation turns out to be an injective Lie algebra morphism. \Box

0.1.12. Corollary. For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, the time fibring yields, in a covariant way, the *holonomic lift*

$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] := \left(X[f]\right)_{(1)} : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T J_1 \boldsymbol{E},$$

whose coordinate expression is

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i - (\partial_0 f^i + \partial_j f^i \,x_0^j + \partial_0 f^0 \,x_0^i) \,\partial_i^0 \,.$$

This lift turns out to be a Lie algebra morphism (with respect to the special bracket and the standard Lie bracket, respectively); its kernel is $Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. \Box

0.1.13. Example. We obtain

$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\mathcal{L}_0] = \partial_0 - A_0^i \partial_i - (\partial_0 A_0^i + \partial_j A_0^i x_0^j) \partial_i^0,$$

$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\mathcal{H}_0] = \partial_0, \qquad X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\mathcal{P}_i] = -\partial_i, \qquad X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[x^{\lambda}] = 0. \square$$

0.1.14. Proposition. For each $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, the cosymplectic structure yields, in a covariant way, the *Hamiltonian lift*

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] := \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T J_1 \boldsymbol{E} ,$$

whose coordinate expression is

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i + X_0^i \,\partial_i^0 \,,$$

where

$$\begin{split} X_0^i &= G_0^{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \partial_j f^0 G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h + (-f^0 \partial_0 G_{jh}^0 + f^k \, \partial_k G_{jh}^0 + G_{hk}^0 \, \partial_j f^k) \, x_0^h \right. \\ &+ \left. \partial_j \overset{o}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^h + f^0 \Phi_{j0} \right). \end{split}$$

The lift $\operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$ turns out to be a Lie algebra morphism (with respect to the special bracket and the standard Lie bracket, respectively); its kernel is $\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \boldsymbol{R})$. \Box

0.1.15. Example. We obtain

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\mathcal{H}_{0}] = \partial_{0} - G_{0}^{ij} \partial_{0} \mathcal{P}_{j} \partial_{i}^{0},$$
$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\mathcal{P}_{i}] = -\partial_{i} + G_{0}^{hj} \partial_{i} \mathcal{P}_{h} \partial_{j}^{0}, \qquad X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[x^{0}] = 0, \qquad X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[x^{i}] = G_{0}^{ij} \partial_{j}^{0}. \Box$$

The above definition of Hamiltonian lift is motivated by the following result concerning the projectability, which will play an important role in quantum mechanics.

For each function f of phase space, we obtain, in a covariant way, the dt-vertical Hamiltonian lift $\Lambda^{\sharp}(df) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to V J_1 \mathbf{E}$.

More generally, for each function f of phase space and for each time scale $\tau : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$, we obtain the τ -Hamiltonian lift $\gamma(\tau) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T J_1 \mathbf{E}$.

0.1.16. Proposition. [57] The τ -Hamiltonian lift of a function f of phase space is projectable on a vector field of spacetime if and only if $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $\tau = f''$.

Moreover, if these conditions are fulfilled, then the τ -Hamiltonian lift projects on the tangent lift of $f.\square$

0.1.2 Covariant quantum mechanics

We proceed by sketching our covariant model of quantum mechanics on a curved spacetime fibred over absolute time. We recall the basic elements of the model and present new results, as well.

According to [57, 54], for quantum mechanics of a charged spinless particle in the above classical background (including the given gravitational and electromagnetic external fields), we postulate:

(Q.1) a quantum bundle $\mathbf{Q} \to \mathbf{E}$, which is a one dimensional complex vector bundle over spacetime;

(Q.2) a Hermitian metric $h : E \to (Q^* \otimes_E Q^*) \otimes_E \Lambda^3 V^* E$ of the quantum bundle, with values in the space of spacelike volume forms of spacetime.

Locally, we shall refer to a scaled complex quantum basis (b) normalized by the condition $h(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}) = \eta$. The associated scaled complex chart is denoted by (z). Then, we obtain the scaled real basis $(\mathbf{b}_1, \mathbf{b}_2) := (\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{i} \mathbf{b})$ and the associated scaled real chart (w^1, w^2) .

If $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$ then we write $\Psi = \Psi^1 \mathbf{b}_1 + \Psi^2 \mathbf{b}_2 = \psi \mathbf{b}$, where Ψ^1, Ψ^2 and ψ are, respectively, the scaled real and complex components of Ψ .

Moreover, we consider the *extended quantum bundle*, $Q^{\uparrow} \rightarrow J_1 E$, obtained by extending the base space of the quantum bundle to the classical phase space, which here plays the role of space of classical observers.

Each system of connections $\{ \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{Y}} \}$ of the quantum bundle parametrised by the classical observers induces, in a covariant way, a connection \mathbf{Y} of the extended quantum bundle,

which is said to be *universal* [44, 54]. The universal connections are characterised in coordinates by the condition $\mathbf{H}_{i}^{0} = 0$.

Then, we postulate:

(Q.3) a quantum connection \mathbf{Y} on the extended quantum bundle, which is Hermitian, universal and with curvature proportional to Ω .

We recall that Ω incorporates the mass m of the particle and the Planck constant \hbar .

0.1.17. Proposition. The coordinate expression of the quantum connection, with respect to a quantum basis and a spacetime chart, turns out to be locally of the type

$$\mathbf{H}_0 = -\mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{H}_0\,, \qquad \mathbf{H}_i = \mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{P}_i\,, \qquad \mathbf{H}_i^0 = 0\,.\,\Box$$

The above classical Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} and momentum \mathcal{P} are referred to the observer o associated with the spacetime chart (x^{λ}) and to a classical horizontal potential Θ of Ω , which is locally determined by the quantum connection \mathcal{Y} and the quantum basis \mathfrak{b} .

Then, the gauge of the classical potential $A := o^* \Theta$ is determined by the quantum connection and the quantum basis. Moreover, we recall that A includes both the gravitational and the electromagnetic potential.

These minimal geometric objects Q.1, ..., Q.3 constitute the only source, in a covariant way, of all further objects of quantum mechanics.

Actually, the quantum connection lives on the extended quantum bundle, whose base space is the phase space; on the other hand, the covariance of the theory requires that the significant physical objects be independent from observers. This fact suggests a method of projectability, in order to get rid of the observers encoded in the phase space. Actually, we have already used this method in the classical theory, just in view of these developments of quantum mechanics. Indeed, this method turns out to be fruitful.

The quantum dynamics can be obtained in the following way.

The method of projectability yields, in a covariant way, a distinguished quantum Lagrangian (hence, the generalised Schrödinger equation, the quantum momentum and the probability current) [57, 54].

Even more, the covariance implies the essential uniqueness of the above Lagrangian and of the Schrödinger equation [60, 61, 62].

0.1.18. Proposition. The coordinate expression of the quantum Lagrangian is

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{L}[\Psi] &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathrm{i} \left(\bar{\psi} \, \partial_0 \psi - \psi \, \partial_0 \bar{\psi} \right) + 2 \, A_0 \, \bar{\psi} \, \psi \right. \\ &- G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i \bar{\psi} \, \partial_j \psi + A_i \, A_j \, \bar{\psi} \, \psi \right) - \mathrm{i} \, G_0^{ij} \, A_j \left(\bar{\psi} \, \partial_i \psi - \psi \, \partial_i \bar{\psi} \right) + k \, \rho_0 \, \bar{\psi} \, \psi \right) \\ &\left. \sqrt{|g|} \, d^0 \wedge d^1 \wedge d^2 \wedge d^3 \, , \end{split}$$

where ρ is the scalar curvature of the fibres of spacetime determined by the spacelike metric and $k \in \mathbb{R}$ is a real constant (which is not determined by the covariance). \Box

0.1.19. Corollary. The coordinate expression of the generalised Schrödinger equation turns out to be

$$\left(\partial_0 - iA_0 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{1}{2} i \left(\overset{o}{\Delta}_0 + k \rho_0 \right) \right) \psi = 0,$$

where

$$\overset{o}{\Delta}_{0} := G_{0}^{hk} \left(\partial_{h} - \mathrm{i} A_{h} \right) \left(\partial_{k} - \mathrm{i} A_{k} \right) + \frac{\partial_{h} (G_{0}^{hk} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \left(\partial_{k} - \mathrm{i} A_{k} \right)$$

is the spacelike quantum Laplacian. \Box

0.1.20. Corollary. We obtain in the standard way the conserved *probability current* with coordinate expression

$$j_1 \Psi^* \left(\mathsf{J}[\mathsf{L}] \right) = \left(\bar{\psi} \, \psi \right) v_0^0 - G_0^{hk} \left(\mathrm{i} \, \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \, \partial_h \psi - \psi \, \partial_h \bar{\psi} \right) + A_h \, \bar{\psi} \, \psi \right) v_k^0 \,,$$

where $v_{\lambda}^{0} := i(\partial_{\lambda}) \sqrt{|g|} d^{0} \wedge d^{1} \wedge d^{2} \wedge d^{3}$.END

We obtain distinguished operators acting on the sections of the quantum bundle in the following covariant way.

First of all, we have a distinguished family of second order pre-quantum operators.

0.1.21. Proposition. The Schrödinger operator yields, for each time scale $\tau : \boldsymbol{E} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$, the second order linear operator $S(\tau) : J_2 \boldsymbol{Q} \to \boldsymbol{Q}$, which acts on the sections Ψ of the quantum bundle, according to the coordinate expression

$$S(\tau)[\Psi] = i \tau^0 \left(\partial_0 - i A_0 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{1}{2} i \left(\overset{o}{\Delta}_0 + k \rho_0 \right) \right) \psi b.$$

In particular, each $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ yields, in a covariant way, the second order pre-quantum operator $S[f] := S(f''). \square$

Then, we obtain a distinguished family of first order operators, by classifying the vector fields of the quantum bundle which preserve the Hermitian metric.

A vector field Y of Q is said to be *Hermitian* if it is projectable on E and on T, is real linear over its projection on E and L[Y] h = 0.

We denote the space of Hermitian vector fields of Q by Her(Q, TQ).

0.1.22. Proposition. A vector field Y of Q is Hermitian if and only if its coordinate expression is of the type

$$Y \equiv Y[f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} + \left(i \left(f^{0} + A_{0} f^{0} - A_{i} f^{i} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X[f] \right) \mathbb{I},$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ and where $\mathbb{I} = (w^1 \partial w_1 + w^2 \partial w_2)$ denotes the identity vertical vector field of the quantum bundle.

The space of Hermitian vector fields $\text{Her}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,I\!\!R)\to\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q},\,T\boldsymbol{Q}):f\mapsto Y[f]$$

is independent of the choice of coordinates and is an isomorphism of Lie algebras (with respect to the special bracket and the standard Lie bracket, respectively).

Furthermore, the map $\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y[f] \mapsto X[f]$ turns out to be a central extension of Lie algebras by $\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \operatorname{i} \mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathbb{I}. \square$

For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, the vector field $Y[f] : \mathbb{Q} \to T\mathbb{Q}$ is said to be the quantum lift of f.

0.1.23. Example. We obtain

$$Y[\mathcal{L}_0] = \partial_0 - A_0^i \partial_i - \left(i A_i A_0^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_i (A_0^i \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right)\right) \mathbb{I},$$

$$Y[\mathcal{H}_0] = \partial_0 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \mathbb{I}, \qquad Y[\mathcal{P}_i] = -\partial_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_i \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \mathbb{I}, \qquad Y[x^{\lambda}] = i x^{\lambda} \mathbb{I}. \square$$

0.1.24. Corollary. Each quantisable function f yields, in a covariant way, the first order operator acting on the sections of the quantum bundle

$$Z[f] := \mathrm{i} L[Y[f]],$$

whose coordinate expression is, for each $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$,

$$Z[f].\Psi = i\left(f^0 \partial_0 \psi - f^i \partial_i \psi - \left(i\left(\overset{\circ}{f} + A_0 f^0 - A_i f^i\right) - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X[f]\right)\psi\right) \mathfrak{b}.\square$$

For each quantisable function f, we say Z[f] to be the associated first order prequantum operator. We denote the space of the first order pre-quantum operators by $Oper_1(\mathbf{Q})$.

0.1.25. Proposition. The space $\text{Oper}_1(Q)$ turns out to be a Lie algebra through the bracket

$$\left[Z[f], Z[g]\right] := -\mathrm{i}\left(Z[f] \circ Z[g] - Z[g] \circ Z[f]\right).$$

Moreover, the map $\operatorname{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{Oper}_1(Q) : f \mapsto Z[f]$ turns out to be an isomorphism of Lie algebras (with respect to the special bracket and the above Lie bracket, respectively). \Box

xxiv

0.1.26. Example. We obtain

$$Z[\mathcal{H}_0].\Psi = i\left(\partial_0\psi + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial_0\sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}}\psi\right)b$$
$$Z[\mathcal{P}_i].\Psi = -i\left(\partial_i\psi + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial_i\sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}}\psi\right)b$$
$$Z[x^{\lambda}].\Psi = x^{\lambda}\psi b.\square$$

The above results appear to be a covariant "correspondence principle" yielding *prequantum operators* associated with quantisable functions.

However, we still need to introduce the Hilbert stuff carrying the standard probabilistic interpretation of quantum mechanics. It can be done in the following covariant way [57, 54].

We consider the infinite dimensional functional quantum bundle $H_c \to T$, whose fibres are constituted by the compact support smooth sections, at fixed time, of the quantum bundle ("regular sections"). The Hermitian metric h equips this bundle with a pre-Hilbert product \langle , \rangle . Then, a true Hilbert bundle $H \to T$ can be obtained by a completion procedure. This bundle has no distinguished splittings into time and type Hilbert fibre; such a splitting can be obtained by choosing a classical observer.

Each regular section Ψ of the quantum bundle can be regarded as a section Ψ of the functional quantum bundle. Accordingly, each "regular" operator O acting on sections of the quantum bundle can be regarded as an operator \hat{O} acting on the sections of the functional quantum bundle.

Our previous results yield, for each quantisable function f, two distinguished operators acting on the sections of the functional quantum bundle, namely $\widehat{Z[f]}$ and $\widehat{S[f]}$. Actually, in general, both operators do not act on the fibres of the functional bundle (at fixed time), because they involve the partial derivative ∂_0 .

On the other hand, we have the following results [57, 54, 128].

0.1.27. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the combination

$$\widehat{f} := \widehat{Z[f]} - \widehat{S[f]}$$

acts on the fibres of the functional bundle. We have the following coordinate expression

$$\widehat{f}(\widehat{\Psi}) = \left(-\frac{1}{2} f^0(\overset{o}{\Delta}_0 + k \rho_0) - \mathrm{i} f^j(\partial_j - \mathrm{i} A_j) + \overset{o}{f} - \mathrm{i} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_j(f^j \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right) \psi \,\widehat{\mathfrak{b}}\,.$$

Moreover, \hat{f} is symmetric with respect to the Hermitian metric \langle , \rangle .

For the self-adjointness of \hat{f} further global conditions on f are needed.

For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$, we say f to be the quantum operator associated with f.

0.1.28. Example. We obtain the following distinguished quantum operators

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathcal{H}_0}(\widehat{\Psi}) &= -(\frac{1}{2} \overset{\circ}{\Delta}_0 + \frac{1}{2} k \rho_0 - A_0) \psi \,\widehat{\mathfrak{b}} ,\\ \widehat{\mathcal{P}_j}(\widehat{\Psi}) &= -\mathrm{i} \left(\partial_j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_j \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \psi \,\widehat{\mathfrak{b}} ,\\ \widehat{x^{\lambda}}(\widehat{\Psi}) &= x^{\lambda} \,\psi \,\widehat{\mathfrak{b}} \,.\, \Box \end{aligned}$$

The space of the fibre preserving maps of the functional quantum bundle into itself becomes a Lie algebra through the bracket $[h, k] := -i(h \circ k - k \circ h)$.

0.1.29. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we obtain

$$[\widehat{f}, \widehat{g}] = \widehat{\llbracket f, g \rrbracket} - i \left[S[f], Z[g] \right] + i \left[S[g], Z[f] \right].$$

In particular, for each $f, g \in Aff(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we obtain

$$[\widehat{f},\,\widehat{g}] = \widehat{\llbracket f,\,g \rrbracket} = \widehat{\{f,\,g\}} \,.\,\Box$$

Thus, the above results suggest our covariant "equivalence principle".

The Feynmann path integral approach can be nicely formulated in our framework [57]. In fact, the quantum connection \mathbf{Y} yields, in a covariant way, a non linear connection of the extended quantum bundle over time; moreover, this connection allows us to interpret the Feynmann amplitudes through the parallel transport of this connection. However, unfortunately, our theory does not contribute so far to the hard problem of the measure arising in the Feynmann theory.

The case of a spin particle (generalised Pauli equation) can be approached in an analogous way, by considering a further quantum bundle of dimension two, with the only additional postulate of a suitable soldering form [20].

0.2 Symmetries

Next, we classify the infinitesimal symmetries of the classical and quantum structures. We show that these symmetries are controlled by the Lie algebra of quantisable functions and its distinguished subalgebras. Moreover, we discuss the strict relations between classical and quantum symmetries.

0.2.1 Classical symmetries

We start by discussing the main results concerning symmetries of the classical structure.

A vector field X^{\uparrow} of $J_1 E$ is said to be a symmetry of the classical structure, if it is projectable on E, T and fulfills

$$L[X^{\uparrow}] dt = 0$$
 $L[X^{\uparrow}] \Omega = 0.$

We denote the space of symmetries of the classical structure by $Clas(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$.

0.2.1. Proposition. We have the following distinguished subalgebras of the algebra of quantisable functions:

- the subalgebra $\operatorname{Hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, which is constituted by the functions f such that $X_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$;

- the subalgebra $\operatorname{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, which is constituted by the functions f such that $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X[f] = 0$;

- the subalgebra Self $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_{\boldsymbol{R}}) \subset \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_{\boldsymbol{R}})$, which is constituted by the functions f such that $i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df. \Box$

If $f \in \operatorname{Hol}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, then we set

$$X^{\uparrow}[f] \coloneqq X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f].$$

0.2.2. Theorem. We have

 $\operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) = \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$ $\operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$ $\operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) . \Box$

We set

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) := \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \cap \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) = \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \cap \operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R})$$

and denote the space of the tangent lifts of elements of $Clas(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ by

$$\operatorname{Clas}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}).$$

0.2.3. Proposition. The special and the Poisson brackets coincide in $Clas(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$. Hence, this space turns out to be a subalgebra of the Poisson and of the special algebras.

Moreover, $Clas(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ turns out to be closed with respect to the standard Lie bracket. \Box

We call the elements of $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$ classical generators. This name will be justified by Proposition 0.2.4, Corollary 0.2.5 and Corollary 0.2.6.

0.2.4. Theorem. [140] A vector field X^{\uparrow} of $J_1 E$ projectable on E fulfills $L[X^{\uparrow}] dt = 0$ and $L[X^{\uparrow}] \Omega = 0$ if and only if, locally,

$$X^{\uparrow} = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \quad with \quad f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}),$$

where f is defined up to a real constant. \Box

0.2.5. Corollary. If $f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we obtain

$$L[X[f]]G = 0, \qquad L[X[f]]\eta = 0, \qquad L[X^{\uparrow}[f]]\gamma = 0, \qquad L[X^{\uparrow}[f]]K = 0.\square$$

0.2.6. Corollary. If X is a vector field of \boldsymbol{E} projectable on \boldsymbol{T} , such that $L[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}] \mathcal{L} = 0$, then we obtain locally

$$X = X[f], \qquad X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}[f], \qquad \text{with} \qquad f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}),$$

where f is defined up to a real constant. \Box

0.2.2 Quantum symmetries

Eventually, we classify the vector fields of the extended quantum bundle which preserve the full quantum structure: all fibrings (on quantum bundle, on phase space, on spacetime, on time), the Hermitian metric, the quantum connection. Moreover, we compare the symmetries of the quantum structure with the symmetries of the quantum Lagrangian.

A vector field Y^{\uparrow} of Q^{\uparrow} is said to be a symmetry of the quantum structure if it is projectable on Q, J_1E , E, T, is real linear over J_1E and fulfills

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}] dt = 0, \qquad L[Y^{\uparrow}] h = 0, \qquad L[Y^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{H} = 0.$$

We denote the space of the symmetries of the quantum structure by $\text{Quan}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$.

For each $f \in \text{Hol}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we define its *extended quantum lift* to be the vector field of the extended quantum bundle

$$Y^{\uparrow}[f] := \mathbf{\Psi}\left(X^{\uparrow}[f]\right) + \left(\mathrm{i}\,f - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div}_{\eta}X[f]\right)\mathbb{I}.$$

0.2.7. Theorem. A vector field Y^{\uparrow} of Q^{\uparrow} is a symmetry of the quantum structure if and only if it is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = Y^{\uparrow}[f], \quad with \quad f \in \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$

The space $\operatorname{Quan}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map $\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\mathbf{E}, I\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Quan}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}) : f \mapsto Y^{\uparrow}[f]$ is an isomorphism of Lie algebras (with respect to the special bracket and the standard Lie bracket, respectively).

Furthermore, the map $\operatorname{Quan}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Clas}(\mathbf{E}, T\mathbf{E}) : Y^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$ turns out to be a central extension of Lie algebras by i $\mathbb{R} \otimes \mathbb{I}$. \Box

Next, we compare the symmetries of the quantum connection and the symmetries of the quantum Lagrangian.

xxviii

0.2.8. Proposition. For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, we obtain, in a covariant way, the holonomic quantum lift of f, defined as the holonomic prolongation [75]

$$Y_{\text{hol}}[f] := \left(Y[f]\right)_{(1)} : J_1 \boldsymbol{Q} \to T J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}$$

of the quantum lift Y[f], whose coordinate expression is

$$\begin{split} Y_{\text{hol}}[f] &= f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + (f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} + \mathring{f}) (w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\lambda} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) (w^{1} \partial_{1}^{\lambda} + w^{2} \partial_{2}^{\lambda}) + \partial_{\lambda} (f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} + \mathring{f}) (w^{1} \partial_{2}^{\lambda} - w^{2} \partial_{1}^{\lambda}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) (w^{1}_{\lambda} \partial_{1}^{\lambda} + w^{2}_{\lambda} \partial_{2}^{\lambda}) + (f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} + \mathring{f}) (w^{1}_{\lambda} \partial_{2}^{\lambda} - w^{2}_{\lambda} \partial_{1}^{\lambda}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) (w^{1}_{\lambda} \partial_{1}^{\lambda} + w^{2}_{\lambda} \partial_{2}^{\lambda}) + (f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} + \mathring{f}) (w^{1}_{\lambda} \partial_{2}^{\lambda} - w^{2}_{\lambda} \partial_{1}^{\lambda}) \\ &- \partial_{0} f^{0} (w^{1}_{0} \partial_{1}^{0} + w^{2}_{0} \partial_{2}^{0}) + \partial_{0} f^{i} (w^{1}_{i} \partial_{1}^{0} + w^{2}_{i} \partial_{2}^{0}) + \partial_{h} f^{i} (w^{1}_{i} \partial_{1}^{h} + w^{2}_{i} \partial_{2}^{h}) . \Box \end{split}$$

0.2.9. Theorem. Let $f \in \text{Time}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}[f]] \mathbf{\Psi} = 0$$
$$L[Y_{\text{hol}}[f]] \mathbf{L} = 0$$
$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$$
$$\gamma f = 0$$
$$f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, IR) . \Box$$

We can also show, in analogy with the symmetries of classical and quantum strucutre, that any vector field of $J_1 Q$, which is projectable over Q and T, complex linear over its projection on Q and preserves the quantum Lagrangian, is necessarily of holonomic type.

Eventually, we consider the conserved currents associated with symmetries of the quantum Lagrangian, according to the standard Nöther theorem. Additionally, our results allow us to associate such currents with classical quantisable functions.

For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$, we define the associated quantum current to be the 3-form

$$\mathfrak{j}[f] := -i \Big(Y[f] \Big) \Pi : J_1 \mathcal{Q} \to \Lambda^3 T^* \mathcal{Q} \,,$$

where Π is the Poincaré–Cartan form [130] associated with the quantum Lagrangian.

0.2.10. Corollary. For each $f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, the current $\mathfrak{j}[f]$ is conserved along the solutions $\Psi : E \to Q$ of the Schrödinger equation. \Box

0.2.11. Example. The current associated with the constant function $1 \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is just the conserved probability current. \Box

Moreover, for each affine function and quantum section, we obtain, in a covariant way, a spacelike 3–form (which can be integrated on the fibres of spacetime), according to the following result.

0.2.12. Proposition. Let $f \in Aff(J_1 E, IR)$. Then, for each $\Psi \in Sec(E, Q)$ we obtain

$$\left(\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f])\right)^{\vee} = \tfrac{1}{2} \left(\mathfrak{h}(Z[f].\Psi, \ \Psi) - \mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \ Z[f].\Psi)\right)$$

where \vee denotes the vertical restriction. We have the coordinate expression

$$\left(\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f])\right)^{\vee} = \left(f^i\left(\Psi^1\,\partial_i\Psi^2 - \Psi^2\,\partial_i\Psi^1\right) + \begin{pmatrix} o \\ f - f^iA_i \end{pmatrix}\left(\Psi^1\,\Psi^1 + \Psi^2\,\Psi^2\right)\right)\sqrt{|g|}\,\check{d}^1\wedge\check{d}^2\wedge\check{d}^3\,.\,\Box^2$$

CHAPTER 1

PRELIMINARIES

1.1 Basic notation

All manifolds and maps between manifolds are smooth. If M and N are manifolds, then we denote the sheaf of local maps $f: M \to N$ by

$$\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{M},\boldsymbol{N}) := \{f : \boldsymbol{M} \to \boldsymbol{N}\}.$$

If $F \to B$ and $\bar{F} \to \bar{B}$ are fibred manifolds, then we denote the sheaf of local fibred morphisms $f: F \to \bar{F}$ by

$$\operatorname{Fib}(\boldsymbol{F}, \bar{\boldsymbol{F}}) \subset \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{F}, \bar{\boldsymbol{F}}).$$

If $F \to B$ is a fibred manifold, then we denote the sheaf of local sections $s : B \to F$ by

$$\operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B},\boldsymbol{F})\subset\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B},\boldsymbol{F})$$
.

Accordingly, if M is a manifold, then the sheaf of local vector fields $X : M \to TM$ is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{M},T\boldsymbol{M})\subset\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{M},T\boldsymbol{M})$$
 .

Moreover, if $F \to B$ is a fibred manifold, then the subsheaf of projectable local vector fields is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{F}, T\boldsymbol{F}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{F}, T\boldsymbol{F}).$$

If $F \to B$ is an affine bundle associated with the vector bundle $\bar{F} \to B$, then we can write

$$V \boldsymbol{F} \simeq \boldsymbol{F} \times \bar{\boldsymbol{F}}.$$

In particular, if $F \rightarrow B$ is a vector bundle, then we can write

$$V \boldsymbol{F} \simeq \boldsymbol{F} \times \boldsymbol{F} \cdot \boldsymbol{F}$$

If $F \to B$ is a vector bundle, then we define the *Liouville vector field* to be the vertical vector field

$$\mathbb{I}: \boldsymbol{F} \to V\boldsymbol{F} \simeq \boldsymbol{F} \underset{\boldsymbol{B}}{\times} \boldsymbol{F}: f \mapsto (f, f),$$

which can be identified with

$$\mathbf{1}: oldsymbol{B} o oldsymbol{F}^* \mathop{\otimes}\limits_{oldsymbol{B}} oldsymbol{F} \qquad ext{and} \qquad ext{id}: oldsymbol{F} o oldsymbol{F} \,.$$

1.2 General connections

Here we recall a few basic results on general connections, which will be needed in the following.

Let us consider a fibred manifold $p: \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ and refer to a fibred chart (x^{λ}, y^{i}) . A *(general) connection* is defined to be a tangent valued 1-form

$$c: \boldsymbol{F} \to T^* \boldsymbol{B} \underset{\boldsymbol{F}}{\otimes} T \boldsymbol{F},$$

which projects on $\mathbf{1}: \mathbf{B} \to T^* \mathbf{B} \underset{\mathbf{B}}{\otimes} T\mathbf{B}$.

Let us consider a general connection c.

Its coordinate expression is of the type

$$c = d^{\lambda} \otimes (\partial_{\lambda} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \partial_{i}), \quad \text{with} \quad c^{i}_{\lambda} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, I\!\!R).$$

The *curvature* of c is defined to be the vertical valued 2-form

$$R[c] := \frac{1}{2} \left[c, c \right],$$

where [,] is the Frölicher–Nijenhuis bracket.

We have the coordinate expression

$$R[c] = \left(\partial_{\lambda}c^{i}_{\mu} + c^{j}_{\lambda}\,\partial_{j}c^{i}_{\mu}\right)d^{\lambda} \wedge d^{\mu} \otimes \partial_{i}\,.$$

1.2.1. Lemma. Let $X, \overline{X} \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B}, T\boldsymbol{B})$. Then, we have

$$[c(X), c(\bar{X})] = c([X, \bar{X}]) + i(\bar{X}) i(X) R[c].$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{aligned} [c(X), c(\bar{X})] &= \left[X^{\lambda} \left(\partial_{\lambda} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \partial_{i} \right), \ \bar{X}^{\mu} \left(\partial_{\mu} + c^{j}_{\mu} \partial_{j} \right) \right] \\ &= \left(X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \bar{X}^{\mu} - \bar{X}^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} X^{\mu} \right) \left(\partial_{\mu} + c^{i}_{\mu} \partial_{i} \right) + \left(X^{\lambda} \, \bar{X}^{\mu} - \bar{X}^{\lambda} \, X^{\mu} \right) \left(\partial_{\lambda} c^{j}_{\mu} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \, \partial_{i} c^{j}_{\mu} \right) \partial_{j} \,. \text{QED} \end{aligned}$$

1.2.2. Lemma. Let $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B}, T\boldsymbol{B})$. Then, we have

$$L[c(X)] c = i_X R[c].$$

PROOF. It can be proved in coordinates. QED

1.2.3. Lemma. Let M be a manifold and let $\phi \in \text{Sec}(M, \Lambda^r T^*M \underset{M}{\otimes} TM)$ and $Y \in \text{Sec}(M, TM)$.

Then, we have

$$L[Y]\phi = [Y,\phi],$$

where the bracket in the right hand side is the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket.

PROOF. By recalling the general expression of the Frölicher–Nijenhuis bracket and the Leibnitz rule for the Lie derivative, we obtain, for each $Z_1, \ldots, Z_r \in \text{Sec}(M, TM)$,

$$\begin{split} [\phi, Y](Z_1, \dots, Z_r) &= \frac{1}{r!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}(r+1)} |\sigma| \left(\left[\phi(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}), Y \right] - r \phi(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}, [Z_{\sigma(r)}, Y]) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{r!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}(r+1)} |\sigma| \left(- (L[Y] \phi)(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}) \right) \\ &- \phi(L[Y] Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}) - \dots - \phi(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, L[Y] Z_{\sigma(r)}) \\ &- r \phi(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}, [Z_{\sigma(r)}, Y]) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{r!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}(r+1)} |\sigma| \left(- (L[Y] \phi)(Z_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, Z_{\sigma(r)}) \right) \\ &= -(L[Y] \phi)(Z_1, \dots, Z_r) \right). \text{QED} \end{split}$$

1.2.4. Proposition. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(F, TF)$. Then, we have

$$L[Y]c = -d[c]Y$$
 and $L[Y](R[c]) = -d^{2}[c]Y$,

where we have set d[c]Y := [c, Y].

PROOF. The first equality is a particular case of the above Lemma. The second equality follows from

$$L[Y](R[c]) = -[Y, R[c]] = -d^{2}[c]Y$$
. QED

1.2.5. Corollary. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(F, TF)$. Then,

$$L[Y]c = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad L[Y](R[c]) = 0.\square$$

1.2.6. Proposition. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(F, TF)$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1)
$$L[Y]c = 0;$$

2) Y is projectable on a vector field, $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B}, T\boldsymbol{B})$, i.e.

$$\partial_j X^\mu \equiv \partial_j Y^\mu = 0 \,,$$

and

$$\partial_{\lambda}Y^{i} - X^{\mu}\,\partial_{\mu}c^{i}_{\lambda} - c^{i}_{\mu}\,\partial_{\lambda}X^{\mu} + c^{j}_{\lambda}\,\partial_{j}Y^{i} - Y^{j}\,\partial_{j}c^{i}_{\lambda} = 0\,.$$

PROOF. We have the following expression

$$\begin{split} L[Y] \left(d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{i} \right) &= \partial_{\mu} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{\mu} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + \partial_{j} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{j} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda} Y^{\mu} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\mu} - \partial_{\lambda} Y^{i} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{i} \\ &+ Y^{\mu} \, \partial_{\mu} c^{i}_{\lambda} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{i} + Y^{j} \, \partial_{j} c^{i}_{\lambda} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{i} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \, \partial_{\mu} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{\mu} \otimes \partial_{i} + c^{i}_{\lambda} \, \partial_{j} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{j} \otimes \partial_{i} \\ &- c^{i}_{\lambda} \, \partial_{i} Y^{\mu} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\mu} - c^{i}_{\lambda} \, \partial_{i} Y^{j} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{j} \end{split}$$

Hence, L[Y]c = 0 if and only if

$$\partial_j Y^{\lambda} = 0$$

$$\partial_{\lambda} Y^i + c^j_{\lambda} \, \partial_j \, Y^i - c^i_{\mu} \, \partial_{\lambda} X^{\mu} - X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} c^i_{\lambda} - Y^j \, \partial_j c^i_{\lambda} = 0 \,. \, \text{QED}$$

Next, let us suppose that F be a vector bundle and c a linear connection. **1.2.7. Lemma.** Let $\phi \in \text{Map}(F, \mathbb{R})$. Then, we have

$$L[\phi\,\mathbb{I}]\,c=-d\phi\otimes\mathbb{I}\,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} L[\phi\,\mathbb{I}]\,(d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{\lambda}+c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j}\,y^{j}\,d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{i}) &= -\partial_{\lambda}\phi\,y^{i}\,d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{i}+\phi\,y^{j}\,c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j}\,d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{i}-\phi\,c_{\lambda}{}^{i}\,d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{i}\\ &= -\partial_{\lambda}\phi\,y^{i}\,d^{\lambda}\otimes\partial_{i}\\ &= -d\phi\otimes\mathbb{I}\,.\,\text{QED} \end{split}$$

1.2.8. Lemma. Let $\phi \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, \mathbb{R}), X \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B}, T\boldsymbol{B})$. Then, we have

$$[c(X), \, \phi \, \mathbb{I}] = X.\phi \, \mathbb{I}$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} [c(X), \phi \mathbb{I}] &= \left[X^{\lambda} \left(\partial_{\lambda} + c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j} y^{j} \partial_{i} \right), \ \phi y^{i} \ \partial_{i} \right] \\ &= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \phi y^{i} \partial_{i} + X^{\lambda} \phi c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j} y^{j} \partial_{i} - X^{\lambda} \phi c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j} y^{j} \partial_{i} \\ &= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \phi y^{i} \partial_{i} \\ &= X. \phi \mathbb{I}. \text{ QED} \end{split}$$

1.2.9. Lemma. Let $\phi, \bar{\phi} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{R})$. Then, we have

$$[\phi \,\mathbb{I}, \, \bar{\phi} \,\mathbb{I}] = 0 \,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} [\phi \,\mathbb{I}, \, \bar{\phi} \,\mathbb{I}] &= \left[\phi \, y^i \, \partial_i, \, \bar{\phi} \, y^j \, \partial_j\right] \\ &= \phi \, \bar{\phi} \, (y^i \, \partial_i - y^j \, \partial_j) \\ &= 0 \, . \, \text{QED} \end{split}$$

1.3 Lie derivatives of sections

Let us consider a vector bundle $p : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ and refer to a linear fibred chart (x^{λ}, y^{i}) and to the associated local basis (\mathbf{b}_{i}) .

1.3.1. Lemma. A section $s \in Sec(B, F)$ yields the vertical vector field

$$\tilde{s} := (\mathrm{id}[F], s \circ p) \in \mathrm{Sec}(F, VF) \simeq \mathrm{Sec}(F, F \times_B F),$$

according to the following commutative diagram



Actually, the map

 $s\mapsto \tilde{s}$

is a natural bijection between the sheaf of sections $B \to F$ and the sheaf of vertical vector fields $F \to VF$ whose second projection $F \to F$ factorises through a section $B \to F$.

The coordinate expression of \tilde{s} is

$$\widetilde{s} = s^i \partial_i \qquad s^i := y^i \circ s \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, R)$$
 . \Box

1.3.2. Lemma. The coordinate expression of a vector field $Y \in Pro(F, TF)$, which is linear over its projection is of the type

$$Y = Y^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y^{i}_{i} y^{j} \partial_{i}, \qquad Y^{\lambda}, Y^{i}_{i} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

1.3.3. Lemma. Let us consider a vector field $Y \in \text{Pro}(F, TF)$, which is linear over its projection, and a section $s \in \text{Sec}(B, F)$. Then, the Lie bracket

$$[Y, \tilde{s}] \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{F}, V\boldsymbol{F})$$

can be naturally regarded as a section

$$Y.s \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{F}).$$

We have the coordinate expression

$$Y_{\cdot}s = (Y^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda}s^{i} - Y^{i}_{i}s^{j}) \mathfrak{b}_{i}$$

PROOF. In fact we have

 $\tilde{s} = s^i \partial_i ,$

hence

$$[Y,\tilde{s}] = (Y^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} s^{i} - Y^{i}_{j} s^{j}) \partial_{i}$$

and

$$\partial_h (Y^\lambda \, \partial_\lambda s^i - Y^i_j \, s^j) = 0 \, . \, \text{QED}$$

Let us analyze two complementary cases of the Lie derivative of a section with respect to a horizontal and a vertical vector field.

1.3.4. Lemma. Let us consider a linear connection $c : \mathbf{F} \to T^* \mathbf{B} \bigotimes_{\mathbf{B}} T\mathbf{F}$, a section $s \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{F})$, a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, T\mathbf{B})$ and the induced vector field $Y := c(X) \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$.
Then, we obtain

$$Y.s = \nabla_X s$$
.

PROOF. We obtain the coordinate expression

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \left(\partial_{\lambda} + c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j} y^{j} \partial_{i} \right),$$

hence

$$Y.s = X^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} s^{i} - c_{\lambda}{}^{i}{}_{j} s^{j}) \mathbf{b}_{i} = \nabla_{X} s.$$
 QED

1.3.5. Lemma. Let us consider a section $s \in \text{Sec}(B, F)$ and a linear vertical vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(F, VF)$.

Then, we obtain

$$Y.s = -Y \circ s$$

where we have identified Y with the associated linear fibred endomorphism $F \to F$.

PROOF. We obtain the coordinate expression

$$Y = Y_i^i y^j \mathfrak{b}_i, \qquad Y_i^i \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{R}),$$

hence

$$Y.s = -Y_j^i s^j \mathfrak{b}_i = -Y \circ s \,. \, \text{QED}$$

Thus, we obtain the following general case.

1.3.6. Proposition. Let us consider a linear connection $c : \mathbf{F} \to T^* \mathbf{B} \bigotimes_{\mathbf{B}} T\mathbf{F}$, a section $s \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{F})$, and a vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$, which is projectable over a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, T\mathbf{B})$ and linear over X. Then, we can split Y into its horizontal and vertical components

$$Y = c(X) + \nu[c](Y) \,,$$

and obtain

$$Y.s = \nabla_X s - \nu[c](Y) \circ s \, . \, \Box$$

1.4 Infinitesimal symmetries

Throughout the paper we shall be involved with the following concept.

1.4.1. Definition. Let M be a manifold and

$$\phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{M}, \, (\otimes^{r} T^{*}\boldsymbol{M}) \underset{\boldsymbol{M}}{\otimes} (\otimes^{s} T\boldsymbol{M}))$$

a tensor field. Then, we define an *infinitesimal symmetry* (*i.s.* for short) of ϕ to be a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(M, TM)$, such that

 $L[X]\phi = 0.\square$

We denote the sheaf of i.s. of $\phi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{M}, (\otimes^{r} T^{*}\boldsymbol{M}) \otimes (\otimes^{s} T\boldsymbol{M}))$ by

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\phi}(\boldsymbol{M},T\boldsymbol{M})$$
.

1.4.2. Proposition. Let M be a manifold and

$$\phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{M}, (\otimes^{r} T^{*}\boldsymbol{M}) \underset{\boldsymbol{M}}{\otimes} (\otimes^{s} T\boldsymbol{M}))$$

a tensor field.

Then,

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\phi}(\boldsymbol{M}, T\boldsymbol{M}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{M}, T\boldsymbol{M})$$

is a Lie subalgebra.

PROOF. In fact, for each vector fields $X, Y \in Sec(M, TM)$ and for tensor fields ϕ of degree 0 and 1, we have

$$L[[X, Y]] \phi = [L[X], L[Y]] \phi.$$

Moreover, the above equality can be extended to tensor fields ϕ of any degree by means of the Leibnitz rule. QED

1.4.3. Proposition. Let $F \to B$ be a fibred manifold. If

$$\phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{F}, \otimes^{r} V^{*} \boldsymbol{F})$$
 and $X \in \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{F}, T \boldsymbol{F})$

then the Lie derivative

$$L[X] \phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{F}, \otimes^{r} V^* \boldsymbol{F}),$$

where $L[X]\phi$ is the vertical restriction of the standard Lie derivative of an arbitrary extension of ϕ , is well defined, i.e. does not depend on the extension of ϕ .

With reference to a fibred chart (x^{λ}, y^{i}) , we have the coordinate expression

$$L[X]\phi = (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}\phi_{i_1\dots i_r} + X^j \partial_j\phi_{i_1\dots i_r} + \partial_{i_1}X^j \phi_{ji_2\dots i_r} + \dots + \partial_{i_r}X^j \phi_{i_1\dots i_{r-1}j})\check{d}^{i_1} \otimes \check{d}^{i_2} \otimes \dots \otimes \check{d}^{i_r}.\square$$

Accordingly, we give the following definition.

1.4.4. Definition. An *infinitesimal symmetry* (*i.s.* for short) of $\phi \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{F}, \otimes^r V^* \mathbf{F})$ is defined to be a projectable vector field $X \in \text{Pro}(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$, such that

$$L[X]\phi = 0.$$

We denote the sheaf of i.s. of $\phi \in \text{Sec}(F, \otimes^r V^*F)$ by

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\phi}(\boldsymbol{F},T\boldsymbol{F})$$
.

1.4.5. Proposition. Let $F \to B$ be a fibred manifold and

$$\phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{F}, \otimes^r V^* \boldsymbol{F})$$

a vertical tensor field.

Then,

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\phi}(\boldsymbol{F}, T\boldsymbol{F}) \subset \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{F}, T\boldsymbol{F})$$

is a Lie subalgebra. \Box

1.5 Jets

Let us consider a fibred manifold $p: \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ and refer to a fibred chart (x^{λ}, y^{i}) . Then, we denote the k-jet prolongation of \mathbf{F} by $p^{k}: J_{k}\mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$. For each $0 \leq h < k$, we have the natural projection $p_{h}^{k}: J_{k}\mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{J}_{h}\mathbf{F}$. The fibred charts induced on $J_{1}\mathbf{F}$ and $J_{2}\mathbf{F}$ are denoted by

$$(x^{\lambda}, y^{i}, y^{i}_{\lambda})$$
 and $(x^{\lambda}, y^{i}, y^{i}_{\lambda}, y^{i}_{\lambda\mu})$, with $\lambda \leq \mu$.

1.5.1. Lemma. The fibred manifold $p_{k-1}^k : J_k \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{J}_{k-1} \mathbf{F}$ turns out to be naturally an affine bundle associated with the vector bundle $S^k T^* \mathbf{B} \bigotimes_{\mathbf{F}} V \mathbf{F}$. \Box

1.5.2. Lemma. Let us consider two fibred manifolds $p : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ and $q : \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{C}$ and refer to fibred charts (x^{λ}, y^{i}) and (w^{α}, z^{r}) .

For each fibred morphism $\Phi : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{G}$ projectable on a diffeomorphism $\underline{\Phi} : \mathbf{B} \to \mathbf{C}$ there is a unique fibred morphism $J_1\Phi : J_1\mathbf{F} \to J_1\mathbf{G}$, which makes the following diagram commutative for each $s \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{F})$

We have the coordinate expression

$$(w^{\mu}, z^{j}, z^{j}_{\mu}) \circ J_{1} \Phi = \left(\Phi^{\mu}, \, \Phi^{j}, \, \left(\partial_{\alpha} \Phi^{j} + \partial_{r} \Phi^{j} \, y^{r}_{\alpha}\right) \left(\partial_{\mu} (\underline{\Phi}^{-1})^{\alpha}\right) \circ \underline{\Phi}\right).$$

The map J_1 turns out to be a covariant functor. \Box

In particular, we have the following result.

1.5.3. Lemma. Let us consider two fibred manifolds $p : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ and $q : \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{B}$ and refer to fibred charts (x^{λ}, y^{i}) and (x^{λ}, z^{r}) .

For each fibred morphism $\Phi : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{G}$ on $\mathrm{id}[\mathbf{B}]$, there is a unique fibred morphism $J_1\Phi : J_1\mathbf{F} \to J_1\mathbf{G}$, which makes the following diagram commutative for each $s \in \mathrm{Sec}(\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{F})$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} J_1 \mathbf{F} & \xrightarrow{J_1 \Phi} & J_1 G \\ & & & \uparrow \\ j_1 s \uparrow & & \uparrow \\ B & \xrightarrow{id} & B \end{array}$$

We have the coordinate expression

$$(x^{\lambda}, z^{j}, z^{j}_{\lambda}) \circ J_{1} \Phi = \left(\Phi^{\lambda}, \, \Phi^{j}, \, \left(\partial_{\lambda} \Phi^{j} + \partial_{r} \Phi^{j} \, y^{r}_{\lambda}\right)\right). \square$$

1.6 Holonomic prolongation

Let $\mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$ be a fibred manifold and refer to a fibred chart (x^{λ}, y^{i}) .

1.6.1. Lemma. Let $X \in Pro(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$ and denote the flow of X by $\Phi \in Fib(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{F}, \mathbf{F})$.

Then, we obtain the vector field

$$X_{(1)} := \partial J_1 \Phi \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{F}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{F}),$$

which projects on X, where J_1 denotes the jet prolongation at constant parameter and ∂ denotes the tangent prolongation with respect to the parameter evaluated at $0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

We have the coordinate expression

$$X_{(1)} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X^{i} \partial_{i} + (\partial_{\lambda} X^{i} + \partial_{j} X^{i} y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda} X^{\mu} y^{i}_{\mu}) \partial^{\lambda}_{i}.$$

PROOF. We have

$$y_{\lambda}^{i} \circ J_{1} \Phi_{t} = \left(\partial_{\lambda} \Phi_{t}^{i} + \partial_{j} \Phi_{t}^{i} y_{\mu}^{j}\right) \partial_{\lambda} (\underline{\Phi}_{t}^{-1})^{\mu} \circ \underline{\Phi}_{t} ,$$

hence

$$\partial(y_{\lambda}^{i} \circ J_{1}\Phi_{t}) = (\partial_{\lambda}X^{i} + \partial_{j}X^{i}y_{\lambda}^{j} - \partial_{\lambda}X^{\mu}y_{\mu}^{i}). \text{ QED}$$

1.6.2. Definition. We define the vector field

$$X_{(1)} := \partial J_1 \Phi \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{F}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{F})$$

to be the *(first)* holonomic prolongation of $X \in Pro(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$.

1.6.3. Proposition. The map

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{F}, T\boldsymbol{F}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(J_1\boldsymbol{F}, J_1T\boldsymbol{F}) : X \mapsto X_{(1)}$$

is a morphism of Lie algebras.

PROOF. If $X, Y \in Pro(\mathbf{F}, T\mathbf{F})$, then we obtain

$$[X_{(1)}, Y_{(1)}]^{\lambda} = X^{\alpha} \,\partial_{\alpha} Y^{\lambda} + X^{h} \,\partial_{h} Y^{\lambda} - Y^{\alpha} \,\partial_{\alpha} X^{\lambda} - Y^{h} \,\partial_{h} X^{\lambda} = ([X, Y]_{(1)})^{\lambda}$$

and

$$[X_{(1)},Y_{(1)}]^i = X^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha Y^i + X^h \,\partial_h Y^i - Y^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha X^i - Y^h \,\partial_h X^i = ([X,Y]_{(1)})^i$$

Moreover, we obtain

$$\begin{split} [X_{(1)},Y_{(1)}]^{i}_{\lambda} &= X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} (\partial_{\lambda}Y^{i} + \partial_{j}Y^{i} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}Y^{\mu} \, y^{i}_{\mu}) \\ &+ X^{h} \, \partial_{h} (\partial_{\lambda}Y^{i} + \partial_{j}Y^{i} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}Y^{\mu} \, y^{i}_{\mu}) \\ &- Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} (\partial_{\lambda}X^{i} + \partial_{j}X^{i} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}X^{\mu} \, y^{i}_{\mu}) \\ &- Y^{h} \, \partial_{h} (\partial_{\lambda}X^{i} + \partial_{j}X^{i} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}X^{\mu} \, y^{i}_{\mu}) \\ &+ (\partial_{\lambda}X^{h} + \partial_{j}X^{h} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}X^{\mu} \, y^{h}_{\mu}) \, \partial_{h}Y^{i} \\ &- (\partial_{\alpha}X^{i} + \partial_{j}X^{i} \, y^{j}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha}X^{\mu} \, y^{i}_{\mu}) \, \partial_{\lambda}Y^{\alpha} \\ &- (\partial_{\lambda}Y^{h} + \partial_{j}Y^{h} \, y^{j}_{\lambda} - \partial_{\alpha}Y^{\mu} \, y^{h}_{\mu}) \, \partial_{h}X^{i} \\ &+ (\partial_{\alpha}Y^{i} + \partial_{j}Y^{i} \, y^{j}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha}Y^{\mu} \, y^{h}_{\mu}) \, \partial_{\lambda}X^{\alpha} \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\begin{split} [X_{(1)},Y_{(1)}]^i_\lambda &= X^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha (\partial_\lambda Y^i + \partial_j Y^i \,y^j_\lambda - \partial_\lambda Y^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \\ &+ X^h \,\partial_h (\partial_\lambda Y^i + \partial_j Y^i \,y^j_\lambda) \\ &- Y^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha (\partial_\lambda X^i + \partial_j X^i \,y^j_\lambda - \partial_\lambda X^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \\ &- Y^h \,\partial_h (\partial_\lambda X^i + \partial_j X^i \,y^j_\lambda) \\ &+ (\partial_\lambda X^h + \partial_j X^h \,y^j_\lambda - \partial_\lambda X^\mu \,y^h_\mu) \,\partial_h Y^i \\ &- (\partial_\alpha X^i + \partial_j X^i \,y^j_\alpha - \partial_\alpha X^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \,\partial_\lambda Y^\alpha \\ &- (\partial_\lambda Y^h + \partial_j Y^h \,y^j_\alpha - \partial_\alpha Y^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \,\partial_\lambda X^\alpha \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\begin{split} [X_{(1)},Y_{(1)}]^i_\lambda &= X^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha (\partial_\lambda Y^i + \partial_j Y^i \,y^j_\lambda - \partial_\lambda Y^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \\ &+ X^h \,\partial_h (\partial_\lambda Y^i + \partial_j Y^i \,y^j_\lambda) \\ &- Y^\alpha \,\partial_\alpha (\partial_\lambda X^i + \partial_j X^i \,y^j_\lambda - \partial_\lambda X^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \\ &- Y^h \,\partial_h (\partial_\lambda X^i + \partial_j X^i \,y^j_\lambda) \\ &+ (\partial_\lambda X^h - \partial_\lambda X^\mu \,y^h_\mu) \,\partial_h Y^i \\ &- (\partial_\alpha X^i - \partial_\alpha X^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \,\partial_\lambda Y^\alpha \\ &- (\partial_\lambda Y^h + \partial_j Y^h \,y^j_\lambda) \,\partial_h X^i \\ &+ (\partial_\alpha Y^i - \partial_\alpha Y^\mu \,y^i_\mu) \,\partial_\lambda X^\alpha \end{split}$$

On the other hand, we obtain

$$\begin{split} ([X,Y]_{(1)})^{i}_{\lambda} &= \partial_{\lambda} (X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} Y^{i} + X^{h} \, \partial_{h} Y^{i} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} X^{i} - Y^{h} \, \partial_{h} X^{i}) \\ &+ \partial_{j} (X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} Y^{i} + X^{h} \, \partial_{h} Y^{i} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} X^{i} - Y^{h} \, \partial_{h} X^{i}) \, y^{j}_{\lambda} \\ &- \partial_{\lambda} (X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} Y^{\mu} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu}) \, y^{i}_{\mu} \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\begin{split} ([X,Y]_{(1)})^{i}_{\lambda} &= \partial_{\lambda} X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} Y^{i} + \partial_{\lambda} X^{h} \, \partial_{h} Y^{i} - \partial_{\lambda} Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} X^{i} - \partial_{\lambda} Y^{h} \, \partial_{h} X^{i} \\ &+ \left(\partial_{j} X^{h} \, \partial_{h} Y^{i} - \partial_{j} Y^{h} \, \partial_{h} X^{i} \right) y^{i}_{\lambda} \\ &- \left(\partial_{\lambda} X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} Y^{\mu} - \partial_{\lambda} Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \right) y^{i}_{\mu} \\ &+ \left(X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\alpha} Y^{i} + X^{h} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{h} Y^{i} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\alpha} X^{i} - Y^{h} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{h} X^{i} \right) \\ &+ \left(X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{j} \partial_{\alpha} Y^{i} + X^{h} \, \partial_{j} \partial_{h} Y^{i} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{j} \partial_{\alpha} X^{i} - Y^{h} \, \partial_{j} \partial_{h} X^{i} \right) y^{j}_{\lambda} \\ &- \left(X^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\alpha} Y^{\mu} - Y^{\alpha} \, \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \right) y^{i}_{\mu} \end{split}$$

hence

$$[X_{(1)}, Y_{(1)}]^i_{\lambda} = ([X, Y]_{(1)})^i_{\lambda} \cdot \text{QED}$$

We can extend in a natural way the above holonomic prolongation to non projectable vector fields, but this is not relevant for this thesis.

D. Saller

CHAPTER 2

CLASSICAL THEORY

In the first section, I recall the basic facts of the CCG theory. For more details, see for instance [56, 54]. Moreover, I sketch the results of [140] about symmetries in the CCG theory, which are necessary for understanding the symmetries of quantum theory. Using these results we can classify the vector fields which preserve the classical structure by means of algebras of functions of classical phase space, which are subalgebras of the algebra of special functions. The algebra of special functions is not a Poisson subalgebra. In the case, when the vector fields preserve the full classical structure, they are generated by functions of the special subalgebra. This subalgebra plays an essential role in the quantum theory.

The covariance of the theory includes also independence from the choice of units of measurements. For this reason, a rigorous treatment of this feature is needed.

Therefore, we assume the following "positive 1-dimensional semi-vector spaces" over \mathbb{R}^+ as fundamental unit spaces (roughly speaking, they have the same algebraic structure as \mathbb{R}^+ , but no distinguished generator over \mathbb{R}^+): the space of \mathbb{T} time intervals, the space \mathbb{L} of lengths and the space \mathbb{M} of masses.

Moreover, we assume the *Planck constant* to be an element $\hbar : \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{L}^2 \otimes \mathbb{M}$. We refer to particles with mass $m \in \mathbb{M}$ and charge $q \in \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{L}^{\frac{3}{2}} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Moreover, we refer to a time unit $u_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ or to its dual $u^0 \in \mathbb{T}^*$.

2.1 Classical framework

The classical background is introduced starting from minimal axioms. A curved spacetime fibred over an absolut time, a spacelike scaled Riemannian metric and a compatible gravitational and electromagnetic field. This structure yields in a covariant way the full classical structure. In particular, it yields the covariant Newton law, a scaled cosymplectic structure of classical phase space and a classical Lagrangian formalism.

Choosing an observer, it yields a classical Hamiltonian formalism. Hence, the Hamiltonian formalism is not covariant.

2.1.1 Spacetime

We assume *(absolute) time* to be an affine space T associated with the vector space $\overline{\mathbb{T}} := \mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{R}$. We assume *spacetime* to be an oriented (n + 1)-dimensional manifold E fibred over time by the *absolute time map*

$$t: \boldsymbol{E} \to \boldsymbol{T}$$

Thus, the time fibring yields the *time form*

$$dt: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes T^* \mathbf{E}$$
.

We refer to charts of spacetime $(x^{\lambda}) = (x^0, x^i)$ adapted to the time fibring, to the affine structure of time and to a time unit of measurement u_0 .

The induced local bases of $T\boldsymbol{E}$, $V\boldsymbol{E}$, $T^*\boldsymbol{E}$ and $V^*\boldsymbol{E}$ are, respectively, (∂_{λ}) , (∂_i) , (d^{λ}) and (\check{d}^i) .

We have the coordinate expression

$$dt = u_0 \otimes d^0$$
.

An observer is defined to be a section $o \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\boldsymbol{E})$, which projects on $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{T}$. Hence, an observer is a connection of the spacetime fibring. In a chart, we have the expression $o = d^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i)$, where $o_0^i \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. The charts (x^{λ}) for which $o_0^i = 0$ are said to be *adapted* to *o*. Each chart (x^{λ}) determines the observer $o := u^0 \otimes \partial_0$.

Each observer o yields the splitting

$$T\boldsymbol{E} = (\boldsymbol{E} \times \mathbb{T}) \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{E}} V\boldsymbol{E} : X \mapsto (dt(X)) + (X - o(dt(X)))$$

We shall be involved with the Lie subalgebras

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$$
 and $\operatorname{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$

of vector fields of E which are projectable on T and whose time component is constant, respectively.

2.1.2 Metric field

Assumption 0.1. We assume *spacelike metric* to be a scaled Riemannian metric of the fibres of spacetime

$$g: \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{L}^2 \otimes (V^* \boldsymbol{E} \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{E}} V^* \boldsymbol{E}). \square$$

2.1.1. Definition. Given a particle of mass m, we define the *re-scaled spacelike metric*

$$G := \frac{m}{\hbar}g : \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes \left(V^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V^* \boldsymbol{E}\right).$$

We denote the contravariant spacelike metric and the contravariant re–scaled spacelike metric by

$$\bar{g}: \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{L}^{2*} \otimes (V\boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V\boldsymbol{E})$$
$$\bar{G} := \frac{\hbar}{m} \bar{g}: \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes (V\boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V\boldsymbol{E}).$$

2.1.2. Proposition. We have the coordinate expressions

$$G = G_{ij}^0 u^0 \otimes d^i \otimes d^j, \quad \text{with} \quad G_{ij}^0 = \frac{m}{\hbar_0} g_{ij} \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

$$\bar{G} = G_0^{ij} u_0 \otimes \partial_i \otimes \partial_j, \quad \text{with} \quad G_0^{ij} = \frac{\hbar_0}{m} g^{ij} \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R). \square$$

2.1.3. Proposition. The spacelike metric g and the spacetime orientation naturally yield a scaled *spacelike volume form*

$$\eta: \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{L}^n \otimes \Lambda^n V^* \boldsymbol{E},$$

with coordinate expression

$$\eta = \sqrt{|g|} \,\check{d}^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \check{d}^n \,.$$

Moreover, the time form and the spacelike volume form yield the $spacetime \ volume \ form$

$$\upsilon := dt \wedge \eta : \boldsymbol{E} \to (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{L}^n) \otimes \Lambda^{n+1} T^* \boldsymbol{E} \,,$$

with coordinate expression

$$v \equiv u_0 \otimes v^0,$$

where we have set

$$v^0 := \sqrt{|g|} u_0 \otimes d^0 \wedge d^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge d^n . \square$$

2.1.4. Proposition. The spacelike metric g (or, equivalently, the re–scaled spacelike metric G) naturally yield the fibre–wise Riemannian connection

$$\boldsymbol{\varkappa}: V\boldsymbol{E} \to V^*\boldsymbol{E} \underset{V\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} VV\boldsymbol{E} \,,$$

with coordinate expression

$$\varkappa_{i}^{h}{}_{j} = -\frac{1}{2} g^{hk} \left(\partial_{i} g_{kj} + \partial_{j} g_{ki} - \partial_{k} g_{ij} \right). \square$$

2.1.5. Corollary. We obtain the fibre–wise curvature tensor of \varkappa

$$R[\boldsymbol{\varkappa}] := \frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\varkappa}, \, \boldsymbol{\varkappa} \right] : V \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^2 V^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V \boldsymbol{E} \,,$$

where [,] denotes the fibre-wise Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket, with coordinate expression

$$R[\varkappa] = (\partial_i \varkappa_j{}^h{}_k + \varkappa_i{}^p{}_k \varkappa_j{}^h{}_p) \dot{x}^k (\check{d}^i \wedge \check{d}^j \otimes \partial_h) . \Box$$

2.1.6. Corollary. We obtain the fibre–wise Ricci tensor

$$R_{\text{Ricci}}: \boldsymbol{E} \to V^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V^* \boldsymbol{E}$$

and the fibre–wise scalar curvature of \varkappa

$$\rho[\boldsymbol{\varkappa}] := \langle \bar{G}, R_{\text{Ricci}} \rangle : \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{R} . \square$$

Lie derivatives of the metric

2.1.7. Proposition. For each $X \in \text{Sec}(E, TE)$, we obtain the Lie derivative

$$L[X] \, \overline{G} \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V \boldsymbol{E}),$$

with coordinate expression

$$L[X]\,\bar{G} = (X^{\lambda}\,\partial_{\lambda}G_0^{ij} - G_0^{hj}\,\partial_h X^i - G_0^{ih}\,\partial_h X^j)\,u^0 \otimes \partial_i \otimes \partial_j$$

Moreover, for each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain the Lie derivative

$$L[X] G \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T} \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V^* \boldsymbol{E}),$$

with coordinate expression

$$L[X] G = (X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} G^{0}_{ij} + G^{0}_{hj} \partial_{i} X^{h} + G^{0}_{ih} \partial_{j} X^{h}) u_{0} \otimes \check{d}^{i} \otimes \check{d}^{j}.$$

2.1.8. Corollary. Let $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ and $f \in Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

$$L[X] \,\overline{G} = f \,\overline{G}$$
$$L[X] \,G = -f \,G \,.$$

PROOF. The equality

$$X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} G_0^{ij} - G_0^{hj} \partial_h X^i - G_0^{ih} \partial_h X^j = f G_0^{ij}$$

is equivalent to the equality

$$G^{0}_{pi} G^{0}_{qj} \left(X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} G^{ij}_{0} - G^{hj}_{0} \partial_{h} X^{i} - G^{ih}_{0} \partial_{h} X^{j} \right) = G^{0}_{pi} G^{0}_{qj} \left(f G^{ij}_{0} \right)$$

i.e. to the equality

$$-X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} G^0_{pq} - G^0_{hq} \partial_p X^h - G^0_{ph} \partial_q X^h = f G^0_{pq} . \Box$$

2.1.9. Definition. For each $X \in Sec(E, TE)$, we define the spacetime divergence

$$\operatorname{div}_{v} X \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$$

by the equality

$$L[X] v = (\operatorname{div}_{v} X) v$$

and the *timelike divergence*

$$\operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$

by the equality

$$L[X] dt = (\operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X) dt . \square$$

2.1.10. Definition. For each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we define the *spacelike divergence*

 $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$

by the equality

$$L[X] \eta = (\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X) \eta . \Box$$

2.1.11. Proposition. For each $X \in Sec(E, TE)$, we have the coordinate expressions

$$\operatorname{div}_{v} X = \frac{\partial_{0}(X^{0}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{j}(X^{j}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}$$
$$\operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X = \partial_{0}X^{0}.$$

Moreover, for each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{j} (X^{j} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} . \Box$$

2.1.12. Corollary. For each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}_{v} X = \operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X + \operatorname{div}_{n} X.$$

Hence, for each $X \in \text{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}_{v} X = \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X \,.\, \Box$$

2.1.13. Corollary. For each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = \frac{1}{2} \langle \overline{G}, L[X] G \rangle$$
. \Box

2.1.14. Definition. A vector field $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ is called *conformal unimodular*, or *unimodular*, if we have, respectively,

$$d(\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X) = 0$$
, or $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = 0$.

We denote the sheaves of conformal unimodular and unimodular vector fields by

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{Unim}}(\boldsymbol{E},\,T\boldsymbol{E})\subset\mathrm{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E},\,T\boldsymbol{E})\qquad\mathrm{and}\qquad\mathrm{Unim}(\boldsymbol{E},\,T\boldsymbol{E})\subset\widetilde{\mathrm{Unim}}(\boldsymbol{E},\,T\boldsymbol{E})$$

2.1.15. Lemma. For each $X, \overline{X} \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we have

$$\operatorname{div}_{\eta}([X,\bar{X}]) = X.\operatorname{div}_{\eta}\bar{X} - \bar{X}.\operatorname{div}_{\eta}X.\square$$

2.1.16. Proposition. The sheaves Unim(E, TE) and Unim(E, TE) are closed with respect to the Lie bracket. \Box

The spacelike metric g yields a Riemannian connection of the fibres of E and the scalar curvature ρ .

2.1.3 Gravitational and electromagnetic fields

We assume gravitational field to be a torsion free linear connection of the vector bundle $T\mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$

$$K^{\natural}: T\boldsymbol{E} \to T^*\boldsymbol{E} \underset{T\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} TT\boldsymbol{E},$$

such that

$$\nabla^{\natural} dt = 0, \qquad \nabla^{\natural} g = 0$$

and such that the curvature tensor R^{\natural} fulfills the condition

$$R^{\natural j}_{\ 0\lambda}{}^{i}_{\ \mu} = R^{\natural i}_{\ 0\mu}{}^{j}_{\ \lambda} \,.$$

We assume *electromagnetic field* to be a closed scaled 2-form

$$f: \boldsymbol{E}
ightarrow (\mathbb{L}^{rac{1}{2}} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{rac{1}{2}}) \otimes \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E}$$

Given a particle of a charge q, it is convenient to consider the re–scaled electromagnetic field

$$F := \frac{q}{\hbar} f : \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E}$$
.

2.1.17. Proposition. The electromagnetic field F can be "added", in a covariant way, to the gravitational connection yielding a *(total)* spacetime connection

$$K = K^{\natural} + \frac{1}{2} \left(dt \otimes \hat{F} + \hat{F} \otimes dt \right),$$

where $\hat{F} = G_0^{ih} F_{hj} u^0 \otimes \partial_i \otimes d^j$.

The total K still fulfills the properties that we have assumed for K^{\natural} .

2.1.18. Proposition. [JadMod93] The coordinate expression of K is

$$K_{kjh}^{0} = K_{hjk}^{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_h G_{jk}^{0} + \partial_k G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_j G_{hk}^{0} \right)$$

$$K_{0jh}^{0} = K_{hj0}^{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_h A_j - \partial_j A_h + \partial_0 G_{hj}^{0} \right)$$

$$K_{0j0}^{0} = -(\partial_0 A_j - \partial_j A_0) ,$$

where $A[o] = A_0 d^0 + A_j d^j$ is any local potential of the closed 2-form

$$\Phi[o] := \operatorname{Ant}(G^{\flat}(\nabla o)) \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E}),$$

where o is the observer associated with the chosen spacetime chart. \Box

2.1.4 Examples of spacetime

As a particular example of spacetime we shall consider a *special spacetime*, constituted by an affine spacetime E, equipped with an affine time map t and the flat gravitational field K^{\natural} induced by the affine structure of E.

2.1.5 Classical phase space

The *phase space* is defined to be the first jet space $t^1 : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T}$ of sections of spacetime [139]. We denote fibred charts of the phase space by (x^0, x^i, x_0^i) .

We recall that $J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$ is an affine bundle associated with the vector bundle $\mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \mathbf{E}$. Hence, the vertical space of $J_1 \mathbf{E}$ with respect to \mathbf{E} turns out to be

$$V_{\boldsymbol{E}}J_1\boldsymbol{E}=\mathbb{T}^*\otimes V\boldsymbol{E}$$
.

$$\nu: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes \left(V^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{J_1 \boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \right),$$

with coordinate expression

$$\nu = u_0 \otimes \check{d}^i \otimes \partial_i^0 \,.$$

We recall the natural *contact maps*

$$\boldsymbol{\mathrm{g}}: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T \boldsymbol{E} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \boldsymbol{\theta}: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V \boldsymbol{E} \,,$$

with coordinate expressions

We shall be involved with the Lie subalgebras

$$\operatorname{Pro}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}),$$

$$\operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Pro}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$$

of vector fields of $J_1 E$ which are projectable on T and whose time component is constant, respectively.

2.1.19. Proposition. For each $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, we have the holonomic prolongation

$$X_{(1)} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}),$$

with coordinate expression

$$X_{(1)} = X^0 \,\partial_0 + X^i \,\partial_i + \left(\partial_0 X^i + \partial_j X^i \,x_0^j - \partial_0 X^0 \,x_0^i\right) \partial_i^0 \,.$$

Moreover, the map $\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ is an injective Lie algebra morphism. \Box

For each $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, we define the spacelike divergence

$$\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

by the equality $L[X^{\uparrow}] \eta = \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \eta$.

2.1.20. Proposition. We have the coordinate expression

div
$$X^{\uparrow} = X^0 \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_j (X^j \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} . \Box$$

A vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is called *conformal unimodular*, or *unimodular*, if we have, respectively,

 $d(\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}) = 0$, or $\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} = 0$.

We denote the sheaves of conformal unimodular and unimodular vector fields by

 $\tilde{\text{Unim}}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \text{Pro}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ $\text{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \tilde{\text{Unim}}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}).$

2.1.21. Lemma. For each $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, we have

$$\operatorname{div}([X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow}]) = X^{\uparrow} \cdot \operatorname{div} \bar{X}^{\uparrow} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \cdot \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \cdot \Box$$

2.1.22. Proposition. The sheaves $Unim(J_1E, TJ_1E)$ and $Unim(J_1E, TJ_1E)$ are closed with respect to the Lie bracket. \Box

2.1.6 Distinguished phase fields

2.1.23. Proposition. [56] The spacetime connection K yields in a covariant way a torsion free affine connection of the affine bundle $J_1 E \to E$, called *phase connection*,

$$\Gamma: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{J_1 \boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} T J_1 \boldsymbol{E},$$

with coordinate expression

$$\Gamma_{\lambda 0}^{\ i} := \Gamma_{\lambda 0 j}^{\ i \, 0} x_0^j + \Gamma_{\lambda 0 0}^{\ i \, 0}, \qquad \text{with} \qquad \Gamma_{\lambda 0 \mu}^{\ i \, 0} = K_{\lambda}^{\ i \, \mu}.$$

Conversely, the phase connection Γ characterizes the total spacetime connection K. We have the following useful equalities.

2.1.24. Proposition. We have the following coordinate expressions

$$\Gamma_{00}^{i\,j} - \Gamma_{00}^{j\,i} = -G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0 \right) x_0^l + \Phi_{hk} \right),$$

$$\Gamma_{ij} - \Gamma_{ji} = -\left(\partial_i G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{ih}^0 \right) x_0^h - \Phi_{ij}$$

where

$$\Gamma_{00}^{hk} \coloneqq G_0^{hl} \,\Gamma_{l0}^{k} \,, \qquad \Gamma_{hk} \coloneqq G_{kl}^0 \,\Gamma_{h0}^{l} \,.\,\square$$

2.1.25. Proposition. [56] The phase connection yields in a covariant way the *second* order connection

$$\gamma := \mathbf{\pi} \, \lrcorner \, \Gamma : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T J_1 \mathbf{E} \,,$$

with coordinate expression

$$\gamma = u^0 \otimes \left(\partial_0 + x_0^i \,\partial_i + \gamma_{00}^{\ i} \,\partial_i^0\right),\,$$

where

$$\gamma_{00}^{i} = \Gamma_{h0k}^{i0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + 2 \Gamma_{h00}^{i0} x_{0}^{h} + \Gamma_{000}^{i0}$$

= $-G_{0}^{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} + \partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + \left(\partial_{0} G_{hj}^{0} + \Phi_{hj} \right) x_{0}^{h} + \Phi_{0j} \right).$

Conversely, the second order connection γ characterizes the phase connection Γ . \Box

2.1.26. Proposition. [56] The phase connection Γ and the spacelike metric G yield in a covariant way the *phase* 2-form

$$\Omega := \nu[\Gamma] \bar{\wedge} \theta : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^2 J_1 T \boldsymbol{E} ,$$

with coordinate expression

$$\Omega = G^0_{ij} \left(d^i_0 - \gamma^i_{00} d^0 - \Gamma^i_{h0} \theta^h \right) \wedge \theta^j \,,$$

where $\nu[\Gamma]$ is the vertical valued form associated with Γ and $\overline{\wedge}$ is the wedge product followed by a contraction through G.

Conversely, the phase 2-form Ω characterizes the spacelike metric G and the phase connection $\Gamma.\,\square$

2.1.27. Proposition. For each observer o, we obtain

$$\Phi[o] = 2 \, o^* \Omega$$
 . \Box

2.1.28. Proposition. The phase connection Γ and the spacelike metric G yield in a covariant way the 2-vector

$$\Lambda[G,\Gamma] := \check{\Gamma} \,\bar{\wedge} \,\nu : J_1 E \to \Lambda^2 T J_1 E$$
,

with coordinate expression

$$\Lambda[G,\Gamma] = G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i + \Gamma_{i0}^h \partial_h^0\right) \wedge \partial_j^0,$$

where $\check{\Gamma}: J_1 E \to V^* E \underset{J_1 E}{\otimes} V J_1 E$ is the vertical restriction of $\Gamma. \Box$

2.1.29. Proposition. [56, 66] We have

$$dt \wedge \Omega^n \not\equiv 0, \qquad i(\gamma) \,\Omega = 0, \qquad d\Omega = 0, \qquad L[\gamma] \,\Lambda = 0, \qquad [\Lambda, \Lambda] = 0. \square$$

Additionally, we have that $i(\gamma) dt = 1$. Hence, $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, dt, \Omega)$ turns out to be a (scaled) cosymplectic manifold, γ the associated (scaled) Reeb vector field and Λ the associated 2-vector field.

2.1.7 Classical kinematics

A motion is defined to be a section $s \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{T}, \mathbf{E})$. The absolute velocity of a motion s is defined to be its first jet prolongation $j_1 s \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{T}, J_1 \mathbf{E})$.

An observer can be regarded as a section $o \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$. An observer o yields the fibred morphism

$$\nabla[o] \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \boldsymbol{E})$$

with coordinate expression

$$\nabla[o] = (x_0^i - o_0^i) \, u^0 \otimes \partial_i \, .$$

Then, for each motion s, we obtain the *observed velocity*

$$\nabla[o]s := j_1 s - o \circ s \in \operatorname{Sec}(T, \,\mathbb{T}^* \otimes VE)$$

We define the kinetic momentum and the kinetic energy to be the maps

$$\mathcal{Q}[o] := G^{\flat} \circ \nabla[o] : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to V^* \mathbf{E}$$
$$\mathcal{K}[o] := \frac{1}{2} G \circ (\nabla[o], \nabla[o]) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{R} ,$$

with expressions, in adapted coordinates,

$$Q[o] = G_{ij}^0 x_0^i \check{d}^j$$
 and $\mathcal{K}[o] = \frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j d^0$.

2.1.8 Classical mechanics

We assume the generalised Newton's equation

$$\nabla[\gamma]j_1s = 0$$

as equation of motion for classical dynamics.

A function $f \in \text{Map}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\gamma \cdot f = 0$ is said to be *conserved*. We denote the subsheaf of conserved functions by

$$\operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

We can also obtain the classical dynamics by a Lagrangian formalism according to a cohomological procedure in the following way [130].

2.1.30. Proposition. The phase 2-form Ω admits locally horizontal potentials

$$\Theta \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E})$$

(defined up to a closed form of the type $\alpha \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T^*\boldsymbol{E})$).

We have a first natural splitting of each horizontal potential induced by the contact structure of $J_1 \mathbf{E}$.

2.1.31. Proposition. Each horizontal potential Θ splits, in a covariant way as,

$$\Theta = \mathcal{L}[\Theta] + \mathcal{P}[\Theta] \,,$$

through the t-horizontal component and the μ -vertical component

$$\mathcal{L}[\Theta] := \mathfrak{A} \lrcorner \Theta \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{P}[\Theta] := \theta \lrcorner \Theta,$$

called Lagrangian and momentum, respectively.

Moreover, we obtain

$$D\mathcal{L}[\Theta] = \check{\mathcal{P}}[\Theta].$$

Hence, each potential Θ turns out to be the *Poincaré–Cartan form* of the associated Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}[\Theta]$. \Box

On the other hand, given an observer o, we obtain a further splitting of each horizontal potential Θ .

2.1.32. Proposition. Let us consider an observer *o*.

Then, each horizontal potential Θ splits as

$$\Theta = -\mathcal{H}[\Theta, o] + \mathcal{V}[\Theta, o],$$

through the t-horizontal component and the o-vertical component

$$\mathcal{H}[\Theta, o] := -o \,\lrcorner \, \Theta \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{V}[\Theta, o] := \nu[o] \,\lrcorner \, \Theta,$$

called observed Hamiltonian and observed momentum, respectively.

Moreover, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}[\Theta] = -\mathcal{H}[\Theta, o] + \operatorname{d} \operatorname{d} \mathcal{V}[\Theta, o]$$
 . \Box

2.1.33. Definition. Let us consider an observer o.

We define the local *observed potential* associated with a horizontal potential Θ to be the form

$$A[\Theta, o] := o^*(\Theta) \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T^*\boldsymbol{E}) . \Box$$

2.1.34. Proposition. For each horizontal potential Θ and observer o, we obtain

$$A[\Theta, o] = \Theta \circ o \,.$$

PROOF. It follows from the fact that Θ is a horizontal form. QED

2.1.35. Proposition. Let us consider an observer o.

Then, for each horizontal potential Θ , $A[\Theta, o]$ is a potential of the closed 2-form $\Phi[o] = 2 o^*(\Omega) \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E})$, according to

$$2\,dA[\Theta,o] = \Phi[o]\,.$$

PROOF. We obtain

$$2 dA[\Theta, o] := 2 d(o^*\Theta) = 2 o^*(d\Theta) = 2 o^*\Omega := \Phi[o]$$
. QED

2.1.36. Proposition. Let us consider an observer o and a horizontal potential Θ . Then, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}[\Theta] = \mathcal{K}[o] + \operatorname{d} \operatorname{d} A[\Theta, o]$$
$$\mathcal{H}[\Theta, o] = \mathcal{K}[o] - o \operatorname{d} A[\Theta, o]$$
$$\mathcal{V}[\Theta, o] = \nu[o] \operatorname{d} \left(\mathcal{Q}[o] + \check{A}[\Theta, o] \right). \Box$$

2.1.37. Proposition. Let us consider an observer o, an adapted chart and a horizontal potential Θ .

We have the following coordinate expressions

$$\Theta = \left(-\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{j} + A_{0}\right) d^{0} + \left(G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{j} + A_{i}\right) d^{i}$$
$$\mathcal{L}[\Theta] = \left(\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{j} + A_{i} x_{0}^{i} + A_{0}\right) d^{0}, \qquad \mathcal{P}[\Theta] = \left(G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{j} + A_{i}\right) \left(d^{i} - x_{0}^{i} d^{0}\right)$$

and, in a chart adapted to o,

$$\mathcal{H}[\Theta, o] = \left(\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j - A_0\right) d^0, \qquad \mathcal{V}[\Theta, o] = \left(G_{ij}^0 x_0^j + A_i\right) d^i \, . \, \Box$$

2.1.38. Proposition. Let us consider two observers o and $\bar{o} = o + v$ and a horizontal potential Θ .

Then, we obtain

$$A[\Theta, \bar{o}] = A[\Theta, o] - \frac{1}{2}G9v, v) + \nu[o] \,\lrcorner\, G^{\flat}(v)$$

i.e., in a chart adapted to o,

$$A[\Theta, \bar{o}] = A[\Theta, o] - \frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 v_0^i v_0^j d^0 + G_{ij}^0 v_0^j d^i.$$

PROOF. In a chart adapted to o, we have

$$A[\Theta, \bar{o}] = \Theta \circ \bar{o}$$

= $\left(\left(-\frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{j} + A_{0} \right) d^{0} + \left(G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{j} + A_{i} \right) d^{i} \right) \circ \bar{o}$
= $A_{\lambda} d^{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^{0} v_{0}^{i} v_{0}^{j} d^{0} + G_{ij}^{0} v_{0}^{j} d^{i} . \text{QED}$

2.1.39. Proposition. The "*t*-horizontal" component of Ω turns out to be the fibred morphism

$$\mathcal{E} = G^{\flat}(\nabla[\gamma]) : J_2 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E}$$
.

Moreover, \mathcal{E} turns out to be the Euler-Lagrange operator associated with the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}(\Theta)$, for each horizontal potential Θ . \Box

2.2 Hamiltonian stuff

The minimal axioms yield in a covariant way a distinguished lift of functions of classical phase space to vector fields of phase space, called the Hamiltonian lift. The vector field of phase space which preserve the cosymplectic structure turn out to be locally of the type of a Hamiltonian lift.

2.2.1 Musical morphisms

2.2.1. Lemma. We have the natural dual splittings

$$TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E} = T_{\gamma} J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{E}} V J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$$
 and $T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E} = H^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{E}} T^*_{\gamma} J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$,

given by

$$X^{\uparrow} = dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma + (X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma)$$
 and $\phi^{\uparrow} = \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt + (\phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt)$

where

-
$$VJ_1 E \subset TJ_1 E$$
 is the vertical subbundle (with respect to dt),

- $H^*J_1 \mathbf{E} \subset T^*J_1 \mathbf{E}$ is the horizontal subbundle generated by dt,

- $T_{\gamma}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E} \subset TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}$ is the subbundle generated by γ ,

- $T^*_{\gamma}J_1 E \subset T^*J_1 E$ is the subbundle of forms which kill γ .

We define the *musical morphisms* to be the linear fibred morphisms

$$\Omega^{\flat} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : X^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega$$
$$\Lambda^{\sharp} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : \phi^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(\phi^{\uparrow}) \Lambda.$$

2.2.2. Lemma. The musical morphisms restrict to the mutually inverse linear fibred isomorphisms

$$\Omega^{\flat} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, VJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : X^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega$$
$$\Lambda^{\sharp} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, VJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : \phi^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(\phi^{\uparrow}) \Lambda . \Box$$

2.2.3. Lemma. For each $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $\phi^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain

$$(\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat})(X^{\uparrow}) = X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow})\gamma \quad \text{and} \quad (\Omega^{\flat} \circ \Lambda^{\sharp})(\phi^{\uparrow}) = \phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt \Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow}) = (\Omega^{\flat})^{-1}(\phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt) \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}) = (\Lambda^{\sharp})^{-1}(X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow})\gamma) . \square$$

2.2.4. Theorem. The natural dual splittings

$$TJ_1\boldsymbol{E} = T_{\gamma}J_1\boldsymbol{E} \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{E}} VJ_1\boldsymbol{E}$$
 and $T^*J_1\boldsymbol{E} = H^*J_1\boldsymbol{E} \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{E}} T^*_{\gamma}J_1\boldsymbol{E}$,

are given by

$$X^{\uparrow} = dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma + (\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat}) (X^{\uparrow}) \qquad and \qquad \phi^{\uparrow} = \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt + (\Omega^{\flat} \circ \Lambda^{\sharp}) (\phi^{\uparrow}) . \square$$

Given a time scale $\tau \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, we define the subbundle

$$T_{\tau}J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \subset TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}$$

consisting of vectors whose time component is given by τ .

2.2.5. Lemma. Given a *time scale* $\tau \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, we obtain the mutually inverse affine fibred isomorphism

$$\Omega^{\flat}_{\tau} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\tau}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : X^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega$$
$$\Lambda^{\sharp}_{\tau} : \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, T_{\tau}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : \phi^{\uparrow} \mapsto \gamma(\tau) + i(\phi^{\uparrow}) \Lambda . \Box$$

2.2.6. Lemma. Let $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $\phi^{\uparrow}, \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$. Then, we have the following equivalences:

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow} &= \bar{X}^{\uparrow} & \Leftrightarrow & dt(X^{\uparrow}) = dt(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \,, \quad \Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}) = \Omega^{\flat}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \\ \phi^{\uparrow} &= \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} & \Leftrightarrow & \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \,= \phi^{\uparrow}(\bar{\gamma}) \,, \quad \Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow}) \,= \Lambda^{\sharp}(\bar{\phi}^{\uparrow}) \,. \end{split}$$

Proof. If

$$dt(X^{\uparrow}) = dt(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \,, \quad \Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}) = \Omega^{\flat}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \,,$$

then

$$0 = \Lambda^{\sharp}(\Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow})) - \Lambda^{\sharp}(\Omega^{\flat}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})) = X^{\uparrow} - dt(X)\gamma - \bar{X}^{\uparrow} + dt(\bar{X})\gamma = X^{\uparrow} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.$$

If

$$\phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) = \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \,, \quad \Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow}) = \Lambda^{\sharp}(\bar{\phi}^{\uparrow}) \,,$$

 then

$$0 = \Omega^{\flat}(\Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow})) - \Omega^{\flat}(\Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow})) = \phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \, dt - \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} + \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \, dt = \phi^{\uparrow} - \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} \, . \square$$

2.2.2 Hamiltonian lift of functions

2.2.7. Definition. The vertical Hamiltonian lift of a function $f \in Map(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is defined to be the vector field

$$\Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, V J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$$
 .

2.2.8. Proposition. For each $f \in Map(J_1 E, IR)$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\Lambda^{\sharp}(df) = -G_0^{ij} \partial_j^0 f \partial_i + \left(G_0^{ij} \partial_j f + \left(\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}\right) \partial_j^0 f\right) \partial_i^0 \cdot \Box$$

2.2.9. Definition. Given a time scale $\tau \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, we define the τ -Hamiltonian lift of a function $f \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ to be the vector field

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] := \gamma(\tau) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) . \square$$

2.2.10. Proposition. For each $\tau \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] = \tau^{0} \,\partial_{0} + (\tau^{0} \,x_{0}^{i} - G_{0}^{ij} \,\partial_{j}^{0} f) \,\partial_{i} + \left(\tau^{0} \,\gamma_{00}^{i} + G_{0}^{ij} \,\partial_{j} f + (\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}) \,\partial_{j}^{0} f\right) \partial_{i}^{0} \,.\,\Box$$

2.2.11. Lemma. For every $f \in Map(J_1 E, IR)$, we have the distinguished time scale, called the *time component* of f,

$$f'' := \frac{1}{n} \langle \bar{G}, D^2 f \rangle \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \bar{\mathbb{T}}),$$

where

$$D^2 f \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \ \mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{T} \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E} \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{E}} V^* \boldsymbol{E})$$

is the second fibre derivative of f with respect to the affine fibre of the bundle $J_1 E \to E$. Thus, we have the coordinate expression

$$f'' \equiv f^0 u_0 = \frac{1}{n} G_0^{ij} \partial_i^0 \partial_j^0 f u_0$$
.

2.2.12. Definition. We define the Hamiltonian lift of $f \in Map(J_1 E, IR)$ to be the vector field

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] := X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f'', f] = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}) \,. \square$$

2.2.13. Example. If $f \in Map(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$, then we obtain

$$X^{\intercal}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] = \operatorname{grad} f \mathrel{\mathop:}= G^{\sharp}(df) \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \ \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \ V_0J_1\boldsymbol{E})$$
 . \Box

We denote the subsheaf of Hamiltonian lifts of functions by

$$\operatorname{Ham}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})\subset\operatorname{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})\,.$$

2.2.3 Classical symmetries

We classify the vector fields of the phase space which are infinitesimal symmetries of the time 1–form and of the phase 2–form.

2.2.14. Proposition. The i.s.'s

$$X \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$$
 and $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$

of dt are the vector fields with constant time component

$$dt(X) \in \mathbb{T}$$
 and $dt(X^{\uparrow}) \in \mathbb{T}$,

respectively

PROOF. In fact, we have

$$L[X] dt = d i(X) dt$$
 and $L[X^{\uparrow}] dt = d i(X^{\uparrow}) dt$. QED

2.2.15. Theorem. The i.s.'s

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$$

of Ω are the vector fields of the local type

$$X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f], \quad with \quad \tau \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \,\overline{\mathbb{T}}), \quad f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \,\mathbb{R}),$$

where, for each X^{\uparrow} , the time component is given by $\tau := dt(X^{\uparrow})$ and the function f is defined up to a constant.

PROOF. Let us consider any $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and set $\tau := dt(X^{\uparrow}) \in \text{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$. Then, X^{\uparrow} can be uniquely written as

$$X^{\uparrow} = \gamma(\tau) + \bar{X}^{\uparrow}, \quad \text{with} \quad \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, V J_1 \boldsymbol{E}).$$

Moreover, we have

$$L[\gamma(\tau)]\,\Omega=0\,.$$

Furthermore,

$$L[\bar{X}^{\uparrow}]\,\Omega = 0$$

if and only if

$$di(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\,\Omega=0\,,$$

i.e. if and only if locally

$$i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \Omega = df, \quad \text{with} \quad \gamma f = 0,$$

i.e. if and only if locally

$$ar{X}^{\uparrow} = \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \,, \qquad ext{with} \qquad \gamma.f = 0 \,. \, ext{QED}$$

2.2.16. Corollary. The i.s.'s

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$$

of dt and Ω are the vector fields of the local type

$$X^{\uparrow} = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f], \quad \text{with} \quad \tau \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}, \quad f \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, IR),$$

where, for each X^{\uparrow} , the time component is given by $\tau := dt(X^{\uparrow})$ and the function f is defined up to a constant. \Box

2.2.17. Proposition. The subsheaf

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{dt}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$$

is a Lie subalgebra.

The subsheaves

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{dt}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}),$$

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\Omega}((J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}),$$

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{(dt,\Omega)}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E})$$

are Lie subalgebras.

PROOF. They are particular cases of the general Proposition 1.4.2. QED

2.2.4 Poisson Lie algebra

2.2.18. Definition. We define the *Poisson bracket* to be the map

 $\operatorname{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \times \operatorname{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) : (f,g) \mapsto \{f, g\} := i(df \wedge dg) \Lambda . \square$

2.2.19. Proposition. For each $f, g \in Map(J_1 E, IR)$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\{f,g\} = G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f \,\partial_j^0 g - \partial_i g \,\partial_j^0 f\right) - \left(\Gamma_{00}^{i\,j} - \Gamma_{00}^{j\,i}\right) \partial_i^0 f \,\partial_j^0 g$$

= $G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f \,\partial_j^0 g - \partial_i g \,\partial_j^0 f\right) + G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0\right) x_0^l + \Phi_{hk}\right) \partial_i^0 f \,\partial_j^0 g . \square$

2.2.20. Lemma. For each $f, g \in Map(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, we have

$$\gamma.\{f,g\} = \{\gamma.f,g\} + \{f,\gamma.g\}.$$

PROOF. The equality

$$L[\gamma]\Lambda \equiv [\gamma,\Lambda] = 0$$

yields

$$L[\gamma] \{f, g\} := L[\gamma] \left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df, dg) \right) = \Lambda^{\sharp}(L[\gamma] df, dg) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df, L[\gamma] dg)$$
$$= \Lambda^{\sharp}(dL[\gamma] f, dg) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df, dL[\gamma] g) = \{\gamma. f, g\} + \{f, \gamma. g\} . \text{QED}$$

2.2.21. Proposition. The sheaf $Map(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ turns out to be an \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra through the Poisson bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \, VJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) : f \to \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)$$

turns out to be a morphism of Lie algebras. Its kernel is $Map(T, \mathbb{R})$.

PROOF. Clearly, $Map(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is an algebra.

First, let us prove that the vertical Hamiltonian lift is a morphism of algebras. For this, it is sufficient to prove that, for each $f, g \in Map(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$,

$$\Omega^{\flat} \big(\Lambda^{\sharp}(d\{f,g\}) \big) = \Omega^{\flat} \big([\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)] \big) \,.$$

In fact, we have

$$\Omega^{\flat} \left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(d\{f, g\}) \right) = d\{f, g\} - \gamma.\{f, g\}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Omega^{\flat}\big([\Lambda^{\sharp}(df),\,\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)]\big) &= L[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df)]\,i(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg))\,\Omega - i(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg))\,L[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df)]\,\Omega\\ &= L[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df)]\,(dg - \gamma.g) - i(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg))\,d(df - \gamma.f)\\ &= di(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df))\,dg - i(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df))\,d\gamma.g + i(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg))\,d\gamma.f\\ &= d\{f,g\} - \{f,\,\gamma.g\} + \{g,\,\gamma.f\}\\ &= d\{f,g\} - \{f,\gamma.g\} - \{\gamma.f,g\}\\ &= d\{f,g\} - \gamma.\{f,g\}\,. \end{split}$$

Then, let us prove that the Poisson bracket fulfills the Jacobi property.

In fact, for each $f, g \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\begin{split} \{\{f,g\},h\} &= \Lambda^{\sharp}(d\{f,g\}).h \\ &= [\Lambda^{\sharp}(df),\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)].h \\ &= \Lambda^{\sharp}(df).(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg).h) - \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg).(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df).h) \\ &= \{f,\{g,h\}\} - \{g,\{f,h\}\} \\ &= -\{\{h,f\},g\} - \{g,h\},f\} \,. \end{split}$$

It follows from the coordinate expression that the kernel is $Map(T, \mathbb{R})$. QED

2.3 Lie algebra of special quadratic functions

The minimal axioms yield in a covariant way a distinguished algebra of functions of phase space, called the algebra of special functions, which is not a Poisson subalgebra. It turns out that the Hamiltonian lifts which project over a vector field of spacetime are necessarily of the type of a Hamiltonian lift of a special function. Moreover, the map which associates with a special function the projectable Hamiltonian lift is a morphism of Lie algebras.

2.3.1 Special quadratic functions

2.3.1. Definition. A special quadratic function is defined to be a function

$$f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} R),$$

such that

$$D^2 f = \tau \otimes G$$
, with $\tau \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}).\square$

Clearly, if $f \in Map(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is a special quadratic function, then we obtain $\tau = f''$, hence

$$D^2 f = f'' \otimes G$$
, with $f'' \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$.

The subsheaf of special quadratic functions is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R).$$

We stress that the definition of special quadratic function involves only on the time fibring and the spacelike metric; indeed, it does not involve Ω .

Moreover, we shall be involved with the distinguished subsheaves related to the affine structure of the bundle $J_1 E \to E$.

2.3.2. Definition. We define the following subsheaves:

- the sheaf

$$\operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$

consisting of functions, called *quantisable*, whose time component $f'' \in \text{Map}(T, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ depends only on T;

- the sheaf

$$\operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$

consisting of quantisable functions whose time component $f'' \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ is constant;

- the sheaf

$$\operatorname{Aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

consisting of quantisable functions, called *affine*, whose time component f'' = 0 vanishes,

i.e. the subsheaf of affine functions with respect to the affine fibres of the bundle $J_1 E \to E$; - the sheaf

- the sheaf

$$\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

consisting of affine functions such that Df = 0, i.e. the subsheaf of functions which depend only on E.

2.3.3. Proposition. With reference to any observer o and to an adapted chart, the special quadratic functions are the functions $f \in \text{Map}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ of the type

$$f = \langle \mathcal{K}[o], f'' \rangle + \langle f'[o], \nabla[o] \rangle + f[o],$$

i.e. of the type

$$f = \frac{1}{2} f^0 G^0_{ij} \, x^i_0 \, x^j_0 + f^0_i \, x^i_0 + \overset{o}{f} \, ,$$

where

$$f'' \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \bar{\mathbb{T}}), \qquad f'[o] \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \mathbb{T} \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E}), \qquad f[o] \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R),$$
$$f^0, f_i^0, \, \overset{o}{f} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R),$$
$$f'' = f^0 \, u_0, \qquad f'[o] = f_i^0 \, u_0 \otimes \check{d}^i, \qquad f[o] = \overset{o}{f}.$$

Moreover, if $f \in Map(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is a special quadratic function, then we obtain

$$f'' = \frac{1}{n} \left\langle D^2 f, \bar{G} \right\rangle, \qquad f'[o] = Df \circ o, \qquad f[o] = f \circ o \,. \, \Box$$

2.3.4. Corollary. If $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and \bar{o}, o are two observers, with $\bar{o} = o + v$, then we obtain

$$f'[\bar{o}] = f'[o] + G^{\flat}(v) f'', \qquad f[\bar{o}] = f[o] + f'[o](v) + \frac{1}{2}G(v,v) f''.$$

PROOF. We have

$$f'[\bar{o}] = Df \circ \bar{o} = Df \circ (o+v) = Df \circ o + D^2 f(v) = f'[o] + f'' G^{\flat}(v)$$
$$f[\bar{o}] = f \circ \bar{o} = f \circ (o+v) = f \circ o + (Df \circ o)(v) + \frac{1}{2} D^2 f \circ (v,v) = f[o] + f'[o](v) + \frac{1}{2} G(v,v) f'' \cdot \text{QED}$$

2.3.5. Theorem. [56] Let $\tau \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ and $f \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1) $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{Ham}}[\tau, f] \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is projectable on $X[\tau, f] \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T \boldsymbol{E}),$
- 2) $f \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $\tau = f''$.

Thus, if the above conditions are fulfilled, then we obtain

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] := \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \,.$$

PROOF. The vector field

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] = \tau^0 \,\partial_0 + (\tau^0 \,x_0^i - G_0^{ij} \,\partial_j^0 f) \,\partial_i + (\tau^0 \,\gamma_{00}^i + G_0^{ij} \,\partial_j f + (\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}) \,\partial_j^0 f) \,\partial_i^0$$

is projectable if and only if

$$\tau^0 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R), \qquad \tau^0 G^0_{ij} \, x^i_0 - \partial^0_j f \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

Moreover, by recalling the affine structure of the bundle $J_1 E \to E$, the functions f which fulfill the equation

$$\tau^0 G_{ij}^0 x_0^i - \partial_j^0 f \equiv f_j^0 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

are of the type

$$f = \frac{1}{2} \tau^0 G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j + f_i^0 x_0^i + f_i^o, \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R). \text{ QED}$$

2.3.6. Definition. If $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then the vector field

$$X[f] := X[f'', f]$$

is called the *tangent lift* of $f.\square$

We stress that the tangent lift of special quadratic functions turns out to depend only on the time fibring and the spacelike metric; indeed, it does not involve Ω .

2.3.2 Classification of classical symmetries

2.3.7. Corollary. The i.s.'s

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$$

of Ω projectable on \boldsymbol{E} are the vector fields of the local type

$$X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f], \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$

where, for each X^{\uparrow} , the function f is defined up to a constant.

PROOF. It follows from Proposition 2.3.5. QED

2.3.8. Corollary. The i.s.'s

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$$

of dt and Ω projectable on E are the vector fields of the local type

 $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f], \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R),$

where, for each X^{\uparrow} , the function f is defined up to a constant. \Box

2.3.9. Corollary. Let us consider a vector field $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$.

If its holonomic prolongation $X_{(1)} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is an i.s. of Ω , then we obtain locally

$$X = X[f]$$
 and $X_{(1)} \coloneqq X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f],$

where

$$f \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$
. \Box

2.3.10. Corollary. Let us consider a vector field $X \in Pro(E, TE)$.

If its holonomic prolongation $X_{(1)} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is an i.s. of dt and Ω , then we obtain locally

$$X = X[f] \quad \text{and} \quad X_{(1)} := X_{\text{hol}}^{\dagger}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\dagger}[f],$$

where

$$f \in \operatorname{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$
. \Box

2.3.11. Definition. A symmetry of the classical structure is defined to be a vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, which is an i.s. of dt and Ω and which is projectable on \boldsymbol{E} . \Box

We denote the subalgebra of i.s.'s of the classical structure by

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Ham}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}).$$

Moreover, we set

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) := \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2.3.12. Lemma. If $X \in \text{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, then

$$L[X_{(1)}]\theta = 0,$$

where we have regarded θ as a vertical valued form

$$\vartheta: J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes (T^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{J_1 \boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V J_1 \boldsymbol{E}),$$

through the isomorphism $VJ_1 \mathbf{E} \simeq \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \mathbf{E}$.

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} L[X_{(1)}] \, \theta^0 &\coloneqq L[X_{(1)}] \left(\left(d^i - x_0^i \, d^0 \right) \otimes \partial_i^0 \right) \\ &= \left(\partial_0 X^i \, d^0 + \partial_j X^i \, d^j - \left(\partial_0 X^i + \partial_j X^i \, x_0^j - \partial_0 X^0 \, x_0^i \right) d^0 \right) \otimes \partial_i^0 - x_0^i \left(\partial_0 X^0 \, d^0 + \partial_j X^0 \, d^j \right) \otimes \partial_i^0 \\ &- \partial_i X^h \left(d^i - x_0^i \, d^0 \right) \otimes \partial_h^0 + \partial_0 X^0 \left(d^i - x_0^i \, d^0 \right) \otimes \partial_i^0 \\ &= 0 \,. \, \text{QED} \end{split}$$

2.3.13. Lemma. If $X \in \text{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, then, $L[X_{(1)}]\nu[\Gamma]$, where $\nu[\Gamma]$ is the vertical projector associated with the phase connection Γ , is a tensor of the type

$$L[X_{(1)}] \nu[\Gamma] \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} V \boldsymbol{E}).$$

We have the expression

$$L[X_{(1)}]\,\nu[\Gamma] = (L[X_{(1)}]\,\Gamma_{\mu 0}^{\ i})\,d^{\mu}\otimes\partial_{i}.\,\Box$$

2.3.14. Remark. I want to observe that we have also proved in [140], that ,for a vector field X in Time($\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}$), the following conditions are equivalent

- 1. X is a holonomic symmetry of the phase connection Γ ;
- 2. X is a holonomic symmetry of the spacetime connection K; here, holonomic denotes the natural prolongation of X to a vector field of TE;
- 3. X is a holonomic symmetry of the dynamical connection γ . holonomic symmetry of the phase connection.

2.3.15. Proposition. [140] If $X \in \text{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, then

$$L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad L[X_{(1)}] \Gamma = 0 \,, \quad L[X] G = 0. \Box$$

PROOF. 1) We have

$$L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = (L[X] G) (\nu[\Gamma] \wedge \theta) + G ((L[X] \nu[\Gamma]) \wedge \theta).$$

Hence, if $L[X_{(1)}] \Gamma = 0$ and L[X] G = 0, then $L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = 0$. 2) By Lemma 2.3.13, we have

$$L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = (L[X] G)^{0}_{ij} (d^{i}_{0} - \Gamma_{\lambda 0}^{i} d^{\lambda}) \wedge \theta^{j}) + G^{0}_{ij} ((L[X_{(1)}] \Gamma_{\mu 0}^{i}) d^{\mu} \wedge \theta^{j})$$

Hence, if $L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = 0$, then $L[X_{(1)}] \Gamma = 0$ and L[X] G = 0. QED

2.3.16. Lemma. Let $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$.

Then, we have the following implications:

1.	L[X]G = 0	\Leftrightarrow	$L[X]\bar{G}=0,$
2.	L[X] G = 0	\Rightarrow	$\operatorname{div} X = 0,$
3.	L[X] G = 0	\Rightarrow	$L[X]\rho=0,$

where \overline{G} is the contravariant spacelike metric and ρ the scalar curvature of G.

PROOF. (1) We have $0 = L[X]\mathbf{1} = G^{\sharp}(L[X]G) + G^{\flat}(L[X]\overline{G}).$ (2) We have div $X = \frac{1}{2} \langle \overline{G}, L[X]G \rangle.$

(3) It follows from the functorial construction of ρ through G. QED

2.3.17. Proposition. If $X \in \text{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ then,

$$L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \operatorname{div} X = 0.$$

PROOF. In virtue of Proposition 2.3.15, $L[X_{(1)}] \Omega = 0$ implies L[X] G = 0. QED

2.3.3 Special Lie bracket

2.3.18. Proposition. If $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then, the coordinate expression of their Poisson bracket is

$$\begin{split} \{f, g\} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_i f^0 g^0 - \partial_i g^0 f^0 \right) G_{hk}^0 x_0^i x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ \left(\partial_h f_k^0 g^0 - \partial_h g_k^0 f^0 \right) x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f^0 g_j^0 - \partial_i g^0 f_j^0 \right) \frac{1}{2} G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(f^0 g_j^0 - g^0 f_j^0 \right) \frac{1}{2} \partial_i G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0 \right) \left(G_{im}^0 f^0 g_j^0 + G_{jm}^0 g^0 f_i^0 \right) x_0^l x_0^m \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_h^0 g_j^0 - \partial_i g_h^0 f_j^0 \right) x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \Phi_{hk} \left(G_{im}^0 f^0 g_j^0 + G_{jm}^0 g^0 f_i^0 \right) x_0^m \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_g^j g^0 - \partial_i g_g^0 f_j^0 \right) G_{jh}^0 x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0 \right) f_i^0 g_j^0 x_0^l \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_g^j g_j^0 - \partial_i g_g^0 f_j^0 \right) \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_g^j g_j^0 - \partial_i g_g^0 f_j^0 \right) \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_g^j g_j^0 - \partial_i g_g^0 f_j^0 \right) \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_g^j g_j^0 - \partial_i g_g^0 f_j^0 \right) \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \Phi_{hk} f_i^0 g_j^0 . \end{split}$$

Hence, the sheaf $\text{Spec}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is not closed under the Poisson bracket. PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} \{f, g\} &= G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f^0 g^0 - \partial_i g^0 f^0\right) \frac{1}{2} G_{hk}^0 G_{jl}^0 x_0^h x_0^k x_0^l \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_h^0 g^0 - \partial_i g_h^0 f^0\right) G_{jk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f^0 g_j^0 - \partial_i g^0 f_j^0\right) \frac{1}{2} G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(f^0 g_j^0 - g^0 f_j^0\right) \frac{1}{2} \partial_i G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i f_h^0 g_j^0 - \partial_i g_h^0 f_j^0\right) x_0^h \\ &+ \left(\partial_i \overset{\circ}{f} g^0 - \partial_i \overset{\circ}{g} f^0\right) x_0^i \\ &+ G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i \overset{\circ}{f} g_j^0 - \partial_i \overset{\circ}{g} f_j^0\right) \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0\right) x_0^l + \Phi_{hk}\right) \left(G_{im}^0 f^0 g_j^0 + G_{jm}^0 g^0 f_i^0\right) x_0^m \\ &+ G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left(\left(\partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0\right) x_0^l + \Phi_{hk}\right) f_i^0 g_j^0. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, we have the following result.

2.3.19. Definition. We define the *special bracket* to be the map

Spec
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \times$$
 Spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to$ Map $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$:
 $(f, g) \mapsto [\![f,g]\!] := \{f,g\} + \gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f.\Box$

2.3.20. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$[\![f,g]\!] = [\![f,g]\!]^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 + [\![f,g]\!]^0_i x^i_0 + [\![f,g]\!]^o_i x^i_0 + [\![f,g]\!] ,$$

with

$$\begin{bmatrix} f,g \end{bmatrix}^{0} = f^{0}\partial_{0}g^{0} - g^{0}\partial_{0}f^{0} - f^{h}\partial_{h}g^{0} + g^{h}\partial_{h}f^{0} \\ \begin{bmatrix} f,g \end{bmatrix}^{0}_{i} = G^{0}_{ij}(f^{0}\partial_{0}g^{j} - g^{0}\partial_{0}f^{j} - f^{h}\partial_{h}g^{j} + g^{h}\partial_{h}f^{j}) \\ \begin{bmatrix} f,g \end{bmatrix}^{0}_{i} = f^{0}\partial_{0}\overset{o}{g} - g^{0}\partial_{0}\overset{o}{f} - f^{h}\partial_{h}\overset{o}{g} + g^{h}\partial_{h}\overset{o}{f} + (f^{0}g^{h} - g^{0}f^{h})\Phi_{h0} + f^{h}g^{k}\Phi_{hk}$$

Hence, the sheaf $\operatorname{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is closed under the special bracket. \Box

The following theorem will be proved in two different ways. For the second proof, I need following Lemma

2.3.21. Lemma. Let $f, g, h \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$. Then, we have the following coordinate expressions

1)
$$\{\gamma(f'').g,h\} = f^0\{\gamma_0.g,h\} + \gamma_0.g\{f^0,h\}$$

2) $\gamma([[f,g]]'').h - \gamma(f'').\gamma(g'').h + \gamma(g'').\gamma(f'').h$
 $= (g^h\partial_h f^0 - f^h\partial_h g^0 - f^0\partial_i g^0 x_0^i + g^0\partial_i f^0 x_0^i)\gamma_0.h\Box$

2.3.22. Theorem. [56] The sheaf $\text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ turns out to be an \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra through the special bracket.

PROOF. It is sufficient to prove the Jacobi property of the bracket. In fact, for each $f, g, h \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$, we have

$$\llbracket \llbracket f, \overset{o}{g} \rrbracket, h \rrbracket + \llbracket \llbracket h, \overset{o}{f} \rrbracket, g \rrbracket + \llbracket \llbracket g, \overset{o}{h} \rrbracket, f \rrbracket = 0.$$

Actually, we have the following coordinate expression

$$\begin{split} \left[\left[\left[f , \stackrel{o}{g} \right] \right], h \right] &= \\ &= \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{h} (f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0 - f^j \partial_j g^0 + g^j \partial_j f^0) \\ &- h^0 \partial_0 (f^0 \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} - f^h \partial_h \stackrel{o}{g} + g^h \partial_h \stackrel{o}{f} + (f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h) \Phi_{h0} + f^h g^k \Phi_{hk}) \\ &- \partial_l \stackrel{o}{h} (f^0 \partial_0 g^l - g^0 \partial_0 f^l - f^j \partial_j g^l + g^j \partial_j f^l) \\ &+ h^l \partial_l (f^0 \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} - f^h \partial_h \stackrel{o}{g} + g^h \partial_h \stackrel{o}{f} + (f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h) \Phi_{h0} + f^h g^k \Phi_{hk}) \\ &+ h^l (f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0 - f^j \partial_j g^0 + g^j \partial_j f^0) \Phi_{l0} \\ &- h^0 (f^0 \partial_0 g^l - g^0 \partial_0 f^l - f^j \partial_j g^l + g^j \partial_j f^l) \Phi_{l0} \\ &+ h^k (f^0 \partial_0 g^h - g^0 \partial_0 f^h - f^j \partial_j g^h + g^j \partial_j f^h) \Phi_{hk} \,. \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} \left[\left[\left[f , \overset{o}{g} \right] \right], h \right] &= \\ &= \partial_0 \overset{o}{h} \left(f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0 - f^j \partial_j g^0 + g^j \partial_j f^0 \right) \\ &- h^0 \left(\partial_0 f^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - \partial_0 g^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - \partial_0 f^h \partial_h \overset{o}{g} + \partial_0 g^h \partial_h \overset{o}{f} + (\partial_0 f^0 g^h - \partial_0 g^0 f^h) \Phi_{h0} + \partial_0 f^h g^k \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &- h^0 \left(f^0 \partial_0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - f^h \partial_0 \partial_h \overset{o}{g} + g^h \partial_0 \partial_h \overset{o}{f} + (f^0 \partial_0 g^h - g^0 \partial_0 f^h) \Phi_{h0} + f^h \partial_0 g^k \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &- h^0 \left((f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h) \partial_0 \Phi_{h0} + f^h g^k \partial_0 \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &- \partial_l \overset{o}{h} \left(f^0 \partial_0 g^l - g^0 \partial_0 f^l - f^j \partial_j g^l + g^j \partial_j f^l \right) \\ &+ h^l \left(\partial_l f^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_l \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - f^h \partial_l \partial_h \overset{o}{g} + g^h \partial_l \partial_h \overset{o}{f} + (\partial_l f^0 g^h - \partial_l g^0 f^h) \Phi_{h0} + f^h \partial_l g^k \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &+ h^l \left((f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h) \partial_l \Phi_{h0} + f^h g^k \partial_l \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &+ h^l \left((f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h) \partial_l \Phi_{h0} + f^h g^k \partial_l \Phi_{hk} \right) \\ &+ h^l \left((f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0 - f^j \partial_j g^0 + g^j \partial_j f^0) \Phi_{l0} \\ &- h^0 \left(f^0 \partial_0 g^l - g^0 \partial_0 f^l - f^j \partial_j g^l + g^j \partial_j f^l \right) \Phi_{l0} \\ &+ h^k \left(f^0 \partial_0 g^h - g^0 \partial_0 f^h - f^j \partial_j g^h + g^j \partial_j f^h \right) \Phi_{hk} \,. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, we obtain the following equalities (here the symbol \sum denotes the sum of three terms obtained by circular permutation of f, g, h)

$$0 = \sum (-h^0 g^h \partial_0 f^0 + h^0 f^h \partial_0 g^0 - h^h f^0 \partial_0 g^0 + h^h g^0 \partial_0 f^0) \Phi_{h0}$$

$$0 = \sum (h^0 f^0 \partial_0 g^h - h^0 g^0 \partial_0 f^h) \Phi_{h0}$$

$$0 = \sum (-h^0 g^k \partial_0 f^h - h^0 f^h \partial_0 g^k + h^k f^0 \partial_0 g^h - h^k g^0 \partial_0 f^h) \Phi_{hk}$$

$$0 = \sum (h^k f^j \partial_j g^h - h^k g^j \partial_j f^h - h^j g^k \partial_j f^h - h^j f^h \partial_j g^k) \Phi_{hk}$$

$$0 = \sum -h^0 f^h g^k \,\partial_0 \Phi_{hk} + h^l \left(f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h \right) \partial_l \Phi_{h0}$$
$$0 = \sum h^l f^h g^k \,\partial_l \Phi_{hk}$$

$$0 = \sum \left(h^l \left(\partial_l f^0 g^h - \partial_l g^0 f^h \right) + h^l \left(f^0 \partial_l g^h - g^0 \partial_l f^h \right) \right. \\ \left. + h^h \left(f^l \partial_l g^0 - g^l \partial_l f^0 \right) - h^0 \left(f^l \partial_l g^h - f^l \partial_l g^h \right) \right) \Phi_{h0}$$
$$0 = \sum h^0 \left(f^0 \partial_0 g^h - g^0 \partial_0 f^h \right) \Phi_{h0}$$

$$0 = \sum h^0 \left(f^0 g^h - g^0 f^h \right) \partial_0 \Phi_{h0}$$
$$\begin{split} 0 &= \sum \partial_0 \overset{o}{h} (f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0) - h^0 (\partial_0 f^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - \partial_0 g^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum \partial_0 \overset{o}{h} (f^j \partial_j g^0 - g^j \partial_j f^0) - h^j (\partial_j f^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - \partial_j g^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum h^0 (\partial_0 f^h \partial_h \overset{o}{g} - \partial_0 g^h \partial_h \overset{o}{f}) - \partial_h \overset{o}{h} (f^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_0 \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum h^0 (f^h \partial_{0h} \overset{o}{g} - g^h \partial_{0h} \overset{o}{f}) + h^h (f^0 \partial_{0h} \overset{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_{0h} \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum h^0 (f^0 \partial_{00} \overset{o}{g} - g^0 \partial_{00} \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum h^h (f^k \partial_{hk} \overset{o}{g} - g^k \partial_{hk} \overset{o}{f}) \\ 0 &= \sum h^h (f^k \partial_h g^h - g^k \partial_k h^h) - h^k (\partial_k f^h \partial_h \overset{o}{g} - \partial_k g^h \partial_h \overset{o}{f}) . \end{split}$$

In the following, I sketch another proof of the previous theorem.

PROOF. * The result follows by Lemma 2.2.21, Proposition 2.2.20 and the coordinate expressions of Lemma 2.3.21, QED

2.3.23. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, we have

$$\llbracket f,g \rrbracket'' = [f'',g''],$$

where the right bracket is the standard Lie bracket of the vector fields $f'', g'' \in \text{Sec}(T, TT)$.

PROOF. It follows immediately from the coordinate expression of the special bracket. QED

2.3.24. Proposition. The subsheaves

$$Quan(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset Spec(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$
$$Time(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset Quan(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$
$$Aff(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset Time(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$
$$Map(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset Aff(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$

are subsheaves of subalgebras.

Moreover, the subsheaf

$$\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

is a subsheaf of ideals.

PROOF. It follows easily from the coordinate expression of the special bracket. QED

2.3.25. Proposition. The quotient sheaf $\text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})/\text{Map}(E, \mathbb{R})$ turns out to be an \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra through the quotient special bracket.

For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) / \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\llbracket f,g \rrbracket^0 = f^0 \partial_0 g^0 - g^0 \partial_0 f^0 - f^h \partial_h g^0 + g^h \partial_h f^0$$
$$\llbracket f,g \rrbracket^0_i = G^0_{ij} (f^0 \partial_0 g^j - g^0 \partial_0 f^j - f^h \partial_h g^j + g^h \partial_h f^j) . \Box$$

We stress that the above quotient bracket turns out to depend only on the time fibring and the spacelike metric; indeed, it does not involve Ω .

2.3.4 Tangent lift of special quadratic functions

2.3.26. Proposition. [56] For each $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$X[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i \,.\,\Box$$

2.3.27. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\llbracket f,g \rrbracket'' = Tt \circ [X[f], X[g]].$$

PROOF. It follows from the coordinate expression of the special bracket. QED

2.3.28. Lemma. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\begin{bmatrix} f, g \end{bmatrix}^{0} = \left[X[f], X[g] \right]^{0}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} f, g \end{bmatrix}^{i} = \left[X[f], X[g] \right]^{i}.$$

PROOF. It follows from the coordinate expression of the special bracket. QED

2.3.29. Lemma. Let us consider an observer *o*. Then, for each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we obtain

$$[\![f, g]\!] = X[f].g - X[g].f + \frac{1}{2}i(X[g])i(X[f])\Phi[o].$$

PROOF. It follows from the coordinate expression of the special bracket. QED

2.3.30. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\left[X[f], X[g]\right] = X\left[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket\right].$$

Hence, the map

$$\operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \!\!R) \to \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X[f]$$

turns out to be a morphism of Lie algebras, with respect to the special bracket and the standard bracket, respectively. Its kernel is the ideal $\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$.

PROOF. It follows from a computation in coordinates. QED

2.3.31. Corollary. We have a natural isomorphism of Lie algebras

$$\operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) / \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R),$$

whose coordinate expression is

$$X^{0} \partial_{0} + X^{i} \partial_{i} \mapsto \left[X^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} - G^{0}_{ij} X^{j} x^{i}_{0} \right] . \square$$

We stress that this isomorphism turns out to involve only the time fibring and the spacelike metric; indeed, it does not involve Ω .

2.3.5 Further expression of the special bracket

In this section we prove a further expression of the special bracket in terms of arbitrary prolongations of the tangent lift of the special functions.

This formula will be used in the quantum theory for the study of Hermitian vector fields.

2.3.32. Lemma. If $f, \bar{f} \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 E, TJ_1 E)$ are prolongations of X[f] and $X[\bar{f}]$, then we obtain

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f &= \llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket \\ &+ (f^0 \, \bar{f}^i - \bar{f}^0 \, f^i) \left(\partial_i \frac{1}{2} \, G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_0 G^0_{ih} \, x^h_0 + \Phi_{0i} \right) \\ &- (f^i \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^i \, f^j) \left(\partial_i G^0_{jh} \, x^h_0 + \frac{1}{2} \, \Phi_{ij} \right) \\ &+ (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^0) \, G^0_{ih} \, x^h_0 + (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^j) \, G^0_{ij} \, . \end{split}$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}.g - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f &= f^{0} \partial_{0} \bar{f} - \bar{f}^{0} \partial_{0} f - (f^{i} \partial_{i} \bar{f} - \bar{f}^{i} \partial_{i} f) + X^{i}_{0} \partial_{0}^{0} \bar{f} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} \partial_{0}^{0} f \\ &= (f^{0} \partial_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{f}^{0} \partial_{0} f^{0}) \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{k}_{0} + (f^{0} \partial_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{0} \partial_{0} f^{j}) G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} + (f^{0} \partial_{0} \bar{f} - \bar{f}^{0} \partial_{0} f^{j}) \\ &- (f^{i} \partial_{i} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{f}^{i} \partial_{i} f^{0}) \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{k}_{0} - (f^{i} \partial_{i} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{i} \partial_{i} f^{j}) G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} - (f^{i} \partial_{i} \bar{f} - \bar{f}^{i} \partial_{i} f^{j}) \\ &+ (f^{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{f}^{0} f^{0}) \partial_{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} + (f^{0} \bar{f}^{i} - \bar{f}^{0} f^{i}) \partial_{0} G^{0}_{ih} x^{h}_{0} \\ &- (f^{i} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{f}^{i} f^{0}) \partial_{i} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} + (f^{i} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{i} f^{j}) \partial_{i} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} \\ &+ (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{0}) G^{0}_{0h} x^{h}_{0} + (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{j}) G^{0}_{ij} \\ \\ &= \llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket 1 = [f, \bar{f}] \lor \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} + \llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket 1 G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} + \llbracket f^{j}_{i}, \bar{f} \rrbracket 1 \\ &- (f^{0} \bar{f}^{i} - \bar{f}^{0} f^{i}) \partial_{0} G^{0}_{ih} x^{h}_{0} \\ &+ (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{0}) G^{i}_{0h} x^{h}_{0} + (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{i} f^{j}) \partial_{i} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} \\ &+ (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{0}) G^{0}_{ih} x^{h}_{0} + (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{j}) G^{0}_{ij} \\ \\ &= \llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket 1 \\ &+ (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{0}) G^{i}_{0h} x^{h}_{0} + (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{j}) G^{0}_{ij} \\ \\ &= \llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket 1 \\ &+ (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{0}) G^{i}_{0h} x^{h}_{0} + (X^{i}_{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{X}^{i}_{0} f^{j}) G^{0}_{ij} . \end{split}$$

2.3.33. Lemma. If $f, \bar{f} \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, TJ_1 \mathbb{E})$ are prolongations of X[f] and $X[\bar{f}]$, then we obtain

$$i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = -(f^0 \,\bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^0 \,f^j) \left(\frac{1}{2} \,\partial_j G^0_{hk} \,x^h_0 \,x^k_0 + \partial_0 G^0_{jh} \,x^h_0 + \Phi_{0j}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(f^j \,\bar{f}^h - \bar{f}^j \,f^h\right) \left(\Phi_{hj} + \left(\partial_h G^0_{jk} - \partial_j G^0_{hk}\right) x^k_0\right) - \left(X^i_0 \,\bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}^i_0 \,f^0\right) G^0_{ih} \,x^h_0 - \left(X^i_0 \,\bar{f}^j - \bar{X}^i_0 \,f^j\right) G^0_{ij} \,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$\Omega = G_{ij}^0 \left(d_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i d^0 - \Gamma_{h0}^i \theta^h \right) \theta^j \,,$$

hence

$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = X_0^i G_{ij}^0 \theta^j - f^0 G_{ij}^0 \gamma_{00}^i \theta^j + f^0 G_{ij}^0 \Gamma_{h0}^i x_0^h \theta^j + f^0 G_{ij}^0 (d_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i d^0 - \Gamma_{h0}^i \theta^h) x_0^j + f^h G_{ij}^0 \Gamma_{h0}^i \theta^j + G_{ij}^0 (d_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i d^0 - \Gamma_{h0}^i \theta^h) f^j ,$$

hence

$$\begin{split} i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \, i(X^{\uparrow}) \, \Omega &= -X_0^i \, G_{ij}^0 \, (\bar{f}^j + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^j) + f^0 \, G_{ij}^0 \, \gamma_{00}^i \, (\bar{f}^j + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^j) - f^0 \, G_{ij}^0 \, \Gamma_{h0}^i \, x_0^h \, (\bar{f}^j + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^j) \\ &+ f^0 \, G_{ij}^0 \, \left(\bar{X}_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i \, \bar{f}^0 + \Gamma_{h0}^i \, (\bar{f}^h + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^h) \right) x_0^j - f^h \, G_{ij}^0 \, \Gamma_{h0}^i \, (\bar{f}^j + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^j) \\ &+ G_{ij}^0 \, \left(\bar{X}_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i \, \bar{f}^0 + \Gamma_{h0}^i \, (\bar{f}^h + \bar{f}^0 \, x_0^h) \right) f^j \end{split}$$

$$= f^{0} G_{ij}^{0} \gamma_{00}^{i} \bar{f}^{j} - f^{0} G_{ij}^{0} \Gamma_{h0}^{i} x_{0}^{h} \bar{f}^{j} + f^{0} G_{ij}^{0} \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \bar{f}^{h} x_{0}^{j} - f^{h} G_{ij}^{0} \Gamma_{h0}^{i} (\bar{f}^{j} + \bar{f}^{0} x_{0}^{j}) + G_{ij}^{0} (-\gamma_{00}^{i} \bar{f}^{0} + \Gamma_{h0}^{i} (\bar{f}^{h} + \bar{f}^{0} x_{0}^{h})) f^{j} - (X_{0}^{i} \bar{f}^{0} - \bar{X}_{0}^{i} f^{0}) G_{ih}^{0} x_{0}^{h} - (X_{0}^{i} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{X}_{0}^{i} f^{j}) G_{ij}^{0} = (f^{0} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{0} f^{j}) G_{ij}^{0} (\gamma_{00}^{i} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} x_{0}^{h}) + (f^{0} \bar{f}^{h} - \bar{f}^{0} f^{h}) G_{ij}^{0} \Gamma_{h0}^{i} x_{0}^{j} - (f^{h} \bar{f}^{j} - \bar{f}^{h} f^{j}) G_{ij}^{0} \Gamma_{h0}^{i}$$

$$- (X_0^i \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}_0^i f^0) G_{ih}^0 x_0^h - (X_0^i \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}_0^i f^j) G_{ij}^0$$

$$- (X_0^i \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}_0^i f^0) G_{ih}^0 x_0^h - (X_0^i \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}_0^i f^j) G_{ij}^0$$

$$= (f^0 \bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^0 f^j) (\gamma_{0j} + (\Gamma_{jh} - \Gamma_{hj}) x_0^h) - (f^h \bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^h f^j) \Gamma_{hj} - (X_0^i \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}_0^i f^0) G_{ih}^0 x_0^h - (X_0^i \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}_0^i f^j) G_{ij}^0,$$

hence, by recalling the equalities

$$\Gamma_{hj} = \Gamma_{hj0}^{\ 0} + \Gamma_{hjk}^{\ 0} x_0^h \gamma_{0i} = \Gamma_{hik}^{\ 0} x_0^h x_0^k + 2 \Gamma_{hi0}^{\ 0} x_0^h + \Gamma_{0i0}^{\ 0} ,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \, i(X^{\uparrow}) \, \Omega &= (f^0 \, \bar{f}^h - \bar{f}^0 \, f^h) \left(\Gamma_{j \, h^0_k} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + (\Gamma_{h j^0_0} + \Gamma_{j h^0_0}) \, x^h_0) + \Gamma_{0 j^0_0} \right) \\ &+ (f^j \, \bar{f}^h - \bar{f}^j \, f^h) \left(\Gamma_{h j^0_0} + \Gamma_{h j^0_k} \, x^h_0 \right) \\ &- (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^0) \, G^0_{i h} \, x^h_0 - (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^j) \, G^0_{i j} \, , \end{split}$$

hence, by recalling the equalities

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{hjk}^{\ \ 0} &= -\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_h G^0_{jk} + \partial_k G^0_{jh} - \partial_j G^0_{hk} \right) \\ \Gamma_{hj0}^{\ \ 0} &= -\frac{1}{2} \left(\Phi_{hj} + \partial_0 G^0_{hj} \right) \\ \Gamma_{0j0}^{\ \ 0} &= -\Phi_{0j} , \end{split}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \, i(X^{\uparrow}) \, \Omega &= -(f^0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^0 \, f^j) \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \partial_j G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_0 G^0_{jh} \, x^h_0 + \Phi_{0j}\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(f^j \, \bar{f}^h - \bar{f}^j \, f^h\right) \left(\Phi_{hj} + \partial_0 G^0_{hj} + (\partial_h G^0_{jk} + \partial_k G^0_{jh} - \partial_j G^0_{hk}) \, x^h_0\right) \\ &- (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^0) \, G^0_{ih} \, x^h_0 - (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^j) \, G^0_{ij} \\ &= -(f^0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{f}^0 \, f^j) \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \partial_j G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_0 G^0_{jh} \, x^h_0 + \Phi_{0j}\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(f^j \, \bar{f}^h - \bar{f}^j \, f^h\right) \left(\Phi_{hj} + (\partial_h G^0_{jk} - \partial_j G^0_{hk}) \, x^h_0\right) \\ &- (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^0 - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^0) \, G^0_{ih} \, x^h_0 - (X^i_0 \, \bar{f}^j - \bar{X}^i_0 \, f^j) \, G^0_{ij} \, . \, \text{QED} \end{split}$$

2.3.34. Proposition. If $f, \bar{f} \in \text{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, TJ_1 \mathbb{E})$ are prolongations of X[f] and $X[\bar{f}]$, then we obtain

$$X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f + i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\,i(X^{\uparrow})\,\Omega = \llbracket f,\,\bar{f}\,\rrbracket \ .$$

In particular,

$$X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f + i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\,i(X^{\uparrow})\,\Omega \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$

depends only on f and \bar{f} and not on the prolongations X^{\uparrow} and \bar{X}^{\uparrow} of X[f] and $X[\bar{f}]$.

PROOF. It follows immediately from the two Lemmas above. QED

2.3.6 Hamiltonian lift of special quadratic functions

We denote the sheaves of Hamiltonian lifts of the subalgebras

Aff $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \text{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \text{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R})$ respectively by

$$\operatorname{Aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Ham}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{Ham}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}).$$

2.3.35. Proposition. [56] For each $f \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$, we have the coordinate expression

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i + X_0^i \,\partial_i^0 \,,$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} X_{0}^{i} &= G_{0}^{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + (\partial_{j} f_{h}^{0} + f^{k} \left(\partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{kh}^{0} \right) - f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{j} \overset{o}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^{h} + f^{0} \Phi_{j0} \right) . \square \end{aligned}$$

2.3.36. Corollary. For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i + X_0^i \,\partial_i^0 \,,$$

with

$$X_{0}^{i} = G_{0}^{ij} \left(\left(\partial_{j} f_{h}^{0} + f^{k} \left(\partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{kh}^{0} \right) - f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{j} f^{h} + \phi_{hj} f^{h} + f^{0} \Phi_{j0} \right) . \Box$$

2.3.37. Corollary. For each $f \in Aff(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

$$X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = -f^i \,\partial_i + X_0^i \,\partial_i^0 \,,$$

with

$$X_0^i = G_0^{ij} \left(\left(\partial_j f_h^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{kh}^0 \right) \right) x_0^h + \partial_j f^h + \Phi_{hj} f^h \right). \square$$

2.3.38. Corollary. For each $f \in Map(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$, we have the coordinate expression

 $X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = G_0^{ij} \,\partial_j f \,\partial_i^0 \,.\,\Box$

2.3.39. Lemma. For each $f'', g'' \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, we have

$$[\gamma(f''),\,\gamma(g'')]=\gamma(f'')\,\gamma.g''-\gamma(g'')\,\gamma.f''\,.\,\Box$$

2.3.40. Lemma. For each $f'' \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, we have

$$L[\gamma(f'')]\Lambda = -\gamma \wedge \left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'')\right).$$

PROOF. For each $X, Y \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} L[\gamma(f'')]\left(X \wedge Y\right) &= \left(L[\gamma(f'')]X\right) \wedge Y + X \wedge \left(L[\gamma(f'')]Y\right) \\ &= f''\left(\left(L[\gamma]X\right) \wedge Y + X \wedge \left(L[\gamma]Y\right)\right) - X.f''\gamma \wedge Y - Y.f''X \wedge \gamma \\ &= f''L[\gamma]\left(X \wedge Y\right) - \gamma \wedge \left(X \wedge Y\right)^{\sharp}(df'')\,. \end{split}$$

Hence, we obtain the result by recalling the equality $L[\gamma] \Lambda = 0.$ QED

2.3.41. Lemma. For each $f'' \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ and $g \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\left[\gamma(f''),\,\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)\right] = \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'' \wedge dg)\right) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g) - (\gamma.g)(df'')\right).$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} \left[\gamma(f''),\,\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)\right] &= \left(L[\gamma(f'')]\,\Lambda\right)^{\sharp}(dg) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(L[\gamma(f'')]\,dg\right) \\ &= -\left(\gamma \wedge \left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'')\right)\right)^{\sharp}(dg) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g)\right) \\ &= -\gamma.g\,\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'') + \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'' \wedge dg)\right) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g)\right) \\ &= \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'' \wedge dg)\right) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g) - (\gamma.g)(df'')\right). \end{split}$$

2.3.42. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}[f], \, X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}[g] \right] &= \gamma \Big(f'' \, \gamma.g'' - g'' \, \gamma.f'' + \{g'', f\} - \{f'', g\} \Big) \\ &+ \Big[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \, \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \Big] \\ &+ \Lambda^{\sharp} \Big(d(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f) \Big) + \Lambda^{\sharp} \Big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \Big) \end{split}$$

•

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} \left[X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g] \right] &= \left[\gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \gamma(g'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \right] \\ &= \left[\gamma(f''), \gamma(g'') \right] + \left[\gamma(f''), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \right] - \left[\gamma(g''), \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \right] + \left[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \right] \\ &= \gamma\left(f'' \gamma.g'' - g'' \gamma.f'' \right) \\ &+ \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(df'' \wedge dg) \right) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g) - (\gamma.g)(df'') \right) \\ &- \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg'' \wedge df) \right) - \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(g'').f) - (\gamma.f)(dg'') \right) \\ &+ \left[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \right] \\ &= \gamma(f'' \gamma.g'' - g'' \gamma.f'') + \gamma\left(\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg'' \wedge df - df'' \wedge dg) \right) \\ &+ \left[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) \right] \\ &+ \Lambda^{\sharp}\left(d(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f) \right) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\left((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \right). \end{split}$$

2.3.43. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow} \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right] = \gamma \left(\left[\left[f, g \right] \right]'' \right) + \left[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \right] + \Lambda^{\sharp} \left(d(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f) \right) \right)$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{aligned} X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}\big[\,[\![f,g]\!]\,] &= \gamma\big(\,[\![f,g]\!]\,''\big) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\big(d\,[\![f,g]\!]\,\big) \\ &= \gamma\big(\,[\![f,g]\!]\,''\big) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\big(d\{f,g\}\big) + \Lambda^{\sharp}\big(d(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f)\big) \\ &= \gamma\big(\,[\![f,g]\!]\,''\big) + [\Lambda^{\sharp}(df),\Lambda^{\sharp}(df)] + \Lambda^{\sharp}\big(d(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f)\big) \,. \text{QED} \end{aligned}$$

2.3.44. Theorem. For each $f, g \in \text{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow} \big[\, \left[\!\left[f, g \,\right]\!\right] - \big[X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \, X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g] \big] \\ &= \gamma \big(\, \left[\!\left[f, g \,\right]\!\right]'' - f'' \, \gamma.g'' + g'' \, \gamma.f'' - \{g'', f\} + \{f'', g\} \big) - \Lambda^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \square \, \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.f)(dg'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.f)(dg'') \big) \, . \Box \, A^{\sharp} \big((\gamma.f)(dg'') - ($$

2.3.45. Corollary. The sheaf $\text{Spec}(J_1 E, T J_1 E)$ is not closed under the Lie bracket.

_

PROOF. In fact, in general, $f'' \gamma g'' - g'' \gamma f'' + \{g'', f\} - \{f'', g\} \notin \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$, hence it is not the time component of a special quadratic function. QED

2.3.46. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to cartesian coordinates.

Let us consider the two special quadratic functions

$$f = f^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0$$
 and $g^0 = g^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{hk} x^h_0 x^k_0$.

Then, we obtain

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}_{\text{Ham}}[f] &= f^0 \,\partial_0 + \partial_j f^0 \,G_0^{ij} \,\frac{1}{2} \,G_{hk}^0 \,x_0^h \,x_0^k \,\partial_i^0 \\ X^{\uparrow}_{\text{Ham}}[g] &= g^0 \,\partial_0 + \partial_l g^0 \,G_0^{hl} \,\frac{1}{2} \,G_{rs}^0 \,x_0^r \,x_0^s \,\partial_i^0 \,, \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} \left[X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \ X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g] \right] &= (g^0 \,\partial_0 f^0 - f^0 \,\partial_0 g^0) \,\partial_0 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_k g^0 \,\partial_j f^0 - \partial_k f^0 \,\partial_j g^0) \,G_0^{ij} \,G_{rs}^0 \,x_0^k \,x_0^r \,x_0^s \right) \partial_i^0 \,. \end{split}$$

Indeed, the above vector field is not the Hamiltonian lift of a special quadratic function, because the vertical component is a polynomial of degree $3. \square$

2.3.47. Corollary. The map

$$\operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Ham}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f]$$

is not a morphism of Lie algebras, with respect to the special bracket and to the Lie bracket, respectively. \Box

2.3.48. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to cartesian coordinates.

Let us consider the two special quadratic functions

$$f = f^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0}, \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_{0} f^{0} = 0,$$

$$g = g^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0}, \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_{h} g^{0} = 0.$$

Then, we obtain

$$X^{\uparrow}[f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} + G^{hk}_{0} \partial_{k} f^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} \partial^{0}_{h}, \qquad X^{\uparrow}[g] = g^{0} \partial_{0}$$

and

$$[X^{\uparrow}[f], X^{\uparrow}[g]] = f^0 \partial_0 g^0 \partial_0.$$

On the other hand, we obtain

$$\llbracket f, g \rrbracket = f^0 \,\partial_0 g^0 \,\frac{1}{2} \,G^0_{ij} \,x^i_0 \,x^j_0$$

and

$$X^{\uparrow}[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket] = f^{0} \partial_{0} g^{0} \partial_{0} + G_{0}^{hk} \partial_{k} (f^{0} \partial_{0} g^{0}) \frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{j} \partial_{h}^{0}.$$

Hence,

$$[X^{\uparrow}[f], X^{\uparrow}[g]] \neq X^{\uparrow}[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket] . \square$$

On the other hand, we have the following result. 2.3 40 Th **rem** For each $f \in O_{\text{upp}}(I \mathbf{F} D)$ un h

.3.49. Theorem. For each
$$f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$$
. we have

$$[X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \, X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g]] = X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\llbracket f, \, g \, \rrbracket] \, .$$

Hence, the sheaf $\operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{R}) \to \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}): f \mapsto X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$$

is a morphism of Lie algebras, with respect to the special bracket and to the Lie bracket, respectively. Its kernel is

$$\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R).$$

PROOF. The formula of Theorem 2.3.44

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}\left[\left[\!\left[f,g\right]\!\right]\right] - \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}[f], X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}[g]\right] \\ = \gamma\left(\left[\!\left[f,g\right]\!\right]'' - f''\gamma.g'' + g''\gamma.f'' - \{g'',f\} + \{f'',g\}\right) - \Lambda^{\sharp}\left((\gamma.f)(dg'') - (\gamma.g)(df'')\right) \end{split}$$

reduces to

$$X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow}\big[\,\big[\,f,g\,\big]\,\big] - \big[X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f],\,X_{\mathrm{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g]\big] = 0$$

because

$$[\![f,g]\!]'' = f'' \gamma g'' + g'' \gamma f'', \qquad \{g'',f\} = 0 = \{f'',g\}$$

and

$$\Lambda^{\sharp}(dg'') = 0 = \Lambda^{\sharp}(df'')$$
. QED

2.4 Subalgebras of the algebra of special quadratic functions

We classify the projectable vector fields of phase space which are distinguished by the classical structure. It turns out that those v.fs which preserve the full classical structure are locally generated by a special subalgebra, called the classical generators, which is also a Poisson subalgebra.

2.4.1 Subalgebra of constants of motion

Further, we consider the subalgebra of special quadratic functions which are also constants of motion.

Let us consider the subsheaf

$$\operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2.4.1. Proposition. The sheaf $Con(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Spec(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is closed with respect to the special bracket.

PROOF. If $f, g \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, then we obtain

$$\gamma.\,[\![\,f,g\,]\!]\,=\gamma.\{f,g\}=\{\gamma.f,g\}+\{f,\gamma.g\}=0\,.\,\mathrm{QED}$$

2.4.2. Proposition. The sheaf $Con(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Spec(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the special quadratic functions such that

$$\partial_{j}f^{0}G^{0}_{hk} + \partial_{k}f^{0}G^{0}_{jh} + \partial_{h}f^{0}G^{0}_{kj} = 0$$

$$\partial_{0}f^{0}G^{0}_{hk} - f^{0}\partial_{0}G^{0}_{hk} + \partial_{k}f^{0}_{h} + \partial_{h}f^{0}_{k} - f^{j}(\partial_{h}G^{0}_{jk} + \partial_{k}G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{j}G^{0}_{hk}) = 0$$

$$\partial_{0}f^{0}_{i} + \partial_{i}\overset{o}{f} - f^{0}\Phi_{0i} - f^{j}(\partial_{0}G^{0}_{ij} + \Phi_{ij}) = 0$$

$$\partial_{0}\overset{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i}f^{i} = 0.$$

PROOF. Taking into account the coordinate expressions

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_0 &= \partial_0 + x_0^i \,\partial_i - \,G_0^{il} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_h G_{lk}^0 + \partial_k G_{lh}^0 - \partial_l G_{hk}^0 \right) x_0^h \, x_0^k + \left(\partial_0 G_{hl}^0 + \Phi_{hl} \right) x_0^h + \Phi_{0l} \right) \partial_i^0 \,, \\ f &= \frac{1}{2} \, f^0 \, G_{hk}^0 \, x_0^h \, x_0^k + f_h^0 \, x_0^h + \stackrel{o}{f} \,, \end{aligned}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{0} \cdot f &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{j} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} + f^{0} \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} - f^{0} \left(\partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} + \partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) \right) x_{0}^{j} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{0} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} + f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{hk}^{0} - 2 f^{0} \left(\partial_{0} G_{hk}^{0} + \Phi_{hk} \right) + 2 \partial_{k} f_{h}^{0} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} + \partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\partial_{0} f_{h}^{0} + \partial_{h} \overset{o}{f} - f^{0} \Phi_{0h} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{0} G_{hj}^{0} + \Phi_{hj} \right) \right) x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{0} \overset{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i} f^{i} \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{0} \cdot f &= \frac{1}{6} \left(\partial_{j} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} + \partial_{k} f^{0} G_{jh}^{0} + \partial_{h} f^{0} G_{kj}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{j} x_{0}^{j} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{0} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} - f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{hk}^{0} + \partial_{k} f_{h}^{0} + \partial_{h} f_{k}^{0} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} + \partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\partial_{0} f_{h}^{0} + \partial_{h} \overset{o}{f} - f^{0} \Phi_{0h} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{0} G_{hj}^{0} + \Phi_{hj} \right) \right) x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{0} \overset{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i} f^{i} \cdot \text{QED} \end{split}$$

2.4.3. Corollary. The sheaf $Con(J_1E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Quan(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{hk} - f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_k f^0_h + \partial_h f^0_k - f^j (\partial_h G^0_{jk} + \partial_k G^0_{jh} - \partial_j G^0_{hk}) = 0$$

$$\partial_0 f^0_i + \partial_i \overset{o}{f} - f^0 \Phi_{0i} - f^j (\partial_0 G^0_{ij} + \Phi_{ij}) = 0$$

$$\partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i} f^i = 0. \Box$$

2.4.4. Corollary. The sheaf $Con(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Tim(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions, with constant time component, such that

$$-f^{0} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hk} + \partial_{k} f^{0}_{h} + \partial_{h} f^{0}_{k} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{h} G^{0}_{jk} + \partial_{k} G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} \right) = 0$$

$$\partial_{0} f^{0}_{i} + \partial_{i} \overset{o}{f} - f^{0} \Phi_{0i} - f^{j} \left(\partial_{0} G^{0}_{ij} + \Phi_{ij} \right) = 0$$

$$\partial_{0} \overset{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i} f^{i} = 0 . \Box$$

2.4.5. Corollary. The sheaf $Con(J_1E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Aff(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the affine functions such that

$$\partial_k f_h^0 + \partial_h f_k^0 - f^j \left(\partial_h G_{jk}^0 + \partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{hk}^0\right) = 0$$

$$\partial_0 f_i^0 + \partial_i \stackrel{o}{f} - f^j \left(\partial_0 G_{ij}^0 + \Phi_{ij}\right) = 0$$

$$\partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} - \Phi_{0i} f^i = 0 . \Box$$

2.4.6. Corollary. The sheaf $Con(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Map(E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the spacetime functions such that

 $\partial_{\lambda} f = 0$.

Thus,

$$\operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) = \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R \,.\,\Box$$

The systems of first order linear partial differential equations in the above Proposition and Corollaries would deserve an analysis which is beyond the scope of the present paper. The above sheaves might reduce to $I\!R$, unless strong conditions are imposed to spacetime. Here, we just show non constant examples of special quadratic functions which are also constant of motion in the simplest case of spacetime.

2.4.7. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to an inertial observer o and to an adapted cartesian chart.

Then, the sheaf $\operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is constituted by the special quadratic functions such that

$$\partial_h f^0 = 0$$

$$\partial_1 f_1^0 = \dots = \partial_n f_n^0 = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_0 f^0, \qquad \partial_i f_j^0 + \partial_j f_i^0 = 0, \quad i \neq j$$

$$\partial_i \stackrel{o}{f} = -\partial_0 f_i^0, \qquad \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} = 0.$$

In particular, we obtain

$$\operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}).$$

For instance,

$$\mathcal{K}_0, \ \mathcal{Q}_i, \ \epsilon_{i_1 i_2 \dots i_n} x^{i_1} \mathcal{Q}_0^{i_2} \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \!\!R).$$

PROOF. Con $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \cap \text{Spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is constituted by the special quadratic functions such that

$$\partial_j f^0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_k f^0 G^0_{jh} + \partial_h f^0 G^0_{kj} = 0$$

$$\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_k f^0_h + \partial_h f^0_k = 0$$

$$\partial_0 f^0_h + \partial_h \stackrel{o}{f} = 0$$

$$\partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} = 0. \text{ QED}$$

2.4.2 Holonomic subalgebra

We can compare the holonomic and Hamiltonian lifts of a quantisable function. The quantisable functions whose holonomic and Hamiltonian lifts coincide constitute a subalgebra.

2.4.8. Definition. The holonomic lift of a quantisable function $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is defined to be the holonomic prolongation of the tangent lift of f

$$X_{\mathrm{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] := (X[f])_{(1)} \, . \, \Box$$

2.4.9. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, we have the coordinate expression

$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i - (\partial_0 f^i + \partial_j f^i \,x_0^j + \partial_0 f^0 \,x_0^i) \,\partial_i^0 \,. \square$$

2.4.10. Theorem. If $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we obtain

$$\left[X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f], \, X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[g]\right] = X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}\left[\,\llbracket f, g\,\rrbracket\,\right].$$

Hence, the map

Quan
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \!\!R) \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]$$

is a morphism of Lie algebras. Its kernel is $Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$.

PROOF. If $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then, in virtue of Proposition 1.6.3 and Proposition 2.3.30, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f], \, X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[g] \right] &:= \left[(X[f])_{(1)}, \, (X[g])_{(1)} \right] = \left(\left[X[f], X[g] \right] \right)_{(1)} = \left(X \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right] \right)_{(1)} \\ &:= X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right] . \, \text{QED} \end{split}$$

2.4.11. Definition. A quantisable function f is said to be *holonomic* if

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f] \,.\, \Box$$

We denote the sheaf of holonomic functions by

$$\operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2.4.12. Proposition. The sheaf $Hol(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is closed with respect to the special bracket.

PROOF. If $f, g \in \text{Hol}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, then, in virtue of Proposition 1.6.3, Proposition 2.3.30 and Theorem 2.3.49, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow} \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right] &= \left[X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[g] \right] \\ &= \left[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f], X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[g] \right] \coloneqq \left[(X[f])_{(1)}, (X[g])_{(1)} \right] \\ &= \left(\left[X[f], X[g] \right] \right)_{(1)} \\ &= \left(X \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right]_{(1)} \coloneqq X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \left[\left[\left[f, g \right] \right] \right]. \text{QED} \end{aligned}$$

2.4.13. Proposition. The sheaf $Hol(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_0 f^0 &= -\partial_i f^i - G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j f_i^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{ij}^0 - \partial_j G_{ik}^0 \right) - f^0 \partial_0 G_{ij}^0 \right), & \text{no sum on } i \\ 0 &= -\partial_j f^i - G_0^{ih} \left(\partial_h f_j^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_h G_{jk}^0 \right) - f^0 \partial_0 G_{jh}^0 \right), & i \neq j \\ \partial_0 f^i &= -G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^h + f^0 \Phi_{j0} \right). \end{aligned}$$

PROOF. The equality

$$\begin{aligned} G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j f_h^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{kh}^0 \right) - f^0 \partial_0 G_{jh}^0 \right) x_0^h + \partial_j \overset{\circ}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^h + f^0 \Phi_{j0} \right) &= \\ &= -(\partial_0 f^i + \partial_j f^i x_0^j + \partial_0 f^0 x_0^i) \end{aligned}$$

is equivalent to the system

$$G_{0}^{ij} \left(\partial_{j} f_{h}^{0} + f^{k} \left(\partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{kh}^{0} \right) - f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} = -(\partial_{h} f^{i} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x_{0}^{i})$$
$$\partial_{0} f^{i} = -G_{0}^{ij} \left(\partial_{j} \overset{\circ}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^{h} + f^{0} \Phi_{j0} \right). \text{ QED}$$

2.4.14. Corollary. The sheaf $\operatorname{Hol}(J_1E, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the special quadratic functions, with constant time component, such that

$$0 = -\partial_i f^i - G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j f_i^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{ij}^0 - \partial_j G_{ik}^0 \right) - f^0 \partial_0 G_{ij}^0 \right), \quad \text{no sum on } i$$

$$0 = -\partial_j f^i - G_0^{ih} \left(\partial_h f_j^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_h G_{jk}^0 \right) - f^0 \partial_0 G_{jh}^0 \right), \quad i \neq j$$

$$\partial_0 f^i = -G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j f^0 + \Phi_{hj} f^h + f^0 \Phi_{j0} \right). \square$$

2.4.15. Corollary. The sheaf $\operatorname{Hol}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Aff}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the affine functions such that

$$0 = -\partial_i f^i - G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j f_i^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{ij}^0 - \partial_j G_{ik}^0 \right) \right), \quad \text{no sum on } i$$

$$0 = -\partial_j f^i - G_0^{ih} \left(\partial_h f_j^0 + f^k \left(\partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_h G_{jk}^0 \right) \right), \quad i \neq j$$

$$\partial_0 f^i = -G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + \Phi_{hj} f^h \right). \square$$

2.4.16. Corollary. We have

$$\operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \cap \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) = \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \boldsymbol{R}) . \Box$$

The systems of first order linear partial differential equations in the above Proposition would deserve an analysis which is beyond the scope of the present paper. The above sheaves might reduce to $I\!\!R$, unless strong conditions are imposed to spacetime. Here, we just show non constant examples of special quadratic functions which are also constant of motion in the simplest case of spacetime.

2.4.17. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to a cartesian chart.

Then, $f \in \operatorname{Hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ if and only if

$$\partial_{\lambda} f^0 = -2 \,\partial_1 f_1^0 = \dots = -2 \,\partial_n f_n^0, \qquad \partial_j f_i^0 = -\partial_i f_j^0, \qquad \partial_0 f_i^0 = -\partial_i \mathring{f}_j^0,$$

2.4.3 Self-holonomic subalgebra

2.4.18. Definition. A function $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is said to be *self-holonomic* if

$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f])\Omega = df$$
. \Box

The subsheaf of self–holonomic functions is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2.4.19. Lemma. If $f \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we have

$$\gamma f = 0,$$

hence

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

PROOF. We have

$$\gamma f = i(\gamma) df = i(\gamma) i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = -i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$$
. QED

2.4.20. Lemma. If $f \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we have

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f] \,,$$

hence

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$

PROOF. The equality

$$i(X_{\mathrm{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$$

yields

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{Ham}}[f] &\coloneqq \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \\ &= \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(\Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f])) \\ &= \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f] - \gamma(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f]) \\ &= \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f] - \gamma(X[f]) \\ &= \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f] - \gamma(f'') \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f] \cdot \mathrm{QED} \end{split}$$

2.4.21. Proposition. For each $f, g \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$, we obtain

$$\Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}\big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket]\big) = d\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \ .$$

Hence, the sheaf $\operatorname{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is closed with respect to the special bracket.

PROOF. If $f, g \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$, then, by recalling that $\text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}) \subset \text{Hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\sharp} \big(\Omega^{\flat}(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big]) \big) &= X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big]) \\ &= X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma(X \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big]) \\ &= X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma(\llbracket f,g \rrbracket'') \\ &= X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow} \big[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma(\llbracket f,g \rrbracket'') \\ &= \Lambda^{\sharp} \big(d \llbracket f,g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma(\llbracket f,g \rrbracket'') \end{split}$$

and, by recalling that $\operatorname{Self}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{Con}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we obtain

$$i(\gamma) \, \Omega^{\flat}(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket]) = 0$$

and

$$\begin{split} i(\gamma) \, d\, [\![\, f, g\,]\!] &= i(\gamma) \, d\big(\{f, g\} + \gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f\big) \\ &= \{\gamma.f, g\} + \{f, \gamma.g\} + i(\gamma) \, d\big(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f\big) = 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\Omega^{\flat}(X_{\mathrm{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket]) = d\llbracket f,g \rrbracket . \square$$

Now, we state the conditions aimed at classifying the fine functions. 2.4.22. Lemma. If $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then we obtain

$$\begin{split} i \Big(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] \Big) \, \Omega &= \Big(f^0 \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \partial_i G_{hk}^0 \, x_0^h \, x_0^h \, x_0^h + \partial_0 G_{hk}^0 \, x_0^h \, x_0^h + \Phi_{0i} \, x_0^i \right) \\ &+ f^j \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \left(\partial_h G_{jk}^0 + \partial_k G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{hk}^0 \right) \, x_0^h \, x_0^h + \left(\partial_0 G_{hj}^0 + \Phi_{hj} \right) \, x_0^h + \Phi_{0j} \right) \Big) \, d^0 \\ &+ \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} \, f^0 \, \partial_i G_{hk}^0 \, x_0^h \, x_0^h \right) \\ &+ \left(f^0 \, \partial_0 G_{hi}^0 + f^j \left(\partial_i G_{jh}^0 - \partial_j G_{ih}^0 \right) - G_{ih}^0 \, \partial_0 f^0 - G_{ij}^0 \, \partial_h f^j \right) \, x_0^h \\ &+ f^j \, \Phi_{ij} - G_{ij}^0 \, \partial_0 f^j + f^0 \, \Phi_{0i} \Big) \, \theta^i \\ &+ G_{ij}^0 \left(f^0 \, x_0^j + f^j \right) \, d_0^i \, . \end{split}$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} i \left(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] \right) \Omega &= G_{ij}^{0} \left(f^{0} \left(-\gamma_{00}^{i} \theta^{j} + \Gamma_{h0}^{i} x_{0}^{h} \right) \theta^{j} + f^{0} x_{0}^{j} (d_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} d^{0} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \theta^{h} \right) \\ &+ f^{h} \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \theta^{j} + f^{j} \left(d_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} d^{0} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \theta^{h} \right) \\ &- \left(\partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{j} f^{i} x_{0}^{j} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x_{0}^{i} \right) \right) \\ &= -\gamma_{0i} \left(f^{0} x_{0}^{i} + f^{i} \right) d^{0} \\ &+ \left(\left(\Gamma_{ji} - \Gamma_{ij} \right) \left(f^{0} x_{0}^{j} + f^{j} \right) - G_{ij}^{0} \left(\partial_{0} + x_{0}^{h} \partial_{h} \right) \left(f^{0} x_{0}^{j} + f^{j} \right) - f^{0} \gamma_{0i} \right) \theta^{i} \\ &+ G_{ij}^{0} \left(f^{0} x_{0}^{j} + f^{j} \right) d_{0}^{i} . \text{ QED} \end{split}$$

2.4.23. Lemma. If $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$, then we obtain

$$\begin{split} df = \\ &= \left(f^0 \frac{1}{2} \partial_i G^0_{hk} \, x^i_0 \, x^h_0 \, x^k_0 + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{hk} + f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_h f^0_k + \partial_k f^0_h \right) x^h_0 \, x^h_0 \\ &\quad + \left(\partial_0 f^0_h + \partial_h f^0 \right) x^h_0 + \partial_0 f^0_0 \right) d^0 \\ &\quad + \left(f^0 \frac{1}{2} \partial_i G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_i f^0_h \, x^h_0 + \partial_i f^0_1 \right) \theta^i \\ &\quad + G^0_{ih} \left(f^0 \, x^h_0 + f^h \right) d^i_0 \, . \, \Box \end{split}$$

2.4.24. Proposition. The sheaf $Self(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$f^{0} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hk} - \partial_{0} f^{0} G^{0}_{hk} - f^{i} \partial_{i} G^{0}_{hk} - G^{0}_{ih} \partial_{k} f^{i} - G^{0}_{ik} \partial_{h} f^{i} = 0$$

$$\partial_{0} \overset{o}{f} - f^{i} \Phi_{0i} = 0$$

$$\partial_{j} \overset{o}{f} + G^{0}_{ij} \partial_{0} f^{i} - f^{0} \Phi_{0j} + f^{i} \Phi_{ij} = 0.$$

PROOF. The above equality is fulfilled if and only if

$$\left(f^0 \,\partial_0 G^0_{hk} + f^j \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_h G^0_{jk} + \partial_k G^0_{jh} - \partial_j G^0_{hk} \right) \right) x^h_0 x^k_0 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{hk} + f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_h f^0_k + \partial_k f^0_h \right) x^h_0 x^k_0 x^h_0 x^h_0$$

i.e. if and only if

$$\begin{split} \partial_0 f^0 \, G^0_{hk} - f^0 \, \partial_0 G^0_{hk} + f^j \, \partial_j G^0_{hk} + G^0_{ki} \, \partial_h f^j + G^0_{hi} \, \partial_k f^j &= 0 \\ \partial_j \overset{o}{f} - f^0 \, \Phi_{0j} + f^h \, \Phi_{hj} + G^0_{jh} \, \partial_0 f^h &= 0 \\ f^i \, \Phi_{0i} - \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} &= 0 \\ (f^0 \, \partial_0 G^0_{hi} + f^j \, (\partial_i G^0_{jh} - \partial_j G^0_{ih}) - G^0_{ih} \, \partial_0 f^0 - G^0_{ij} \, \partial_h f^j) \, x^h_0 &= \partial_i f^0_h \, x^h \\ f^j \, \Phi_{ij} - G^0_{ij} \, \partial_0 f^j + f^0 \, \Phi_{0i} &= \partial_i \overset{o}{f} . \end{split}$$

On the other hand, in the above system, the 4-th equation is consequence of the 1-st equation and the 5-th equation is a consequence of the 2-nd equation. QED

The above result can be re–expressed in the following way through the tangent lift of the quantisable function.

2.4.25. Proposition. The sheaf $Self(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$\partial_{\mu}G^{0}_{hk} X[f]^{\mu} + G^{0}_{ih} \partial_{k} (X[f]^{i}) + G^{0}_{ik} \partial_{h} (X[f]^{i}) = \partial_{0}X[f]^{0} G^{0}_{hk}$$
$$\partial_{0}\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^{i} \Phi_{0i} = 0$$
$$\partial_{j}\overset{o}{f} - G^{0}_{ij} \partial_{0} (X[f]^{i}) = X[f]^{\mu} \Phi_{\mu j} ,$$

i.e. , such that

$$\begin{split} \partial_0 G^0_{hk} \, f^0 - \partial_i G^0_{hk} \, f^i - G^0_{ih} \, \partial_k f^i - G^0_{ik} \, \partial_h f^i &= \partial_0 f^0 \, G^0_{hk} \\ \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - f^i \, \Phi_{0i} &= 0 \\ \partial_j \overset{o}{f} + G^0_{ij} \partial_0 f^i &= f^0 \, \Phi_{0j} - f^i \, \Phi_{ij} \, . \end{split}$$

2.4.26. Remark. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$. Then, the equality

$$\partial_{\mu}G^{0}_{hk}X[f]^{\mu} + G^{0}_{ih}\partial_{k}(X[f]^{i}) + G^{0}_{ik}\partial_{h}(X[f]^{i}) = \partial_{0}f^{0}G^{0}_{hk}$$

is the coordinate expression of

$$L[X[f]]G = df''G . \square$$

2.4.27. Corollary. The sheaf $Self(J_1E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Time(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$f^{i} \partial_{i} G^{0}_{hk} + G^{0}_{ih} \partial_{k} f^{i} + G^{0}_{ik} \partial_{h} f^{i} - f^{0} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hk} = 0$$

$$\partial_{0} \overset{o}{f} - f^{i} \Phi_{0i} = 0$$

$$\partial_{j} \overset{o}{f} + G^{0}_{ij} \partial_{0} f^{i} - f^{0} \Phi_{0j} + f^{i} \Phi_{ij} = 0$$

2.4.28. Corollary. The sheaf $Self(J_1E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Aff(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$\begin{aligned} f^i \partial_i G^0_{hk} + G^0_{ih} \partial_k f^i + G^0_{ik} \partial_h f^i &= 0\\ \partial_0 \overset{o}{f} - f^i \Phi_{0i} &= 0\\ \partial_j \overset{o}{f} + G^0_{ij} \partial_0 f^i + f^i \Phi_{ij} &= 0 \,. \end{aligned}$$

2.4.29. Corollary. We have

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) = I\!\!R \, . \, \Box$$

2.4.30. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to an inertial observer o and to an adapted cartesian chart.

Then, the sheaf $\operatorname{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$\partial_0 f^0 = -2 \,\partial_1 f^1 = \dots = -2 \,\partial_n f^n$$
$$\partial_i f_j^0 + \partial_j f_i^0 = 0$$
$$\partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} = 0$$
$$\partial_i \stackrel{o}{f} = -\partial_0 f_i^0.$$

For instance,

$$\mathcal{K}_0, \ \mathcal{Q}_i, \ \epsilon_{i_1 i_2 \dots i_n} \ x^{i_1} \ \mathcal{Q}_0^{i_2} \in \operatorname{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \ \boldsymbol{I} \! R) . \square$$

2.4.31. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) $L[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]]\Omega = 0 \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R});$

2)
$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R});$$

D. Saller

3)
$$i \left[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] \right] \Omega = df$$

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). If $L[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]] \Omega = 0$, then

$$di(X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f])\,\Omega=0\,,$$

hence, locally,

$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = dg$$
, with $g \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, IR)$,

hence, in virtue of Proposition 2.2.3,

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) := X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f'',g].$$

Moreover, being $X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]$ projectable on \boldsymbol{E} , in virtue of Theorem 2.3.5,

$$g \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$$
 and $g'' = f''$.

Hence, we obtain

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[g] \,,$$

which yields

$$X[f] = X[g]$$

hence

$$f = g + h$$
, with $h \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$

On the other hand, $f, g \in \text{Con}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ implies $h \in \text{Map}(\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{Con}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, we obtain

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f]$$

in the domain of definition of g. But, if the above equality holds locally, then it holds in the domain of definition of f.

2) \Rightarrow 3). If $f \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then, in virtue of Proposition 2.2.3, we obtain

$$i(X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = i(\gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)) \Omega = df.$$

Hence, $X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$ implies

$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df.$$

3) \Rightarrow 1). If $i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$, then

$$L(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = di(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = 0. \text{ QED}$$

62

63

2.4.32. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1)
$$L[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]]\Omega = 0 \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R});$$

2)
$$X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R});$$

3)
$$i[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]]\Omega = df$$

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). If $L[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]] \Omega = 0$, then

$$di(X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f])\,\Omega=0\,,$$

hence, locally,

 $i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = dg, \quad \text{with} \quad g \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, I\!\!R),$

hence, in virtue of Proposition 2.2.3,

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) := X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f'',g] \,.$$

Moreover, being $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]$ projectable on E, in virtue of Theorem 2.3.5,

$$g \in \operatorname{Spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$$
 and $g'' = f''$.

Hence, we obtain

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[g] \,,$$

which yields

$$X[f] = X[g],$$

hence

$$f = g + h$$
, with $h \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$

On the other hand, $f, g \in \text{Con}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ implies $h \in \text{Map}(\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{Con}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, we obtain

$$X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\rm Ham}^{\uparrow}[f]$$

in the domain of definition of g. But, if the above equality holds locally, then it holds in the domain of definition of f.

2) \Rightarrow 3). If $f \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, then, in virtue of Proposition 2.2.3, we obtain

$$i(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f]) \Omega = i(\gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)) \Omega = df.$$

Hence, $X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$ implies

$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$$

3) \Rightarrow 1). If $i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$, then

$$Lig(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f]ig)\,\Omega = diig(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f]ig)\,\Omega = 0$$
 . QED

2.4.33. Theorem. We have

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$
$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R).$$

Proof. 1) The classifying system of Proposition 2.4.25 and the classifying system of Corollary 2.4.3 coincide. Hence

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2) The equality

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

follows from Proposition 2.4.32. QED

2.4.4 Unimodular and conformal unimodular subalgebras

Next, we consider the subalgebras of the algebra of quantisable functions related to the divergence of the tangent lift.

The subsheaves of the sheaf of quantisable functions f, whose tangent lifts fulfill the properties

$$\operatorname{div} X[f] = 0$$
 and $d(\operatorname{div} X[f]) = 0$,

are denoted by

 $\operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\operatorname{Unim}}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R})$

and called unimodular and conformal unimodular, respectively.

2.4.34. Proposition. The sheaves $\text{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $\text{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ are closed with respect to the special bracket.

PROOF. If $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}(X[[f, g]]) = \operatorname{div}([X[f], X[g]]) = X[g].\operatorname{div}(X[f]) - X[f].\operatorname{div}(X[g]).\operatorname{QED}$$

2.4.35. Proposition. If $f \in \text{Self}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{Time}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$, then we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}(X[f]) = 0\,,$$

hence

 $\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$

PROOF. The equality

$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]) \Omega = df$$

yields

 $L[X_{\rm hol}^{\uparrow}[f]] \Omega = 0,$

hence, in virtue of Proposition 2.3.15 and Lemma 2.3.16,

 $\operatorname{div}(X[f]) = 0.\operatorname{QED}$

2.4.5 Classical subalgebra

Eventually, summarizing several results of the above sections, we consider the subalgebra of the algebra of special functions which generate the infinitesimal symmetries of the full classical structure.

2.4.36. Definition. A function $f \in Con(J_1 E, \mathbb{R}) \cap Tim(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ is said to be a classical generator \Box

We set

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) := \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

2.4.37. Theorem. We have

$$Clas(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) := Con(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap Time(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$
$$= Con(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap Time(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$$

and

Clas
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \boldsymbol{R})$$

Clas $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \boldsymbol{R}).$

PROOF. It follows immediately from Theorem 2.4.33, Lemma 2.4.20 and Proposition 2.4.35. QED

2.4.38. Example. Let us consider an affine spacetime with vanishing electromagnetic field and refer to an inertial observer o and to an adapted cartesian chart.

Then, the sheaf $\operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is constituted by the quantisable functions such that

$$-2 \partial_1 f^1 = \dots = -2 \partial_n f^n = 0$$
$$\partial_i f_j^0 + \partial_j f_i^0 = 0$$
$$\partial_0 f = 0$$
$$\partial_i f = -\partial_0 f_i^0.$$

For instance,

$$\mathcal{K}_0, \ \mathcal{Q}_i, \ \epsilon_{i_1 i_2 \dots i_n} x^{i_1} \mathcal{Q}_0^{i_2} \in \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 E, IR). \square$$

2.5 Nöther Symmetries

The results on classical symmetries are applied to the classical Lagrangian formalism. I recall some of our results from [140].

Let us consider a local Lagrangian \mathcal{L} and the corresponding Poincaré–Cartan form Θ for the phase 2–form Ω . Clearly, any infinitesimal symmetry $X^{\uparrow} : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T J_1 \mathbf{E}$ of Θ is an infinitesimal symmetry of Ω . In fact, if $L_{X^{\uparrow}} \Theta = 0$, then $0 = dL[X^{\uparrow}] \Theta = L[X^{\uparrow}] d\Theta =$ $L[X^{\uparrow}] \Omega$.

Now, we can formulate the following (Nöther) theorem which relates holonomic infinitesimal symmetries of Θ to conserved quantities.

2.5.1. Theorem. Let $X_{(1)}$ be a holonomic infinitesimal symmetry of Θ . Then, on the domain of Θ , $i_{X_{(1)}} \Omega$ is exact and $f := -i_X \Theta \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ is a potential.

Moreover, $X_{(1)} = X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f].$

PROOF. The equation

$$0 = L[X_{(1)}] \Theta = (d \, i_{X_{(1)}} + i_{X_{(1)}} d) \Theta = d \, i_{X_{(1)}} \Theta + i_{X_{(1)}} \Omega$$

is equivalent to

$$i_{X_{(1)}} \Omega = -d \, i_{X_{(1)}} \Theta = -d \, i_X \Theta.$$

Let us define, on the domain of Θ , $f := -i_X \Theta$.

(

Then, by Corollary 2.3.7, on the whole domain of Θ ,

$$X_{(1)} = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] = X[f]_{(1)},$$

with $f \in \text{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. QED

2.5.2. Corollary. Let X be an infinitesimal spacetime symmetry which, additionally, is a holonomic infinitesimal symmetry of Θ . Then, $f := -i_X \Theta \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$.

2.5.3. Remark. In particular, if an observer o is a (scaled) infinitesimal symmetry of Θ , then the Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}[o]$ turns out to be the associated classical generator. In particular, $\mathcal{H}[o]$ is a conserved function.

Let \mathcal{L} be the Lagrangian corresponding to a Poincaré-Cartan form Θ and let \mathcal{P} be the corresponding momentum. In [140], we have proved the following theorem

2.5.4. Theorem. Let X be an infinitesimal spacetime symmetry. Then, the following equivalence holds

1)
$$L_{X_{(1)}} \Theta = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad 2) L_{X_{(1)}} \mathcal{L} = 0$$

Theorem 2.5.4 yields immediately another formulation of the (Nöther) Theorem 2.5.1. This version may be more popular to the physicist.

2.5.5. Corollary. Let X be an infinitesimal spacetime symmetry which, additionally, is a holonomic infinitesimal symmetry of \mathcal{L} . Then, on the domain of Θ , a classical generator $f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ is given by

$$f := -(X \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{P} + \underline{X} \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{L}) \,. \,\Box$$

2.6 Covariant momentum map

We define a covariant momentum map for classical symmetries. The components of a momentum map turn out to be classical generators.

Let us suppose a closed dynamical phase 2-form Ω and a left action $\hat{\Phi} : \boldsymbol{G} \times J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$ of a group \boldsymbol{G} of symmetries of the cosymplectic structure $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \Omega, dt)$, i.e. $\hat{\Phi}_g^* \Omega = \Omega$ and $\hat{\Phi}_g^* dt = dt$. Let \mathfrak{g} be the associated Lie algebra. Hence, $L_{\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)} \Omega = 0$ and $L_{\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)} dt = 0$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$.

We would like to define a *momentum map* in our (covariant) setting by analogy with the standard symplectic and cosymplectic literature [3, 98, 113, 118] and ref. therein.

Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ an infinitesimal symmetry of Ω and dt. Then, by the Propositions 2.2.15 and 2.2.14, X^{\uparrow} is of local type $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{Ham}}[\tau, f]$, with $\tau := dt(X^{\uparrow}) : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}$ and $f \in \text{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$, where f is determined up to an additive constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$.

Hence, we can locally associate with any infinitesimal symmetry X^{\uparrow} of Ω and dt of the type $X^{\uparrow} = \partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)$ locally a pair (f_{ξ}, τ_{ξ}) , where τ_{ξ} is the constant $dt(\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi))$ and f_{ξ} is a potential function of $i_{\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)} \Omega$.

2.6.1. Definition. A (local) map J

$$J: \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{Con}(J_1 E) \times \overline{\mathbb{T}}: \xi \mapsto (J_{\xi}, \tau_{\xi}),$$

where J_{ξ} is a potential of $i_{\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)} \Omega$ and $\tau_{\xi} := i_{\partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi)} dt$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$, is said to be a *momentum* map for the action $\hat{\Phi}$. \Box

We stress that a momentum map is not unique, since the functions J_{ξ} are defined only up to a real additive constant. However, the time scales τ_{ξ} are uniquely determined.

2.6.2. Remark. In general, a momentum map J is defined locally. But if we assume suitable hypotheses on spacetime or on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , then we can find a global momentum map. Of course, a global J always exists if $H^1(\mathbf{E}) = \{0\}$. A detailed list of other hypotheses under which J is globally defined is given in [?]; they are the same as in our case. \Box

Now, let us suppose that we have given a momentum map J for a group of symmetries Φ of the cosymplectic structure. Let $\tau, \sigma \in \mathbb{T}$ be constant time scales and $f, g \in \text{Con}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ be conserved quantities. We say $\{(f, \tau), (g, \sigma)\} := ([\tau, \sigma], \{f, g\}) = (0, \{f, g\})$, where $[\tau, \sigma]$ is the Lie bracket and $\{f, g\}$ is the Poisson bracket, to be the *Poisson bracket for pairs*.

2.6.3. Proposition. The map

$$(\tau_{\xi}, J_{\xi}) \mapsto \partial \hat{\Phi}(\xi),$$

which associates with any component (τ_{ξ}, J_{ξ}) of J its infinitesimal generator turns out to be a morphism of Lie algebras. Its kernel Map (\mathbf{T}, \mathbb{R}) .

PROOF. The equality

$$i_{[H_{\tau}[f],H_{\sigma}[g]]} dt = [L_{H_{\tau}[f]}, i_{H_{\sigma}[g]}] dt = L_{H_{\tau}[f]} \sigma - i_{H_{\sigma}[g]} d\tau = 0$$

shows that the bracket $[H_{\tau}[f], H_{\sigma}[g]]$ is a vertical Hamiltonian lift. Hence, Proposition 2.2.21 yields the result. QED

Now, let us suppose, additionally, that the left action Φ of G is projectable on a left action $\Phi : \mathbf{G} \times \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$, that is, $\hat{\Phi}$ is an action of classical symmetries. Theorem 2.3.5 yields the following result.

2.6.4. Proposition. The components of a momentum map are pairs (J_{ξ}, τ_{ξ}) , where $J_{\xi} \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbf{R}) \subset \text{Hol}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbf{R})$ with the second fiber derivative $D^2 J_{\xi}$ of J_{ξ} equal to the constant time scale $\tau_{\xi} = dt(\hat{\Phi}(\xi))$.

Hence, in the case of the projectable actions, each function J_{ξ} encodes all information of the pair (J_{ξ}, τ_{ξ}) . \Box

Consequently, we call the map $J : \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}) : \xi \to J(\xi) := J_{\xi}$ momentum map, denoted by the same symbol J.

Now, let us consider a Poincaré–Cartan form Θ and an action Φ of classical symmetries which, additionally, preserves Θ .

2.6.5. Proposition. There exists a momentum map on the domain of Θ . Namely, the map

$$J_{\xi} = \partial \Phi(\xi) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{P} + \partial \Phi(\xi) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{L} \,. \tag{2.6.1}$$

Moreover, Let (e_p) be a basis of \mathfrak{g} , and $\xi = \xi^p e_p$. Then, the coordinate expression is

$$J_{\xi} = \xi^p \Big((\partial_p \phi^i - x_0^i \partial_p \phi^0) \, \partial_i^0 L + \partial_p \phi^0 \, L \Big) \,,$$

Given an observer o, the momentum map can be expressed in terms of the observed Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}[o]$ and the observed momentum $\mathcal{P}[o]$ by

$$J_{\xi} = \partial \Phi(\xi) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{P}[o] + \partial \Phi(\xi) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{H}[o] \,. \tag{2.6.2}$$

PROOF. The first expression follows simply from the contact splitting of Θ and Theorem 2.5.1. The observer dependent expression of J follows simply from the splitting of Θ through the observer.

The coordinate expression

$$\partial \phi(\xi) = \xi^p \partial_p \phi^0 \partial_0 + \xi^p \partial_p \phi^i \partial_i$$

with respect to a basis (e_p) yields the second expression. QED

2.6.6. Remark. There is a connection between the momentum of a Lagrangian and the momentum map. In fact, let \boldsymbol{G} be a group of vertical holonomic symmetries of Θ , i.e. $i_{\partial \Phi(\xi)} dt = 0$. Then we have the expression

$$J_{\xi} = \partial \phi(\xi) \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{P} \equiv \mathcal{P}(\partial \phi(\xi)) \,,$$

so the momentum map coincides with the momentum of the Lagrangian. \Box

Now, we apply the machinery developed in the above subsection to analyze three groups of symmetries acting in simple cases.

2.6.7. Example. We suppose the spacetime E to be an affine space with affine projection t. In this case $VE \simeq E \times S$, where $S := \ker Dt$. So, we assume an Euclidean scaled metric g on S.

Let us consider the natural vertical action

$$\boldsymbol{S} \times \boldsymbol{E} \to \boldsymbol{E} : (v, e_0) \mapsto (e_0 + v);$$

Let K^{\natural} be the natural flat connection on E and F = 0. Then, any Poincaré–Cartan form exists globally and S is a group of symmetries of a Θ . The momentum map J is just the standard linear momentum.

In fact, Θ is invariant with respect to spacelike translations. Of course, the Lie algebra of \boldsymbol{S} is \boldsymbol{S} and we have the momentum map

$$J: \mathbf{S}_0 \to \operatorname{Clas}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Aff}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) : v \mapsto J(v) \equiv \mathcal{P}(v).$$

We have the coordinate expression $\mathcal{P}(v) = v^i G_{ij} x_0^j$ (see remark 2.6.6).

2.6.8. Example. Assume the same spacetime and fields as in the above example, and assume additionally that $E \simeq T \times P$, i.e., assume a complete observer *o*. Then, we can consider the natural action

$$\overline{\mathbb{T}} \times (\boldsymbol{T} \times \boldsymbol{P}) \to \boldsymbol{T} \times \boldsymbol{P} : (v, (\tau, \boldsymbol{p})) \mapsto (v + \tau, \boldsymbol{p}).$$

It turns out that $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ is a group of symmetries of Θ , i.e. o is a (scaled) infinitesimal symmetry of Θ , and the momentum map J is just the (observed) kinetic energy $\mathcal{H}[o]$.

In fact, Θ is as in the above example, hence it is invariant with respect to time translations because the metric does not depend on time. Of course, the Lie algebra of $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ is $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ and we have the momentum map

$$J: \overline{\mathbb{T}} \to \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) : \xi \mapsto J(\tau) \equiv \tau \, \lrcorner (o \, \lrcorner \, \Theta) \,.$$

Obviously, $J = \mathcal{H}[o]$.

2.6.9. Example. Now, we suppose our spacetime to be $\mathbf{T} \times SO(g)$, where g is the metric of the above spacetime. The manifold $\mathbf{T} \times SO(g)$ is interpreted as the configuration space for the relative configurations of a rigid body with respect to the center of mass (see [118, 127] for a more detailed account).

We assume the *inertia tensor* I as the scaled vertical metric. Consider the action

$$SO(g) \times (\mathbb{T} \times SO(g)) \to \mathbb{T} \times SO(g) : (A, (\tau, B)) \mapsto (\tau, AB).$$

Let K^{\natural} be the natural flat connection on $\mathbf{T} \times SO(g)$ and F = 0. Then, SO(g) is a group of symmetries of Θ and a momentum map J is just the angular momentum.

In fact, as in the previous examples, Θ reduces to the kinetic energy of particles with respect to the center of mass. This is obviously invariant with respect orthogonal transformations [127]. We have the momentum map

$$J: so(g_a) \to \operatorname{Clas}(\boldsymbol{T} \times \mathbb{T} \otimes TSO(g), \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Aff}(\boldsymbol{T} \times \mathbb{T} \otimes TSO(g), \mathbb{R}) : \omega \mapsto J_{\omega} \equiv \omega^* \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{P} \,,$$

where, by definition, $\mathcal{P} = V_{\mathbf{E}} \mathcal{L}$, with the coordinate expression $\mathcal{P} = I_{ij} x_0^j d^i$. A simple computation shows that

$$-\omega^*: SO(g) \to TSO(g): r \mapsto \omega(r);$$

 $-\omega^* \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{P}(v) = I(\omega(r), v) = \omega(r \times v).$

The Lie algebra of $SO(g_a)$ is $so(g_a)$, but the Hodge star isomorphism yields a natural Lie algebra isomorphism $so(g_a) \simeq \mathbb{L}^{-1} \otimes \mathbf{S}_a$. The isomorphism carries the Lie bracket of $so(g_a)$ into the cross product. In this way, if $\omega \in so(g_a)$ and $\bar{\omega} \in \mathbb{L}^{-1} \otimes \mathbf{S}_a$ is the corresponding element, we can equivalently write

$$J: \mathbb{L}^{-1} \otimes \boldsymbol{S}_a \to \operatorname{Clas}(\boldsymbol{T} \times \mathbb{T} \otimes TSO(g)) : \bar{\omega} \mapsto J_{\bar{\omega}} \equiv I(r \times v, \omega),$$

where $v \in \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\mathbf{R}_a \equiv J_1(\mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{R}_a)$. This proves the last part of the statement.

CHAPTER 3

QUANTUM THEORY

The Galilei covariant quantum mechanics (CQM) provides a framework for a charged scalar quantum particle on a curved spacetime with absolute time interacting with given gravitational and electromagnetic fields.

I recall a few basic facts of the Galilei covariant quantum theory according to [?] starting from minimal axioms. The minimal axioms yield, in a covariant way, the full quantum structure. In particular, it yields the covariant Schrödinger equation and a (canonical) quantum Lagrangian formalsim.

I study systematically the v.fs of the quantum theory which preserve the quantum structure. It turns out that these vector fields are generated by subalgebras of the algebra of special functions (of classical phase space). In particular, the v.fs which preserve the Hermitian structure are generated by the quantisable functions and the vector fields which preserve the full quantum structure are generated by the classical generators. The map which associates with a classical function the corresponding quantum symmetry turns out to be an isomorphism of Lie algebras.

On the other hand, I apply these results to the quantum Lagrangian formalism. It suggests me to define quantum currents associated with a quantisable function. For classical generators, the associated quantum currents are conserved along the solutions of the covariant Schrödinger equation.

3.1 Quantum framework

We recall the minimal axioms of the quantum theory. These axioms yield in a covariant way the full quantum structure. In particular, it yields a (canonical) quantum Lagrangian, the covariant Schrödinger equation, a Hilbert bundle the related stuff.

3.1.1 Quantum bundle

We refer to the classical background structure $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \Omega, dt)$ described in the previous chapter.

3.1.1. Definition. A *quantum bundle* is defined to be a one–dimensional complex bundle over spacetime

$$\pi: \boldsymbol{Q} \to \boldsymbol{E}$$

equipped with a Hermitian fibred metric

$$h: \boldsymbol{Q} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\times} \boldsymbol{Q} \to \mathbb{C} \otimes \Lambda^n V^* \boldsymbol{E}$$

with values in the bundle of complexified spacelike volume forms. \square

We shall refer to a complex basis

$$\mathfrak{b}\in\mathrm{Sec}(oldsymbol{E},\,\mathbb{L}^{rac{n}{2}}\otimesoldsymbol{Q})\,,$$

n

normalised by

$$h(\mathfrak{b},\mathfrak{b})=\eta$$
,

to the associated complex dual basis

$$z \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{Q}, \mathbb{L}^{*\frac{n}{2}} \otimes \mathbb{C}),$$

to the associated real basis

$$\mathbf{b}_1, \mathbf{b}_2 \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{L}^{\frac{n}{2}} \otimes \boldsymbol{Q})$$

and to the real dual basis

$$w^1, w^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{Q}, \mathbb{L}^{*\frac{n}{2}} \otimes \mathbb{R}),$$

where

$$\mathbf{b}_1 := \mathbf{b}, \quad \mathbf{b}_2 := \mathrm{i} \, \mathbf{b} \qquad \text{and} \qquad z = w^1 + \mathrm{i} \, w^2$$

We refer to scaled real fibred charts (x^{λ}, w^{a}) of Q and to the induced basis of vector fields and forms

$$(\partial_{\lambda}, \partial_{\mathbf{a}})$$
 and $(d^{\lambda}, d^{\mathbf{a}})$.

We can identify ∂_a with b_a .

3.1.2. Proposition. We obtain the following expressions

$$\mathbf{i} = w^1 \otimes \mathbf{b}_2 - w^2 \otimes \mathbf{b}_1 = \mathbf{i} \, z \otimes \mathbf{b} \,,$$
$$\mathbf{h} = \left((w^1 \otimes w^1 + w^2 \otimes w^2) + \mathbf{i} \, (w^1 \otimes w^2 - w^2 \otimes w^1) \right) \otimes \eta = \bar{z} \otimes z \, \eta \,,$$
$$\mathbb{I} = w^1 \, \mathbf{b}_1 + w^2 \, \mathbf{b}_2 = z \, \mathbf{b} \,. \square$$

3.1.3. Proposition. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(Q, TQ)$.

Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is projectable on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(E, TE)$ and real linear over X;

2) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}} w^{\mathrm{b}} \partial_{\mathrm{a}} ,$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, Y^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}} \in \mathrm{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

Moreover, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is projectable on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(E, TE)$ and complex linear over X;

2) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + i s) w^{a} \partial_{a},$$

= $X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + r (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + s (w^{1} \partial_{2} + w^{2} \partial_{1}),$

with

$$\begin{aligned} X^{\lambda} &\in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \,, \\ r &\equiv Y_1^1 = Y_1^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \,, \\ s &\equiv Y_1^2 - Y_2^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \,. \square \end{aligned}$$

3.1.4. Proposition. If \overline{b} is another quantum basis, then we have locally

 $\bar{\mathbf{b}} = \exp(i\phi) \mathbf{b}$, with $\phi \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$.

Accordingly, we obtain

$$\bar{z} = \exp(-\mathrm{i}\,\phi)\,z\,,$$

and

$$\begin{split} \bar{w}^1 &= & \cos \phi \, w^1 + \sin \phi \, w^2 \, , \\ \bar{w}^2 &= - \sin \phi \, w^1 + \cos \phi \, w^2 \, . \, \Box \end{split}$$

The history of a quantum particle is described by a quantum section $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$. We write $\Psi = \psi \mathbf{b}$, with $\psi \in \text{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$.

We shall be involved with the first jet space $J_1 \mathbf{Q}$ of $\mathbf{Q} \to \mathbf{E}$. We denote the fibred charts of $J_1 \mathbf{Q}$ by $(x^{\lambda}, w^{\mathrm{a}}, w^{\mathrm{a}}_{\lambda})$.

We have the natural contact maps

$$\mathcal{I}: J_1 \mathbf{Q} \to T^* \mathbf{E} \underset{\mathbf{E}}{\otimes} T \mathbf{Q} \quad \text{and} \quad \vartheta: J_1 \mathbf{Q} \to T^* \mathbf{Q} \underset{\mathbf{E}}{\otimes} \mathbf{Q} \,,$$

with coordinate expressions

$$\Pi = d^{\lambda} \otimes (\partial_{\lambda} + w_{\lambda}^{a} \partial_{a}) \quad \text{and} \quad \vartheta = \partial_{a} \otimes (d^{a} - w_{\lambda}^{a} d^{\lambda}).$$

3.1.5. Proposition. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(J_1 Q, T J_1 Q)$.

Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is projectable on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ and real linear over X;

2) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y^{a}_{b} w^{b} \partial_{a} + Y^{a\mu}_{\ b} w^{b}_{\mu} \partial_{a} + Y^{a}_{\lambda \ b} w^{b} \partial^{\lambda}_{a} + Y^{a\mu}_{\lambda \ b} w^{b}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{a} ,$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, Y^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}}, Y^{\mathrm{a}\mu}_{\mathrm{b}}, Y^{\mathrm{a}\mu}_{\lambda \mathrm{b}}, Y^{\mathrm{a}\mu}_{\lambda \mathrm{b}} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}).$$

Moreover, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is projectable on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ and complex linear over X;

2) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + \mathrm{i}\, s) \, w^{\mathrm{a}} \partial_{\mathrm{a}} + (r^{\mu} + \mathrm{i}\, s^{\mu}) \, w^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mu} \partial_{\mathrm{a}} + (r_{\lambda} + \mathrm{i}\, s_{\lambda}) \, w^{\mathrm{a}} \partial^{\lambda}_{\mathrm{a}} + (r^{\mu}_{\lambda} + \mathrm{i}\, s^{\mu}_{\lambda}) \, w^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{\mathrm{a}} \,,$$

$$= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda}$$

+ $r (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + s (w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1}) + r^{\mu} (w^{1}_{\mu} \partial_{1} + w^{2}_{\mu} \partial_{2}) + s^{\mu} (w^{1}_{\mu} \partial_{2} - w^{2}_{\mu} \partial_{1})$
+ $r_{\lambda} (w^{1} \partial^{\lambda}_{1} + w^{2} \partial^{\lambda}_{2}) + s_{\lambda} (w^{1} \partial^{\lambda}_{2} - w^{2} \partial^{\lambda}_{1}) + r^{\mu}_{\lambda} (w^{1}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{1} + w^{2}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{2}) + s^{\mu}_{\lambda} (w^{1}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{2} - w^{2}_{\mu} \partial^{\lambda}_{1})$

with

$$\begin{split} X^{\lambda} &\in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ r &\equiv Y_1^1 = Y_1^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s &\equiv Y_1^2 - Y_2^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ r^{\mu} &\equiv Y_1^{1\mu} = Y_1^{1\mu} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s^{\mu} &\equiv Y_1^{2\mu} - Y_1^{1\mu} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ r_{\lambda} &\equiv Y_{\lambda 1}^1 = Y_{\lambda 1}^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s_{\lambda} &\equiv Y_{\lambda 1}^2 - Y_{\lambda 2}^1 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s_{\lambda} &\equiv Y_{\lambda 1}^{1\mu} = Y_{\lambda 1}^{1\mu} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s^{\mu}_{\lambda} &\equiv Y_{\lambda 1}^{1\mu} - Y_{\lambda 1}^{1\mu} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ s^{\mu}_{\lambda} &\equiv Y_{\lambda 1}^{2\mu} - Y_{\lambda 1}^{1\mu} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, I\!\!R) \,, \\ \end{split}$$

3.1.2 Extended quantum bundle

3.1.6. Definition. We define the *extended quantum bundle*

$$\pi^{\uparrow}: \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow} := J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\times} \boldsymbol{Q} \to J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$$

by taking the pullback of $\pi: \mathbf{Q} \to \mathbf{E}$, with respect to the map $t_0^1: J_1\mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$. \Box

We refer to the fibred charts $(x^{\lambda}, x_0^i, w^a)$ of \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} and to the induced bases of vector fields and forms $(\partial_{\lambda}, \partial_i^0, \partial_a)$ and $(d^{\lambda}, d_0^i, d^a)$.

3.1.7. Remark. We have

$$T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow} = TJ_1\boldsymbol{E} \underset{T\boldsymbol{E}}{\times} T\boldsymbol{Q}$$
.

In particular, we obtain the natural linear fibred inclusion over Q

$$V_{\boldsymbol{E}}J_1\boldsymbol{E}\underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{ imes}\boldsymbol{Q}\subset T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$$

by considering the E-vertical subbundle $V_E J_1 E \subset T J_1 E$ and the "zero subbundle" $Q \subset TQ$, which project on the "zero subbundle" $E \subset TE$. We stress that the above natural inclusion is independent from any connection of the extended quantum bundle. \Box

3.1.8. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$.

If Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$, then Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$.

If Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and on a vector field $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, then Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$.

PROOF. If Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on Y, then

$$\partial_i^0 Y^{\lambda} = 0$$
 and $\partial_i^0 Y^{a} = 0$,

hence, in particular,

 $\partial_i^0 Y^\lambda = 0 \,.$

If Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on X^{\uparrow} and X, then

$$\partial_i^0 Y^{\lambda} = 0$$
 and $\partial_i^0 Y^{a} = 0$,

hence, Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on Y. QED

3.1.9. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$.

Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and real linear over X^{\uparrow} ;

2) the coordinate expression of Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X_0^i \partial_i^0 + Y_b^a w^b \partial_a,$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, X_0^i, Y_b^a \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

Moreover, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and complex linear over X^{\uparrow} ;

2) the coordinate expression of Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X_0^i \partial_i^0 + (r + i s) w^a \partial_a,$$

= $X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X_0^i \partial_i^0 + r (w^1 \partial_1 + w^2 \partial_2) + s (w^1 \partial_2 + w^2 \partial_1)$

with

$$X^{\lambda} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R),$$

$$r \equiv Y_{1}^{1} = Y_{1}^{1} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R),$$

$$s \equiv Y_{1}^{2} - Y_{2}^{1} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).\square$$

We shall be involved with the first jet space $J_1 \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}$ of $\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$. We refer to the fibred charts $(x^{\lambda}, x_0^i, w^{\mathbf{a}}, w_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}}, w_i^{\mathbf{a}})$ of $J_1 \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}$ and to the induced bases of vector fields and forms $(\partial_{\lambda}, \partial_i^0, \partial_{\mathbf{a}}, \partial_{\mathbf{a}}^{\lambda}, \partial_{\mathbf{a}}^{0}), (d^{\lambda}, d_0^{\mathbf{a}}, d^{\mathbf{a}}, d^{\mathbf{a}}).$

The Hermitian metric h of Q yields, by pullback, a Hermitian metric h^{\uparrow} of Q^{\uparrow} .

3.1.3 Quantum connection

3.1.10. Definition. A linear connection C of $\mathbf{Q} \to \mathbf{E}$, or $\mathbf{\Psi}$ of $\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$, is said to be *Hermitian* if

$$abla [K, C] \, \mathbf{h} = 0, \qquad ext{or} \qquad
abla [K, \mathbf{Y}] \, \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} = 0,$$

respectively. \Box

3.1.11. Proposition. A Hemitian connection C of Q has coordinate expression of the type

$$C = d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + \mathrm{i} c_{\lambda} d^{\lambda} \otimes \mathbb{I}, \quad \text{with} \quad c_{\lambda} \in \mathrm{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

A Hemitian connection $\mathbf{\Psi}$ of \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} has coordinate expression of the type

$$\mathbf{\Psi} = d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + d_0^i \otimes \partial_i^0 + \mathbf{i} \left(\mathbf{u}_{\lambda} d^{\lambda} + \mathbf{u}_i^0 d_0^i \right) \otimes \mathbb{I}, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathbf{u}_{\lambda}, \mathbf{u}_i^0 \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \! R) . \square$$

3.1.12. Proposition. [44, 56, 54] A system of connections $\{\overset{o}{\Psi}\}$ of Q parametrised by observers $o \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ induces, in a covariant way, a connection $\boldsymbol{\Psi}$ of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$, called *universal* [56], whose symbols \boldsymbol{u}_i^0 vanish. Conversely, the connections of the system can be

recovered from the universal connection through the pullback $\overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}} = o^*(\mathbf{\Psi})$. Analogously, the curvature of the connections of the system can be recovered from the curvature of the universal connection through the pullback $R[\overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}] = o^*(R[\mathbf{\Psi}])$. \Box

3.1.13. Definition. A quantum connection is defined to be a connection Ψ of Q^{\uparrow} , which is Hermitian, universal and whose curvature is

$$R[\mathbf{Y}] = \mathrm{i}\,\Omega \otimes \mathbb{I} \,.\,\Box$$

We stress that $\frac{1}{\hbar}$ has been incorporated in Ω through the re-scaled metric G.

Here, the closure of Ω turns out to be a necessary integrability condition because of the Bianchi identity of $R[\Psi]$.

Thus, quantum connections are associated with the classical background through Ω .

3.1.14. Theorem. [56] Given a quantum basis b, a quantum connection \mathcal{Y} turns out to be locally of the type

$$\mathbf{\Psi} = \chi^{\uparrow \parallel}[\mathbf{b}] + \mathbf{i}\,\mathbf{u}[\mathbf{b}] \otimes \mathbb{I}\,,$$

where $\chi^{\uparrow \parallel}[\mathbf{b}]$ is the flat connection of \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} associated with \mathbf{b} and $\mathbf{u}[\mathbf{b}] \equiv \Theta$ is a horizontal potential (determined by \mathbf{H} and \mathbf{b}) of Ω .

Given a quantum basis b, the connections of the system associated with a quantum connection H turn out to be locally of the type

$$\overset{o}{\mathbf{H}} = \chi^{\parallel}[\mathbf{b}] + \mathrm{i}\,A[\mathbf{b},o] \otimes \mathbb{I}\,,$$

where $\chi^{\parallel}[b]$ is the flat connection of Q associated with b and $A[b, o] := o^*(\mathbf{y}[b])$ is a potential (determined by \mathbf{Y} , \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{o}) of $\Phi[o] = 2 o^* \Omega$.

Thus, the coordinate expression of $\mathbf{\mathbf{Y}}$ is locally of the type

$$\mathbf{H} = d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + d^{i}_{0} \otimes \partial^{0}_{i} + \mathbf{i} \left(-\left(\frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} - A_{0}\right) d^{0} + \left(G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} + A_{i}\right) d^{i} \right) \otimes \mathbb{I} . \square$$

We observe that the classical horizontal potentials Θ are defined up to a gauge; on the other hand, the quantum potential $\mathbf{q}[\mathbf{b}]$ is determined by the quantum connection \mathbf{U} and the quantum basis \mathbf{b} .

We observe that quantum connections exist locally because Ω admits horizontal potentials.

3.1.15. Lemma. Let $\bar{\mathbf{b}}$ and \mathbf{b} be two quantum bases related by the transition map $\bar{\mathbf{b}} = \exp(i\varphi) \mathbf{b}$.

Then, we have

$$\bar{\chi}^{\parallel} = \chi^{\parallel} + \mathrm{i} \, d\phi \otimes \mathbb{I} \qquad \mathrm{and} \qquad \bar{\chi}^{\uparrow\parallel} = \chi^{\uparrow\parallel} + \mathrm{i} \, d\phi \otimes \mathbb{I}$$

PROOF. In a chart adapted to b and \overline{b} , we have, respectively,

$$\chi^{\parallel}[\mathbf{b}] = d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad \chi^{\parallel}[\bar{\mathbf{b}}] = \bar{d}^{\lambda} \otimes \bar{\partial}_{\lambda}$$
$$\chi^{\uparrow\parallel}[\mathbf{b}] = d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} + d^{i}_{0} \otimes \partial^{0}_{i} \quad \text{and} \quad \chi^{\uparrow\parallel}[\bar{\mathbf{b}}] = \bar{d}^{\lambda} \otimes \bar{\partial}_{\lambda} + \bar{d}^{i}_{0} \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i}$$

Then, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \chi^{\parallel}[\bar{\mathfrak{b}}] &= \bar{d}^{\lambda} \otimes \bar{\partial}_{\lambda} \\ &= (\partial_{\mu} \bar{x}^{\lambda} d^{\mu}) \otimes (\bar{\partial}_{\lambda} x^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} + \bar{\partial}_{\lambda} w^{a} \partial_{a}) \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + (\bar{\partial}_{\lambda} \phi) (\partial_{\mu} \bar{x}^{\lambda} d^{\mu}) \otimes \left((-\sin \phi \, \bar{w}^{1} - \cos \phi \, \bar{w}^{2}) \, \partial w_{1} + (\cos \phi \, \bar{w}^{1} - \sin \phi \, \bar{w}^{2}) \, \partial w_{2} \right) \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + d\phi \otimes (w^{1} \, \partial w_{2} - w^{2} \, \partial w_{1}) \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + \mathrm{i} \, d\phi \otimes \mathbb{I} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \chi^{\uparrow \parallel}[\bar{\mathbf{b}}] &= \bar{d}^{\lambda} \otimes \bar{\partial}_{\lambda} + \bar{d}^{i}_{0} \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i} \\ &= (\partial_{\mu}\bar{x}^{\lambda} d^{\mu}) \otimes (\bar{\partial}_{\lambda}x^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} + \bar{\partial}_{\lambda}w^{a} \partial_{a}) + (\partial_{\mu}\bar{x}^{i}_{0} d^{\mu} + \partial^{0}_{j}\bar{x}^{i}_{0} d^{j}_{0}) \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i} x^{j}_{0} \partial^{0}_{j} \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + \bar{d}^{i}_{0} \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i} + (\bar{\partial}_{\lambda}\phi) (\partial_{\mu}\bar{x}^{\lambda} d^{\mu}) \otimes \left((-\sin\phi \,\bar{w}^{1} - \cos\phi \,\bar{w}^{2}) \,\partial w_{1} + (\cos\phi \,\bar{w}^{1} - \sin\phi \,\bar{w}^{2}) \,\partial w_{2} \right) \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + \bar{d}^{i}_{0} \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i} + d\phi \otimes (w^{1} \,\partial w_{2} - w^{2} \,\partial w_{1}) \\ &= \partial_{\mu} \otimes d^{\mu} + \bar{d}^{i}_{0} \otimes \bar{\partial}^{0}_{i} + \mathrm{i} \, d\phi \otimes \mathbb{I} \,. \, \mathrm{QED} \end{split}$$

3.1.16. Proposition. Let us consider a quantum connection Ψ , two quantum bases **b** and $\bar{\mathbf{b}} = \exp(i\varphi) \mathbf{b}$ and two observers o and $\bar{o} = o + v$.

Then, we have

$$\mathbf{q}[\bar{\mathbf{b}}] = \mathbf{q}[\mathbf{b}] - d\varphi$$

and

$$\begin{split} A[\bar{\mathbf{b}}, o] &= A[\mathbf{b}, o] - d\varphi, \\ A[\mathbf{b}, \bar{o}] &= A[\mathbf{b}, o] - \frac{1}{2}G(v, v) + \nu[o] \,\lrcorner\, G^{\flat}(v), \\ A[\bar{\mathbf{b}}, \bar{o}] &= A[\bar{\mathbf{b}}, o] - \frac{1}{2}G(v, v) + \nu[o] \,\lrcorner\, G^{\flat}(v), \\ A[\bar{\mathbf{b}}, \bar{o}] &= A[\mathbf{b}, o] - \frac{1}{2}G(v, v) + \nu[o] \,\lrcorner\, G^{\flat}(v) - d\varphi. \Box \end{split}$$

PROOF. It follows from Theorem 3.1.14, Lemma 3.1.15 and Proposition 2.1.38. QED

3.1.17. Corollary. Let us consider a quantum connection \mathcal{Y} , a quantum basis **b** and two observers *o* and $\bar{o} = o + v$.

Then, we have

$$\check{A}[\mathfrak{b},\bar{o}]=\check{A}[\mathfrak{b},o]+G^{\flat}(v)$$
 . \Box

3.1.18. Corollary. Let Ψ be a quantum connection and b a quantum basis. Then, there exist a unique observer

$$o[\mathbf{b}] \in \mathcal{S}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\boldsymbol{E})$$
such that the vertical restriction of the induced potential vanishes, i.e. such that

$$\check{A}\big[\mathfrak{b},o[\mathfrak{b}]\big]=0\,.$$

Indeed, if o is any observer, then we obtain

$$o[\mathbf{b}] = o - G^{\sharp}(\check{A}[\mathbf{b}, o])$$

Moreover, if $\bar{\mathbf{b}}$ is another quantum basis, with $\bar{\mathbf{b}} = \exp(i\varphi) \mathbf{b}$, then we obtain

$$o[\bar{\mathbf{b}}] = o - G^{\sharp}(\check{A}[\mathbf{b}, o] - \check{d}\varphi)$$
.

3.1.19. Theorem. [129] A quantum connection exists globally if and only if the cohomology class of Ω is integer; the equivalence classes of quantum bundles equipped with a quantum connection are classified by the cohomology group $H^1(\mathbf{E}, U(1))$. \Box

We suppose that the classical structure fulfills the above chomological condition for the existence of quantum structures and assume a quantum structure (Q, Ψ) .

This is our only assumption for the quantum theory. We derive all other quantum objects from it (including the quantum dynamics and quantum operators) by means of covariant procedures.

Our approach has evident analogies with geometric quantisation, but there are important differences. In particular, we stress that our quantum bundle lives on spacetime and that the quantum connection is universal. In this way we avoid the intricate problems related to polarisations. Actually, we replace the difficult search for the inclusion of polarisations with an easier search for projectable objects.

3.1.4 Quantum differentials

The quantum structure yields all further quantum objects in a covariant way. Actually, the quantum connection lives on the extended quantum bundle Q^{\uparrow} ; on the other hand, we implement the covariance of the quantum theory by requiring that the physically significant objects live on the quantum bundle Q through a *method of projectabilty* [54]. In this way, we get the quantum Lagrangian, the quantum Schrödinger operator and the quantum operators.

For each $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(E, Q)$, we obtain the quantum covariant differential

$$\nabla \Psi := \nabla \Psi^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, T^* \boldsymbol{E} \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{F}} \boldsymbol{Q}) \,,$$

with respect to Ψ , by considering the pullback $\Psi^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ of Ψ .

We observe that $\nabla \Psi$ turns out to be valued just in $T^* E \underset{E}{\otimes} Q$, because of the universality of Ψ .

We have the coordinate expression

$$\nabla \Psi = (\partial_{\lambda} - \mathrm{i}\,\mathbf{u}_{\lambda})\,\psi\,d^{\lambda} \otimes \mathbf{b} = \left((\partial_{0} + \mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{H}_{0})\,\psi\,d^{0} + (\partial_{j} - \mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{P}_{j})\,\psi\,d^{j} \right) \otimes \mathbf{b}\,.$$

Moreover, we define the *time-like* and *space-like differentials* to be the maps

$$\widehat{\nabla}\Psi := \mathcal{I} \,\lrcorner\, \nabla\Psi \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \,\mathbb{T}^* \otimes \boldsymbol{Q}) \quad \text{and} \quad \stackrel{\vee}{\nabla}\Psi \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \,V^*\boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} \boldsymbol{Q}) \,,$$

with coordinate expressions

$$\widehat{\nabla}\Psi = (\partial_0 + x_0^j \,\partial_j - \mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{L}_0)\,\psi\,d^0\otimes \mathfrak{b} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \stackrel{\vee}{\nabla}\Psi = (\partial_j - \mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{P}_j)\,\psi\,\check{d}^j\otimes \mathfrak{b}\,.$$

3.1.5 Quantum Lagrangian

3.1.20. Proposition. [56, 54] The quantum structure yields, in a covariant way, the distinguished fibred morphisms over E,

$$L \in Fib(J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}, \Lambda^{1+n} T^* \boldsymbol{E}),$$

which, for any $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$ is expressed by

$$\mathbf{L}[\Psi] = dt \wedge \left(\mathbf{h}(\Psi, \, \mathbf{i} \, \widehat{\nabla} \Psi) + \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{i} \, \widehat{\nabla} \Psi, \, \Psi) - (\bar{G} \otimes \mathbf{h}(\stackrel{\vee}{\nabla} \Psi, \stackrel{\vee}{\nabla} \Psi) + k\rho \left(\Psi, \, \Psi\right) \right),$$

with $k \in \mathbb{R}$.

PROOF. We have

$$\widehat{\mathsf{L}}[\Psi] \equiv dt \wedge \left(\mathsf{h}(\Psi, i\,\widehat{\nabla}\Psi) + \mathsf{h}(i\,\widehat{\nabla}\Psi, \Psi)\right) \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^{1+n}T^*\boldsymbol{E}) \overset{\vee}{\mathsf{L}}[\Psi] \equiv dt \wedge \left((\bar{G}\otimes\mathsf{h})\,(\overset{\vee}{\nabla}\Psi, \overset{\vee}{\nabla}\Psi)\right) \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^{1+n}T^*\boldsymbol{E}) \mathsf{L}_{(0)}[\Psi] \equiv \rho\,\mathsf{h}(\Psi, \Psi) \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^{1+n}T^*\boldsymbol{E}).$$

However, the coordinate expression of the above terms, shows that

$$\widehat{\mathsf{L}}[\Psi] - \overset{\vee}{\mathsf{L}}[\Psi] \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \Lambda^{1+n}T^*\boldsymbol{E})$$
. QED

3.1.21. Proposition. We have the coordinate expression

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{L}[\Psi] &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathrm{i} \left(\bar{\psi} \,\partial_0 \psi - \psi \,\partial_0 \bar{\psi} \right) - G_0^{ij} \left(\partial_i \bar{\psi} \,\partial_j \psi + A_i \,A_j \,\bar{\psi} \,\psi \right) - \mathrm{i} \,A_0^i \left(\bar{\psi} \,\partial_i \psi - \psi \,\partial_i \bar{\psi} \right) \\ &+ 2 \,A_0 \,\bar{\psi} \,\psi + k \,\rho_0 \,\bar{\psi} \,\psi \right) \sqrt{|g|} \,d^0 \wedge d^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge d^n \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, we obtain the coordinate expression

$$\mathbf{L} \equiv \mathbf{l}_0 \, v^0$$

where, in complex coordinates,

$$l_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \left(i \left(\bar{z}^{A} z_{0}^{A} - z^{A} \bar{z}_{0}^{A} \right) + 2 A_{0} \bar{z}^{A} z^{A} - G_{0}^{ij} \left(\bar{z}_{i}^{A} z_{j}^{A} + A_{i} A_{j} \bar{z}^{A} z^{A} \right) - i A_{0}^{i} \left(\bar{z}^{A} z_{i}^{A} - z^{A} \bar{z}_{i}^{A} \right) + k \rho_{0} \bar{z}^{A} z^{A} \right),$$

and, in real coordinates,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{l}_{0} = & (w^{2} \, w_{0}^{1} - w^{1} \, w_{0}^{2}) + A_{0} \, (w^{1} \, w^{1} + w^{2} \, w^{2}) \\ & - \frac{1}{2} \, G_{0}^{ij} \, (w_{i}^{1} \, w_{j}^{1} + w_{i}^{2} \, w_{j}^{2}) - \frac{1}{2} \, A_{0}^{i} \, A_{i} \, (w^{1} \, w^{1} + w^{2} \, w^{2}) - A_{0}^{i} \, (w^{2} \, w_{i}^{1} - w^{1} \, w_{i}^{2}) \\ & + \frac{1}{2} \, k \, \rho_{0} \, (w^{1} \, w^{1} + w^{2} \, w^{2}) \, . \, \Box \end{split}$$

3.1.22. Definition. For each $k \in \mathbb{R}$, the fibred morphism

$$L \in Fib(J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}, \Lambda^{1+n} T^* \boldsymbol{E}),$$

as above is called a *canonical quantum Lagrangian*. \Box

3.1.23. Proposition. [?, 61, 62] All covariant fibred morphisms

$$L' \in Fib(J_1 Q, \Lambda^{1+n} T^* E)$$

are proportional to a canonical quantum Lagrangian L. \Box

Thus, the requirement of covariance is insufficient to determine the constant k. A theoretical determination of this constant needs further requirements.

According to the above results, we assume a canonical quantum Lagrangian L as the source of quantum dynamics (leaving k undetermined).

3.1.24. Definition. We define the quantum momentum to be the momentum associated with the quantum Lagrangian, i.e. the fibred morphism over E

$$V_{\boldsymbol{Q}}\mathsf{L} \in \operatorname{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{Q}, \ \boldsymbol{Q}^* \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} T\boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} \Lambda^{1+n}T^*\boldsymbol{E}).$$

Moreover, we consider the fibred morphism over \boldsymbol{E}

$$\mathsf{P} := \mathrm{i} \, h^{\sharp}(V_{\boldsymbol{Q}}\mathsf{L}) \in \mathrm{Fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{Q}, \ \mathbb{T}^* \otimes (\boldsymbol{Q} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} T\boldsymbol{E})) \, . \square$$

3.1.25. Remark. In the above Definition, we have identified V^*J_1Q with $Q^* \bigotimes_E TE$ by means of a natural isomorphism of vector bundles. In the case of classical phase space we have denoted the analogous isomorphism by the tensor ν .

On the other hand, we have the natural isomorphism $\Box : T\boldsymbol{E} \otimes \Lambda^{n+1}T^*\boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^nT^*\boldsymbol{E}$. Hence, we can naturally regard $V_{\boldsymbol{Q}}L$ as a morphism $J_1\boldsymbol{Q} \to \boldsymbol{Q}^* \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{E}} \Lambda^nT^*\boldsymbol{E}$. **3.1.26.** Proposition. For each $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(E, Q)$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\mathsf{P}[\Psi] = u^0 \otimes \left(\psi \,\partial_0 - \mathrm{i} \,G_0^{hk} \left(\partial_h - \mathrm{i} \,A_h \right) \psi \,\partial_k \right) \mathsf{b} \,.\,\Box$$

3.1.27. Definition. We define the quantum Poincaré–Cartan form to be the Poincaré–Cartan form associated with the quantum Lagrangian, i.e. the fibred morphism over Q

 $\Pi := \mathsf{L} + \vartheta \bar{\wedge} V_{\boldsymbol{Q}} \mathsf{L} \in \mathrm{Fib}(J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}, \Lambda^{1+n} T^* \boldsymbol{Q}) . \Box$

3.1.28. Proposition. We have the coordinate expression

$$\Pi = \left(\left(A_0 - \frac{1}{2} A_0^i A_i + \frac{1}{2} k \rho_0 \right) \left(w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} \left(w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2 \right) \right) v^0 \\ + \left(w^2 dw^1 - w^1 dw^2 \right) \wedge v_0^0 \\ - \left(G_0^{ij} \left(w_j^1 dw^1 + w_j^2 dw^2 \right) + A_0^i \left(w^2 dw^1 - w^1 dw^2 \right) \wedge v_i^0 \right).$$

PROOF. We have the coordinate expression

$$\Pi = \mathsf{L} + \partial_{\mathsf{a}}^{\lambda} \, \mathfrak{l}_0 \, \vartheta^{\mathsf{a}} \wedge v_{\lambda}^0 \,,$$

where

$$\vartheta^{\mathbf{a}} = d^{\mathbf{a}} - w^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} d^{\lambda}$$

and

$$v_{\lambda}^{0} = \sqrt{|g|} \iota(\partial_{\lambda}) \left(d^{0} \wedge d^{1} \dots \wedge d^{n} \right).$$

Moreover, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \partial_1^0 \mathbf{l}_0 &= w^2 \\ \partial_2^0 \mathbf{l}_0 &= -w^1 \\ \partial_1^i \mathbf{l}_0 &= -G_0^{ij} \, w_j^1 - A_0^i \, w^2 \\ \partial_2^i \mathbf{l}_0 &= -G_0^{ij} \, w_j^2 + A_0^i \, w^1 \,, \end{split}$$

which yields

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\mathbf{a}}^{\lambda} \mathbf{l}_{0} \, \vartheta^{\mathbf{a}} \wedge v_{\lambda}^{0} &= (w^{2} \, dw^{1} - w^{1} \, dw^{2}) \wedge v_{0}^{0} - \left(G_{0}^{ij} \left(w_{j}^{1} \, dw^{1} - w_{j}^{2} \, dw^{2}\right) + A_{0}^{i} \left(w^{2} \, dw^{1} - w^{1} \, dw^{2}\right) \wedge v_{i}^{0} \\ &+ \left(- \left(w^{2} \, w_{0}^{1} - w^{1} \, w_{0}^{2}\right) + G_{0}^{ij} \left(w_{i}^{1} \, w_{j}^{1} + w_{i}^{2} \, w_{j}^{2}\right) + A_{0}^{i} \left(w^{2} \, w_{i}^{1} - w^{1} \, w_{i}^{2}\right)\right) v^{0} \, . \, \Box \end{split}$$

3.1.29. Definition. We define the *quantum Euler–Lagrange operator* to be the Euler–Lagrange fibred morphism associated with the quantum Lagrangian

$$\mathsf{E} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}, \Lambda^{1+n} T^* \boldsymbol{E} \underset{\boldsymbol{E}}{\otimes} \boldsymbol{Q}^*).$$

Moreover, we define the Schrödinger operator to be the fibred morphism

$$\mathsf{S} \mathrel{\mathop:}= \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{i} (\operatorname{re} \mathsf{h})^{\sharp}(\mathsf{E}) \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_2 \boldsymbol{Q}, \ \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \boldsymbol{Q}) \,. \ \Box$$

3.1.30. Proposition. For each $\Psi \in \text{Sec}(E, Q)$, we have the coordinate expression

$$\mathsf{S}[\Psi] = \left(\left(\stackrel{o}{\nabla}_0 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \psi - \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{i} \left(\stackrel{o}{\Delta}_0 + k \rho_0 \right) \psi \right) \right) u^0 \otimes \mathfrak{b} \,,$$

where

$$\overset{o}{\nabla}_{0}\psi := (\partial_{0} - \mathrm{i} A_{0})\psi$$

$$\overset{o}{\Delta}_{0}\psi := \left(G_{0}^{hk} \left(\partial_{h} - \mathrm{i} A_{h}\right)\left(\partial_{k} - \mathrm{i} A_{k}\right) + \frac{\partial_{h}(G_{0}^{hk}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\left(\partial_{k} - \mathrm{i} A_{k}\right)\right)\psi . \Box$$

We stress that $\frac{m}{\hbar}$ has been incorporated in G.

Thus, we assume the generalised Schrödinger equation

 $S[\Psi] = 0$

as quantum dynamical equation.

3.2 Symmetries of the quantum framework

In the following I study the v.fs which preserve the quantum structure. The special subalgebras play an essential role. I classify systematically the vector fields of the quantum bundle and the extended quantum bundle. We find that the vector fields which preserve the full quantum structure are generated by functions of $\operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. Moreover, the map which associates with a function f the resp. symmetry of the quantum structure is an isomorphism of Lie algebras.

3.2.1 Symmetries of the complex linear structure structure

3.2.1. Proposition. Let us consider a vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$ projectable on $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$. Then, Y is (real) linear over X if and only if its coordinate expression is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y^{a}_{b} w^{b} \partial_{a}, \quad \text{with} \quad X^{\lambda}, Y^{a}_{b} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}). \square$$

1) f is complex linear,

$$f \circ \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{i} \circ f,$$

3) the coordinate expression of f is of the type

$$f = f_{\rm b}^{\rm a} w^{\rm b} \otimes {\mathfrak b}_{\rm a}$$
, with $f_1^1 = f_2^2$, $f_2^1 = -f_1^2$,

4) the coordinate expression of f is of the type

$$f = (f_1^1 + i f_1^2) (w^1 \otimes b_1 + w^2 \otimes b_2), \quad \text{with} \quad f_1^1 = f_2^2, \quad f_2^1 = -f_1^2,$$

5)
$$f = (f_1^1 + i f_1^2) \mathbb{I}.$$

PROOF. The equivalence 1) \Leftrightarrow 2) follows immediately from the definition of complex linearity. Moreover, we have

$$f \circ \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{i} \circ f,$$

if and only if

$$f_1^1 - f_2^2 = 0$$
, $f_2^1 + f_1^2 = 0$. QED

3.2.3. Proposition. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(Q, TQ)$ projectable on $X \in \text{Sec}(E, TE)$ and (real) linear over X. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is complex linear,

2)
$$L[Y] (i \mathbb{I}) = 0,$$

3) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}} w^{\mathrm{b}} \partial_{\mathrm{a}}, \quad \text{with} \quad X^{\lambda}, Y^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}} \in \mathrm{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \quad Y^{1}_{1} = Y^{2}_{2} Y^{1}_{2} = -Y^{2}_{1},$$

4) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (Y_1^1 + \mathrm{i} Y_1^2) \left(w^1 \partial_1 + w^2 \partial_2 \right), \quad \text{with} \quad X^{\lambda}, Y_1^1, Y_1^2 \in \mathrm{Map}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}),$$

5) the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (Y_1^1 + \mathrm{i} Y_1^2) \mathbb{I}, \quad \text{with} \quad X^{\lambda}, Y_1^1, Y_1^2 \in \mathrm{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$$

PROOF. The equivalence of 1, 3, 4) and 5) follows from the above Lemma. Moreover, the equivalence of 2) and 3) follows from the coordinate expression

$$L[Y] (i \mathbb{I}) = (-Y_1^2 w^1 - Y_2^2 w^2 - Y_2^1 w^1 + Y_1^1 w^2) \partial_1 + (Y_1^1 w^1 + Y_2^1 w^2 - Y_2^2 w^1 + Y_1^2 w^2) \partial_2 . \text{QED}$$

Analogous results hold for the extended quantum bundle.

3.2.4. Proposition. Let us consider a vector field $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ projectable on $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$. Then, Y^{\uparrow} is (real) linear over X^{\uparrow} if and only if its coordinate expression is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X_0^i \partial_i^0 + Y_b^a w^b \partial_a, \quad \text{with} \quad X^{\lambda}, X_0^i, Y_b^a \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}). \square$$

3.2.5. Lemma. Let $f \in Fib(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ be (real) linear. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) f is complex linear,

$$f \circ \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{i} \circ f,$$

3) the coordinate expression of f is of the type

$$f = f^{\mathrm{a}}_{\mathrm{b}} w^{\mathrm{b}} \otimes \mathfrak{b}_{\mathrm{a}}, \qquad \mathrm{with} \qquad f^{1}_{1} = f^{2}_{2}, \quad f^{1}_{2} = -f^{2}_{1},$$

4) the coordinate expression of f is of the type

$$f = (f_1^1 + i f_1^2) (w^1 \otimes b_1 + w^2 \otimes b_2), \quad \text{with} \quad f_1^1 = f_2^2, \quad f_2^1 = -f_1^2,$$

5)
$$f = (f_1^1 + \mathrm{i} f_1^2) \mathbb{I} . \square$$

3.2.6. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ projectable on $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1\mathbf{E}, TJ_1\mathbf{E})$ and (real) linear over X^{\uparrow} . Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is complex linear,

2)
$$L[Y^{\uparrow}] (\mathbf{i} \mathbb{I}) = 0$$
,

3) the coordinate expression of Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \,\partial_{\lambda} + Y_0^i \,\partial_i^0 + Y_b^a \,w^b \,\partial_a \,,$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, Y_0^i, Y_b^a \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \quad Y_1^1 = Y_2^2 \ Y_2^1 = -Y_1^2,$$

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y_0^i \partial_i^0 + (Y_1^1 + \mathrm{i} Y_1^2) \left(w^1 \partial_1 + w^2 \partial_2 \right),$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, Y_0^i, Y_1^1, Y_1^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}),$$

5) the coordinate expression of Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + Y_0^i \partial_i^0 + (Y_1^1 + \mathrm{i} Y_1^2) \mathbb{I},$$

with

$$X^{\lambda}, Y_0^i, Y_1^1, Y_1^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) . \square$$

3.2.2 Symmetries of the Hermitian metric of Q

First, we classify the vector fields of Q, which preserve the Hermitian metric.

3.2.7. Remark. The Hermitian metric h can be naturally regarded as a section

$$h: \boldsymbol{Q} \to V_{\boldsymbol{E}}^* \boldsymbol{Q} \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{Q}} V_{\boldsymbol{E}}^* \boldsymbol{Q} \bigotimes_{\boldsymbol{Q}} \Lambda^3 V_{\boldsymbol{T}}^* \boldsymbol{Q} \,,$$

where $V_{\boldsymbol{E}}^*\boldsymbol{Q}$ denotes the vertical dual with respect to the fibring of \boldsymbol{Q} over \boldsymbol{E} and $V_{\boldsymbol{T}}^*\boldsymbol{Q}$ denotes the vertical dual with respect to the fibring of \boldsymbol{Q} over \boldsymbol{T} . We have the coordinate expression

$$\mathfrak{h} = \left((\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2) + \mathrm{i} \, (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1) \right) \otimes \eta.$$

Accordingly, if $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$, is projectable on \boldsymbol{E} and \boldsymbol{T} , then the Lie derivative L[Y]h is well defined (in spite of the fact that h is vertical valued). \Box

3.2.8. Definition. A vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(Q, TQ)$ is said to be an *infinitesimal* symmetry (*i.s.*) of **h** if it is projectable on E and T and fulfills the equality

$$L[Y]\,\mathbf{h}=0\,.$$

A vector field $Y \in \text{Sec}(Q, TQ)$ is said to be *Hermitian* if it is (real) linear projectable on E and projectable on T and fulfills the equality

$$L[Y]$$
 h = 0. \Box

3.2.9. Remark. If $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$, is projectable on \boldsymbol{E} and \boldsymbol{T} , then we obtain, for each $\Phi, \Psi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$,

$$L[Y]\left(\mathfrak{h}(\Phi, \Psi)\right) = (L[Y]\mathfrak{h})(\Phi, \Psi) + \mathfrak{h}(L[Y]\Phi, \Psi) + \mathfrak{h}(\Phi, L[Y]\Psi),$$

and, if additionally Y is linear over \boldsymbol{E} ,

$$L[Y]\left(\mathfrak{h}(\Phi, \Psi)\right) = (L[Y]\mathfrak{h})(\Phi, \Psi) + \mathfrak{h}(Y.\Phi, \Psi) + \mathfrak{h}(\Phi, Y.\Psi).$$

PROOF. It follows immediately from the Leibnitz rule of the Lie derivative, by regarding Φ and Ψ as vertical valued vector fields of Q, via pullback. QED

3.2.10. Lemma. Let $X \in Pro(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ and $\Psi, \Phi \in Sec(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$. Then, we have

$$L[X](\mathfrak{h}(\Psi,\Phi)) = \nabla[K']_X(\mathfrak{h}(\Psi,\Phi)) + \mathfrak{h}(\Psi,\Phi) \operatorname{div} X$$

PROOF. We have

$$abla [K'] \eta = 0, \qquad L[X] \eta = \operatorname{div} X \eta.$$

where K' is the linear connection induced on the vector bundle $V \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$ by the linear connection K. Hence, we obtain

$$L[X](\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \Phi)) = L[X](\bar{\psi}\phi\eta) = X.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta + (\bar{\psi}\phi) \operatorname{div} X\eta$$

$$\nabla[K']_X(\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \Phi)) = \nabla[K']_X(\bar{\psi}\phi\eta) = X.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta + (\bar{\psi}\phi)\nabla[K']_X\eta = X.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta. \text{QED}$$

Now, we classify the i.s.'s of h and the Hermitian vector fields. For this purpose, we need several preliminary results.

3.2.11. Lemma. Let $Y \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$ be projectable on $X \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ and

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = \partial_2 Y^2 := r \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} R), \qquad \partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1 := s \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{Q}, \boldsymbol{I} R).$$

Then, the coordinate expression of Y is of the type

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + i s) \mathbb{I} + c^{a} \partial_{a}, \quad \text{with} \quad r, s, c^{a} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} R).$$

PROOF. By integrating the equations

 $\partial_1 Y^1 = r$ and $\partial_2 Y^2 = r$

on the affine fibres of the quantum bundle, we obtain

$$Y^1 = r w^1 + a^1$$
 and $Y^2 = r w^2 + a^2$,

where

*)
$$a^1, a^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{Q}, \mathbb{R}), \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_1 a^1 = 0 = \partial_2 a^2.$$

Then, the equation

$$\partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1$$

reads

**)
$$\partial_1 a^2 = -\partial_2 a^1.$$

Moreover, (\ast) and $(\ast\ast)$ yield

$$\partial_1 a^2 = s$$
 and $\partial_2 a^1 = -s$, with $s \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$,

hence, by integrating the above equations on the affine fibres of the quantum bundle,

$$a^1 = -s \, w^2 + c^1$$
 and $a^2 = s \, w^1 + c^2$, with $c^1, \, c^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(E, I\!\!R)$.

Therefore, we obtain

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + r (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + s (w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1}) + c^{1} \partial_{1} + c^{2} \partial_{2}$$
$$= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + i s) (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + c^{1} \partial_{1} + c^{2} \partial_{2}. \text{ QED}$$

3.2.12. Lemma. Let $Y \in Sec(\boldsymbol{Q}, V\boldsymbol{Q})$ and $r \in Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{C})$ and suppose that

$$h(L[Y] \Psi, \Phi) + h(\Psi, L[Y] \Phi) = r h(\Psi, \Phi), \quad \forall \Psi, \Phi \in Sec(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}).$$

Then, it turns out that $r \in Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and Y is of the type

$$Y = (\mathrm{i}\,s - \frac{1}{2}\,r)\,\mathbb{I} + c^{\mathrm{a}}\,\partial_{\mathrm{a}}\,, \qquad \text{with} \qquad s, \, c^{\mathrm{a}} \in \mathrm{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)\,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$r h(\Psi, \Phi) = r \left(\Psi^1 \Phi^1 + \Psi^2 \Phi^2 \right) + r i \left(\Psi^1 \Phi^2 - \Psi^2 \Phi^1 \right).$$

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} &L[Y] \Psi = -(\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1) \,\partial_1 - (\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2) \,\partial_2 \\ &L[Y] \Phi = -(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1) \,\partial_1 - (\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2) \,\partial_2 \,, \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} h(L[Y] \Psi, \Phi) + h(\Psi, L[Y] \Phi) &= -(\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1) \,\Phi^1 - (\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2) \,\Phi^2 \\ &- i \left(\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1\right) \Phi^2 + i \left(\Psi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2\right) \Phi^1 \\ &- \Psi^1 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1\right) - \Psi^2 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2\right) \\ &- i \,\Psi^1 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2\right) + i \,\Psi^2 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1\right). \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$h(L[Y] \Psi, \Phi) + h(\Psi, L[Y] \Phi) = r h(\Psi, \Phi)$$

if and only

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = \partial_2 Y^2 = -\frac{1}{2}r$$
 and $\partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1$.

Hence, the result follows from Lemma 3.2.11. QED

3.2.13. Lemma. Let us consider a function $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and two observers o and $\bar{o} = o + v$.

Then, we have

$$\overset{\bar{o}}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\,\overset{\bar{o}}{f}\,\mathbb{I} = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\,\overset{o}{f}\,\mathbb{I}\,.$$

PROOF. Let us refer to a quantum basis ${\tt b}$ and to a quantum chart adapted to o and ${\tt b}.$ We have

$${}^{\bar{o}}_{\mathbf{Y}}(X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\,{}^{\bar{o}}_{f}\mathbb{I} = \chi''[\mathfrak{b}](X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\,(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},\bar{o}],\,X[f]\rangle + {}^{\bar{o}}_{f})\mathbb{I}$$

Moreover, by recalling the formula

$$A[\mathbf{b}, \bar{o}] = A[\mathbf{b}, o] - \frac{1}{2}G(v, v) + \nu[o] \,\lrcorner\, G^{\flat}(v) \,,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},\bar{o}], \, X[f] \rangle + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},o], \, X[f] \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \, \langle f^{\shortparallel}, G(v,v) \rangle + G(v,\nu[o](X[f])) + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},o], \, X[f] \rangle - \left(\frac{1}{2} \, f^0 \, G^0_{ij} \, \bar{o}^i_0 \, \bar{o}^j_0 + G^0_{ij} \, f^i \, \bar{o}^j_0 \right) + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},o], \, X[f] \rangle - (f - \overset{o}{f}) \circ \bar{o} \right) + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},o], \, X[f] \rangle - (f \circ \bar{o} - \overset{o}{f}) + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathrm{i} \left(\langle A[\mathfrak{b},o], \, X[f] \rangle + (f \circ \bar{o} - \overset{o}{f}) + \overset{\bar{o}}{f} \right) \mathbb{I} \end{split}$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\overset{\bar{o}}{\Psi}(X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\overset{\bar{o}}{f}\mathbb{I} = \overset{o}{\Psi}(X[f]) + \mathrm{i}\overset{o}{f}\mathbb{I}.\mathrm{QED}$$

3.2.14. Theorem. Let $Y \in Sec(Q, TQ)$ be projectable on E and T. The following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is an i.s. of h;

2) with reference to an observer o, we have the expression

$$Y \equiv Y[f] + C = \overset{o}{\mathsf{Y}}(X[f]) + (\mathrm{i}\,\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathrm{div}\,X[f])\,\mathbb{I} + C\,,$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $C \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$;

3) with reference to a quantum basis b and to an observer o, we have the expression

$$Y = \chi^{\shortparallel}[\mathfrak{b}](X[f]) + \left(\mathfrak{i}(A[\mathfrak{b},o](X[f]) + \overset{o}{f}) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]\right)\mathbb{I} + C$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $C \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$;

4) we have the coordinate expression

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + g \left(w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{i} (X^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \left(w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2} \right) + C^{a} \partial_{a}$$
$$= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + \left(i g - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{i} (X^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \left(w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2} \right) + C^{a} \partial_{a},$$

where $X^{\lambda}, C^{a}, g \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}).$

Moreover, if the quantum chart in 4) is adapted to the quantum basis b and to the observer o, then we obtain

$$X = X[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i \,, \qquad g = f^0 + A_0 \,f^0 - A_i \,f^i \,.$$

Indeed, the expression Y[f] in 2) does not depend on the choice of the observer o.

PROOF. Let us prove the equivalence $1) \Leftrightarrow 2$). We can split Y into its horizontal and vertical components as

 $Y = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X) + \bar{Y}$ where $\bar{Y} := \nu[\overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}](Y)$.

Now, Y is an i.s. of h if and only if, for each $\Psi, \Phi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$,

$$L[X](h(\Psi, \Phi)) = h(L[Y]\Psi, \Phi) + h(\Psi, L[Y]\Phi)$$

i.e., in virtue of Lemma 3.2.10, if and only if

$$\nabla [K']_X (\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \Phi)) + \operatorname{div} X \,\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \Phi) =$$

= $\mathfrak{h}(\nabla [\overset{o}{\Psi}]_X \Psi, \Phi) + \mathfrak{h}(\Psi, \nabla [\overset{o}{\Psi}]_X \Phi) + \mathfrak{h}(L[\bar{Y}] \Psi, \Phi) + \mathfrak{h}(\Psi, L[\bar{Y}] \Phi),$

i.e., in virtue of the Hermitianity of $\overset{o}{\Psi}$, if and only if

$$\operatorname{div} X \operatorname{h}(\Psi, \Phi) = \operatorname{h}(L[\bar{Y}] \Psi, \Phi) + \operatorname{h}(\Psi, L[\bar{Y}] \Phi),$$

i.e., in virtue of Lemma 3.2.12 (by setting $\stackrel{o}{f} \equiv s$), if and only if

$$\bar{Y} = (\mathrm{i} \stackrel{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X) \mathbb{I} + C, \quad \text{with} \quad \stackrel{o}{f} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}), \quad C \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}).$$

Hence, Y is an i.s. of h if and only if it is of the type

$$Y = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X) + (\mathrm{i}\,\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div} X)\,\mathbb{I} + C\,,$$

with

$$X \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}), \qquad \stackrel{o}{f} \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R), \qquad C \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$$

Moreover, we recall that the map

Quan
$$(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to (\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}), \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)) : f \mapsto (X[f], \stackrel{o}{f})$$

is a bijection. Hence, \boldsymbol{Y} is Hermitian if and only if it is of the type

$$Y = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[f]) + (i\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X) \mathbb{I} + C,$$

with

$$f \in \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}), \qquad C \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}).$$

Eventually, Y[f] does not depend on the choice of the observer o in virtue of Lemma 3.2.13.

Then, the equivalences 2) \Leftrightarrow 3) and 3) \Leftrightarrow 4) follow easily from the expression of the observed quantum connection.

We can also prove the equivalence 1) \Leftrightarrow 4) directly in coordinates in the following way. We have

$$\begin{split} L[Y] \, \mathfrak{h} &= \left(\partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \otimes \check{d^{1}} + \check{d^{1}} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} + \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \otimes \check{d^{2}} + \check{d^{2}} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \\ &+ \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d^{1}} \otimes \check{d^{1}} + \check{d^{2}} \otimes \check{d^{2}}\right) \\ &+ \operatorname{i} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \otimes \check{d^{2}} + \operatorname{i} \check{d^{1}} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} - \operatorname{i} \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \otimes \check{d^{1}} + \operatorname{i} \check{d^{2}} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d^{\mathbf{a}}} \\ &+ \operatorname{i} \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d^{1}} \otimes \check{d^{2}} - \check{d^{2}} \otimes \check{d^{1}}\right)\right) \otimes \eta \end{split}$$

$$= (\partial_2 Y^{-} (d^2 \otimes d^2 + d^2 \otimes d^2) + \partial_1 Y^{-} (d^2 \otimes d^2 + d^2 \otimes d^2) + \partial_1 Y^{1} (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1) + \partial_2 Y^{2} (\check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2) + \operatorname{div} X (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2) + \operatorname{i} \partial_1 Y^{1} (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1) + \operatorname{i} \partial_2 Y^{2} (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1) + \operatorname{i} \partial_2 Y^{1} (\check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2) + \operatorname{i} \partial_1 Y^{2} (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1) + \operatorname{i} \operatorname{div} X (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 - \check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1)) \otimes \eta$$

Hence, L[Y] h = 0 if and only if

$$\partial_1 Y^1 + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X = 0$$
$$\partial_2 Y^2 + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X = 0$$
$$\partial_2 Y^1 + \partial_1 Y^2 = 0$$

i.e. if and only if

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = \partial_2 Y^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X$$

 $\partial_2 Y^1 + \partial_1 Y^2 = 0.$

Therefore, Lemma 3.2.11 yields the equivalence $1) \Leftrightarrow 4$). QED

3.2.15. Remark. Condition 2) in the above theorem shows that each i.s. of h is an affine vector field, whose fibre derivative is a complex linear vector field. \Box

3.2.16. Theorem. Let $Y \in Sec(Q, TQ)$ be projectable on E and T.

The following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y is Hermitian;

2) with reference to an observer o, we have the expression

$$Y \equiv Y[f] = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[f]) + (\mathrm{i}\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]) \mathbb{I},$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$;

3) with reference to a quantum basis b and to an observer o, we have the expression

$$Y = \chi^{\shortparallel}[\mathfrak{b}](X[f]) + \left(\mathrm{i}\left(A[\mathfrak{b},o]\left(X[f]\right) + \stackrel{o}{f}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div}X[f]\right)\mathbb{I},$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$;

4) we have the coordinate expression

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + g \left(w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{i} (X^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \left(w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2} \right)$$
$$= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + \left(i g - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{i} (X^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \left(w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2} \right),$$

where $X^{\lambda}, g \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}}).$

Indeed, the expression Y[f] in 2) does not depend on the choice of the observer o. Moreover, let us suppose that the above conditions be fulfilled. If the quantum chart in

4) is adapted to the quantum basis b and to the observer o, then we obtain

$$X = X[f] = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i \,, \qquad g = \stackrel{o}{f} + A_0 \,f^0 - A_i \,f^i \,.$$

PROOF. This Theorem is a particular case of the above Theorem, with the additional condition of the linearity of Y. QED

The sheaf of Hermitian vector fields is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}).$$

3.2.17. Definition. For each $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, the vector field

$$Y[f] := \overset{o}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[f]) + (\operatorname{i} \overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f]) \mathbb{I}$$

is called the quantum lift of f and the quantum prolongation of $X[f] \in \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}). \square$

3.2.18. Corollary. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. If Y[f] is vertical, then

$$Y[f] = i f \mathbb{I}$$
 and $f \in Map(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$.

PROOF. If $\overset{o}{\mathfrak{Y}}(X[f]) = 0$, then X[f] = 0. Hence, div X[f] = 0 and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I})$. QED

3.2.19. Corollary. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$. If Y[f] is $\overset{o}{\mathbf{U}}$ -horizontal, with respect to a certain observer o, then

$$f \in \text{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} R)$$
 and $\stackrel{o}{f} = 0$.

PROOF. If $i \stackrel{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] = 0$, then we have separately $i \stackrel{o}{f} = 0$ and $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] = 0$. QED

3.2.20. Theorem. For each $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$, we have

$$\left[Y[f], \, Y[g]\right] = Y\left[\,\llbracket f, g\,\rrbracket\,\right].$$

Hence, the sheaf $\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket and the map

 $\operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \to \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) : f \mapsto Y[f]$

is a morphism of Lie algebras. Even more, this map is an isomorphism of Lie algebras. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y[f] \mapsto X[f]$$

is a central extension of Lie algebras by $Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$.

PROOF. Let us prove that the map $f\mapsto Y[f]$ is a morphism of Lie algebras. We have

$$\begin{split} \left[Y[f], Y[g]\right] &:= \left[\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[f]) + (\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]) \,\mathbb{I}, \quad \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[g]) + (\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]) \,\mathbb{I}\right] \\ &= \left[\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[f]), \, \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[g])\right] \\ &+ \left[\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[f]), \, \left(\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]\right) \,\mathbb{I}\right] + \left[\left(\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]\right) \,\mathbb{I}, \, \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{Y}}}(X[g])\right] \\ &+ \left[\left(\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]\right) \,\mathbb{I}, \, \left(\operatorname{i}\overset{\circ}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]\right) \,\mathbb{I}\right]. \end{split}$$

Moreover, in virtue of Lemma 1.2.1 and of our assumptions on the quantum connection, we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{H}}(X[f]), \ \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{H}}(X[g]) \end{bmatrix} = \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{H}} \left(X \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right) + i(X[g]) i(X[f]) R[\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{H}}] \\ = \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{H}} \left(X \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(i(X[g]) i(X[f]) \Phi[o] \right) \mathbf{i} \rrbracket.$$

Furthermore, in virtue of Lemma 1.2.8, we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{H}}}(X[f]), & (\operatorname{i}\overset{o}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]) \mathbb{I} \end{bmatrix} = \left(X[f].(\operatorname{i}\overset{o}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]) \right) \mathbb{I} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\mathsf{H}}}(X[g]), & (\operatorname{i}\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]) \mathbb{I} \end{bmatrix} = \left(X[g].(\operatorname{i}\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]) \right) \mathbb{I}$$

Additionally, in virtue of Lemma 1.2.9, we obtain

$$\left[\left(\operatorname{i} \overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] \right) \mathbb{I}, \quad \left(\operatorname{i} \overset{o}{g} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[g] \right) \mathbb{I} \right] = 0.$$

Hence, in virtue of Lemma 2.3.29 and Lemma 2.1.15, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[Y[f], Y[g]\right] &= \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\Psi}} \left(X \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(i(X[g]) i(X[f]) \Phi[o]\right) \mathbf{i} \,\mathbb{I} \\ &+ \left(\mathbf{i} \left(X[f] \overset{o}{.} \overset{o}{g} - X[g] \overset{o}{.} \overset{o}{f}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(X[f] . \operatorname{div} X[g] - X[g] . \operatorname{div} X[f])\right) \,\mathbb{I} \\ &= \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\Psi}} \left(X \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(i(X[g]) i(X[f]) \Phi[o]\right) \mathbf{i} \,\mathbb{I} \\ &+ \left(\mathbf{i} \left(X[f] \overset{o}{.} \overset{o}{g} - X[g] \overset{o}{.} \overset{o}{f}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(X[f] . \operatorname{div} X[g] - X[g] . \operatorname{div} X[f])\right) \,\mathbb{I} \\ &= \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\Psi}} \left(X \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right) + \left(\mathbf{i} \llbracket f \overset{o}{.} \overset{o}{g} \rrbracket - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} \left(\llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right)\right). \end{split}$$

Next, let us prove that the map $f \mapsto Y[f]$ is a bijection. In fact, if $f, g \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$, and

$$\overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[f]) + (\mathrm{i}\overset{o}{f} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f]) \mathbb{I} = \overset{o}{\mathbf{\Psi}}(X[g]) + (\mathrm{i}\overset{o}{g} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[g]) \mathbb{I},$$

then we obtain

$$X[f] = X[g]$$
 and $\overset{o}{f} = \overset{o}{g}$,

hence

f = g .

Eventually, let us prove that the map $Y[f] \mapsto X[f]$ is a central extension by $Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$. In fact, this map is surjective and its kernel is constituted by the Hermitian vector fields of the type

$$Y[f] = \mathrm{i} \stackrel{o}{f} \mathbb{I},$$

which are in bijection with the functions of E. Moreover, these functions commute with all quantisable functions with respect to the special bracket. QED

3.2.3 Symmetries of the Hermitian metric of Q^{\uparrow}

Next, we classify the vector fields of Q^{\uparrow} , which preserve the Hermitian metric.

3.2.21. Remark. The Hermitian metric h^{\uparrow} can be naturally regarded as a section

$$\mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}: \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow} \to V^* \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow} \underset{\boldsymbol{Q}}{\otimes} V^* \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, \underset{\boldsymbol{Q}}{\otimes} \Lambda^3 V_{\boldsymbol{T}}^* \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow},$$

where $V_{\boldsymbol{E}}^* \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ denotes the vertical dual with respect to the fibring of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ over \boldsymbol{E} and $V_{\boldsymbol{T}}^* \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ denotes the vertical dual with respect to the fibring of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ over \boldsymbol{T} . We have the coordinate expression

$$\mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} = \left((\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2) + \mathrm{i} \, (\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1) \right) \otimes \eta$$

Accordingly, if $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is projectable on $J_1\mathbf{E}$ and \mathbf{T} , then the Lie derivative $L[Y^{\uparrow}]\mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}$ is well defined (in spite of the fact that \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} is vertical valued). \Box

3.2.22. Definition. A vector field $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is said to be an *infinitesimal* symmetry (*i.s.*) of \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} if it is projectable on $J_1\mathbf{E}$ and \mathbf{T} and fulfills the equality

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}]\,\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}=0$$
 .

A vector field $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is said to be *Hermitian* if it is (real) linear projectable on $J_1\mathbf{E}$ and projectable on \mathbf{T} and fulfills the equality

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}] \, \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} = 0 \, . \, \Box$$

3.2.23. Remark. If $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is projectable on $J_1\mathbf{E}$ and \mathbf{T} , then we obtain, for each $\Phi, \Psi \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{Q})$,

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}]\left(\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Phi, \Psi)\right) = (L[Y^{\uparrow}]\,\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow})(\Phi, \Psi) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}\left(L[Y^{\uparrow}]\,\Phi, \Psi\right) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}\left(\Phi, L[Y^{\uparrow}]\,\Psi\right),$$

and, if additionally Y^{\uparrow} is linear over $J_1 E$,

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}]\left(\mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}(\Phi, \Psi)\right) = (L[Y^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow})(\Phi, \Psi) + \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}\left(Y^{\uparrow}.\Phi, \Psi\right) + \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}\left(\Phi, Y^{\uparrow}.\Psi\right).$$

PROOF. It follows immediately from the Leibnitz rule of the Lie derivative, by regarding Φ and Ψ as vertical valued vector fields of Q^{\uparrow} , via pullback. QED

3.2.24. Lemma. Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $\Psi, \Phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$. Then, we have $L[X^{\uparrow}](h^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi)) = X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner \, \nabla[K'](h^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi)) + h^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi) \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}$.

PROOF. We have

$$\nabla[K'] \eta = 0, \qquad L[X^{\uparrow}] \eta = \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \eta,$$

where K' is the linear connection induced on the vector bundle $V \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$ by the linear connection K.

Hence, we obtain

$$L[X^{\uparrow}](\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi)) = L[X^{\uparrow}](\bar{\psi}\phi\eta) = X^{\uparrow}.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta + (\bar{\psi}\phi)\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}\eta$$
$$X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\,\nabla[K'](\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi)) = X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\,\nabla[K'](\bar{\psi}\phi\eta) = X^{\uparrow}.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta + (\bar{\psi}\phi)X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\,\nabla[K']\eta = X^{\uparrow}.(\bar{\psi}\phi)\eta.\operatorname{QED}$$

Now, we classify the i.s.'s of h^{\uparrow} and the Hermitian vector fields. For this purpose, we need several preliminary results.

3.2.25. Lemma. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ be projectable on $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ and

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = \partial_2 Y^2 := r \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}), \qquad \partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1 := s \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, \boldsymbol{R}).$$

Then, the coordinate expression of Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + \mathrm{i}\,s) \,\mathbb{I} + C^{\mathrm{a}} \partial_{\mathrm{a}}, \qquad \text{with} \qquad r, \, s, \, C^{\mathrm{a}} \in \mathrm{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \,\mathbb{I}\!\!R)$$

PROOF. By integrating the equations

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = r$$
 and $\partial_2 Y^2 = r$

on the affine fibres of the extended quantum bundle, we obtain

$$Y^1 = r w^1 + a^1$$
 and $Y^2 = r w^2 + a^2$,

where

*)
$$a^1, a^2 \in \operatorname{Map}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, \mathbb{R}), \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_1 a^1 = 0 = \partial_2 a^2.$$

Then, the equation

$$\partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1$$

reads

**)
$$\partial_1 a^2 = -\partial_2 a^1$$
.

Moreover, (*) and (**) yield

$$\partial_1 a^2 = s$$
 and $\partial_2 a^1 = -s$, with $s \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$,

hence, by integrating the above equations on the affine fibres of the extended quantum bundle,

$$a^1 = -s w^2 + C^1$$
 and $a^2 = s w^1 + C^2$, with $C^1, C^2 \in \text{Map}(J_1 E, IR)$.

Therefore, we obtain

$$Y = X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + r (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + s (w^{1} \partial_{2} - w^{2} \partial_{1}) + C^{1} \partial_{1} + C^{2} \partial_{2}$$
$$= X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + (r + i s) (w^{1} \partial_{1} + w^{2} \partial_{2}) + C^{1} \partial_{1} + C^{2} \partial_{2} . \text{QED}$$

3.2.26. Lemma. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, V\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ and $r \in \operatorname{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{C})$ and suppose that $h^{\uparrow}(L[Y^{\uparrow}]\Psi, \Phi) + h^{\uparrow}(\Psi, L[Y^{\uparrow}]\Phi) = r h^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi), \quad \forall \Psi, \Phi \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$

Then, it turns out that $r \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$ and Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = (\mathbf{i}\,s - \frac{1}{2}\,r)\,\mathbb{I} + C^{\mathbf{a}}\,\partial_{\mathbf{a}}\,, \qquad \text{with} \qquad s, \, C^{\mathbf{a}} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)\,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$r \, \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \, \Phi) = r \, (\Psi^1 \, \Phi^1 + \Psi^2 \, \Phi^2) + r \, \mathbf{i} \, (\Psi^1 \, \Phi^2 - \Psi^2 \, \Phi^1) \, .$$

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} L[Y^{\uparrow}] \, \Psi &= -(\Psi^1 \, \partial_1 Y^1 + \Psi^2 \, \partial_2 Y^1) \, \partial_1 - (\Psi^1 \, \partial_1 Y^2 + \Psi^2 \, \partial_2 Y^2) \, \partial_2 \\ L[Y^{\uparrow}] \, \Phi &= -(\Phi^1 \, \partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \, \partial_2 Y^1) \, \partial_1 - (\Phi^1 \, \partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \, \partial_2 Y^2) \, \partial_2 \,, \end{split}$$

hence

$$\mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} \left(L[Y^{\uparrow}] \Psi, \Phi \right) + \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} \left(\Psi, L[Y^{\uparrow}] \Phi \right) = -(\Psi^{1} \partial_{1} Y^{1} + \Psi^{2} \partial_{2} Y^{1}) \Phi^{1} - (\Psi^{1} \partial_{1} Y^{2} + \Psi^{2} \partial_{2} Y^{2}) \Phi^{2} \\ - \mathbf{i} \left(\Psi^{1} \partial_{1} Y^{1} + \Psi^{2} \partial_{2} Y^{1} \right) \Phi^{2} + \mathbf{i} \left(\Psi^{1} \partial_{1} Y^{2} + \Psi^{2} \partial_{2} Y^{2} \right) \Phi^{1}$$

$$\begin{split} &-\Psi^1 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1\right) - \Psi^2 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2\right) \\ &-\mathrm{i} \,\Psi^1 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^2 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^2\right) + \mathrm{i} \,\Psi^2 \left(\Phi^1 \,\partial_1 Y^1 + \Phi^2 \,\partial_2 Y^1\right). \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} ig(L[Y^{\uparrow}] \Psi, \Phi ig) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} ig(\Psi, \, L[Y^{\uparrow}] \Phi ig) = r \, \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} (\Psi, \, \Phi)$$

if and only

$$\partial_1 Y^1 = \partial_2 Y^2 = -\frac{1}{2}r$$
 and $\partial_1 Y^2 = -\partial_2 Y^1$.

Hence, the result follows from Lemma 3.2.25. QED

3.2.27. Theorem. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$ be projectable on J_1E and T. The following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of h^{\uparrow} ;

2) we have the expression

$$Y^{\uparrow} \equiv Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] + C^{\uparrow} = \Psi(X^{\uparrow}) + (\mathrm{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}) \mathbb{I} + C^{\uparrow},$$

where $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), \quad f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \text{ and } C^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow});$ 3) we have the coordinate expression

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^0 \,\partial_0 + X^i \,\partial_i + X^i_0 \,\partial_i^0 + \left(\mathrm{i}\,g - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^0 \,\frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_i (X^i \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \mathbb{I} + C^\mathrm{a} \,\partial_\mathrm{a} \,,$$

,

where $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), g \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}), C^{\mathsf{a}} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$

Moreover, let us suppose that the above conditions be fulfilled. Then we obtain

$$g = f - X^0 \left(\frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 - A_0\right) + X^i \left(G^0_{ij} x^j_0 + A_i\right).$$

PROOF. Let us prove the equivalence $1) \Leftrightarrow 2$.

We can split Y^{\uparrow} into its horizontal and vertical components as

 $Y = \mathbf{\Psi}(X) + \bar{Y}^{\uparrow}$ where $\bar{Y} := \nu[\mathbf{\Psi}](Y^{\uparrow})$.

Now, Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} if and only if, for each $\Psi, \Phi \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q})$,

$$L[X^{\uparrow}](h^{\uparrow}(\Psi,\Phi)) = h^{\uparrow}(L[Y^{\uparrow}]\Psi,\Phi) + h^{\uparrow}(\Psi,L[Y^{\uparrow}]\Phi)$$

i.e., in virtue of Lemma 3.2.24, if and only if

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\, \nabla[K'] \big(\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \,\Phi) \big) + \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \,\mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \,\Phi) = \\ = \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\, \nabla[\Psi]\Psi, \,\Phi) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \,X^{\uparrow} \,\lrcorner\, \nabla[\overset{o}{\Psi}]\Phi) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} \big(L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \,\Psi, \,\Phi \big) + \mathfrak{h}^{\uparrow} \big(\Psi, \,L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \,\Phi \big) \end{split}$$

i.e., in virtue of the Hermitianity of **U**, if and only if

$$\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \operatorname{h}^{\uparrow}(\Psi, \Phi) = \operatorname{h}^{\uparrow} \left(L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \Psi, \Phi \right) + \operatorname{h}^{\uparrow} \left(\Psi, \, L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \Phi \right),$$

i.e., in virtue of Lemma 3.2.26 (by setting $f \equiv s$), if and only if

$$\bar{Y}^{\uparrow} = (\mathrm{i}\,f - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathrm{div}\,X^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I} + C, \quad \text{with} \quad f \in \mathrm{Map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,\mathbb{I}\!\!R), \quad C \in \mathrm{Sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}).$$

Hence, Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of h^{\uparrow} if and only if it is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = \operatorname{H}(X^{\uparrow}) + (\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}) \mathbb{I} + C^{\uparrow},$$

with

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), \qquad f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}), \qquad C^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$$

Then, the equivalence 2) \Leftrightarrow 3) follows easily from the expression of the quantum connection.

We can also prove the equivalence 1) \Leftrightarrow 3) directly in coordinates in the following way. We have

$$\begin{split} L[Y^{\uparrow}] \, \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} &= \left(\partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \check{d}^{1} + \check{d}^{1} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} + \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \check{d}^{2} + \check{d}^{2} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \\ &+ \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d}^{1} \otimes \check{d}^{1} + \check{d}^{2} \otimes \check{d}^{2} \right) \\ &+ \mathrm{i} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \check{d}^{2} + \mathrm{i} \, \check{d}^{1} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} - \mathrm{i} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{2} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \check{d}^{1} + \mathrm{i} \, \check{d}^{2} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{1} \, \check{d}^{\mathbf{a}} \\ &+ \mathrm{i} \, \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d}^{1} \otimes \check{d}^{2} - \check{d}^{2} \otimes \check{d}^{1} \right) \right) \otimes \eta \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \left(\partial_2 Y^1 \left(\check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 \right) + \partial_1 Y^2 \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) \\ &+ \partial_1 Y^1 \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) + \partial_2 Y^2 \left(\check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 \right) \\ &+ \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 + \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 \right) \\ &+ \operatorname{i} \partial_1 Y^1 \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) + \operatorname{i} \partial_2 Y^2 \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) \\ &+ \operatorname{i} \partial_2 Y^1 \left(\check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^2 \right) + \operatorname{i} \partial_1 Y^2 \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^2 - \check{d}^2 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) \\ &+ \operatorname{i} \operatorname{div} X \left(\check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 - \check{d}^1 \otimes \check{d}^1 \right) \right) \otimes \eta \end{split}$$

Hence, $L[Y^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{h}^{\uparrow} = 0$ if and only if

$$\partial_1 Y^1 + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} = 0$$
$$\partial_2 Y^2 + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} = 0$$
$$\partial_2 Y^1 + \partial_1 Y^2 = 0$$

i.e. if and only if

$$\begin{split} \partial_1 Y^1 &= \partial_2 Y^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} \\ \partial_2 Y^1 &+ \partial_1 Y^2 = 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Therefore, Lemma 3.2.25 yields the equivalence $1) \Leftrightarrow 3$). QED

3.2.28. Remark. Condition 2) in the above theorem shows that each i.s. of h^{\uparrow} is an affine vector field, whose fibre derivative is a complex linear vector field. \Box

3.2.29. Theorem. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$ be projectable on J_1E and T. The following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is Hermitian;

2) we have the expression

$$Y^{\uparrow} \equiv Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] = \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}) + (\mathrm{i}\, f - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathrm{div}\,X^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I}\,,$$

where $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R});$

3) we have the coordinate expression

$$Y^{\uparrow} = X^0 \,\partial_0 + X^i \,\partial_i + X^i_0 \,\partial_i^0 + \left(\mathrm{i}\,g - \frac{1}{2}\left(X^0 \,\frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_i (X^i \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right)\right) \mathbb{I}\,,$$

where $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), g \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R).$

Moreover, let us suppose that the above conditions be fulfilled. Then we obtain

$$g = f - X^0 \left(\frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 - A_0\right) + X^i \left(G^0_{ij} x^j_0 + A_i\right)$$

PROOF. This Theorem is a particular case of the above Theorem, with the additional condition of the linearity of Y^{\uparrow} . QED

The sheaf of Hermitian vector fields of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ is denoted by

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Her}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$$

3.2.30. Definition. For each $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$, the vector field

$$Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] := \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}, f) + (\mathrm{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}) \mathbb{I}$$

is called the quantum lift of the pair (X^{\uparrow}, f) . \Box

3.2.31. Corollary. Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$. If $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ is vertical, then

$$Y^{\uparrow}[f] = \mathrm{i} f \mathbb{I}$$
 and $X^{\uparrow} = 0$.

PROOF. If $\Psi(X^{\uparrow}) = 0$, then $X^{\uparrow} = 0$. Hence, div $X^{\uparrow} = 0$. QED

3.2.32. Corollary. Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$. If $Y[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ is \mathfrak{A} -horizontal, then

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) \quad \text{and} \quad f = 0.$$

PROOF. If $i f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} = 0$, then we have separately i f = 0 and $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow} = 0$. QED

3.2.33. Proposition. [126] If $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ and $f, \bar{f} \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$, then we have

$$\left[Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow},f], Y^{\uparrow}[\bar{X}^{\uparrow},\bar{f}]\right] = Y^{\uparrow}\left[[X^{\uparrow},\bar{X}^{\uparrow}], (X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f}-\bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f+i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})i(X^{\uparrow})\Omega)\right].$$

Hence, the sheaf $\tilde{\text{Her}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket.

PROOF. By recalling Lemmas 1.2.1, 1.2.8, 1.2.9, 2.1.21, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow},f],\ Y^{\uparrow}[\bar{X}^{\uparrow},\bar{f}]\right] &= \left[\mathbb{Y}(X^{\uparrow}),\ \mathbb{Y}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\right] \\ &+ \left[\mathbb{Y}(X^{\uparrow}),\ (\mathrm{i}\ \bar{f} - \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{div}\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I}\right] - \left[\mathbb{Y}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}),\ (\mathrm{i}\ f - \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{div}\ X^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I}\right] \\ &+ \left[(\mathrm{i}\ f - \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{div}\ X^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I},\ (\mathrm{i}\ \bar{f} - \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{div}\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{Y}\left([X^{\uparrow},\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow}]\right) + 2\,\mathrm{i}\ i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\ \Omega\,\mathbb{I} \\ &+ \left(\mathrm{i}\ (X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f) - \frac{1}{2}\ (X^{\uparrow}.\ \mathrm{div}\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.\ \mathrm{div}\ X^{\uparrow})\right)\,\mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathbb{Y}\left([X^{\uparrow},\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow}]\right) + 2\,\mathrm{i}\ i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\ \Omega\,\mathbb{I} \\ &+ \left(\mathrm{i}\ (X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f) - \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{div}[X^{\uparrow},\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow}]\right)\,\mathbb{I} \\ &= \mathbb{Y}^{\uparrow}\left[[X^{\uparrow},\ \bar{X}^{\uparrow}],\ (X^{\uparrow}.\bar{f} - \bar{X}^{\uparrow}.f + 2\,i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\ i(X^{\uparrow})\,\Omega)\right]. \,\mathrm{QED} \end{split}$$

3.2.4 Projectable Hermitian vector fields of Q^{\uparrow}

In particular, we are interested in Hermitian vector fields of Q^{\uparrow} , which are projectable on Q.

3.2.34. Theorem. A Hermitian vector field $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] \in \tilde{\operatorname{Her}}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$ is projectable on Q if and only if

(i) $f \in \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I} \boldsymbol{R}),$

(ii) X^{\uparrow} is projectable on the tangent lift X[f] of f.

Thus, the Hermitian vector fields of $oldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ projectable on $oldsymbol{Q}$ are of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] = \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}) + (\mathbf{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X9f]) \mathbb{I},$$

i.e., in coordinates, of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} + X^{i}_{0} \partial^{0}_{i} + \left(i \left(f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} + \overset{o}{f}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right)\right) \mathbb{I}$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is any prolongation of X[f].

Moreover, if a vector field $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ as above is projectable on \mathbf{Q} , then its projection is the quantum prolongation of $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$

$$Y[f] \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}),$$

with coordinate expression

$$Y[f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} + \left(i\left(f^{0} + f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0}\sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i}(f^{i}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right)\right)\mathbb{I}.$$

Proof. According to Theorem 3.2.29, the coordinate expression of Hermitian vector fields of Q^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$\begin{split} Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow},f] &= X^{0} \,\partial_{0} + X^{i} \,\partial_{i} + X^{i}_{0} \,\partial^{0}_{i} \\ &+ \left(\mathrm{i} \left(f - X^{0} \left(\frac{1}{2} \,G^{0}_{ij} \,x^{j}_{0} \,x^{j}_{0} - A_{0} \right) + X^{i} \left(G^{0}_{ij} \,x^{j}_{0} + A_{i} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(X^{0} \,\frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{i} (X^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \mathbb{I} \,, \end{split}$$

where $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R).$

Now, if we set

$$f^0 := X^0, \qquad f^i := -X^i, \qquad \stackrel{o}{f} := f - f^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 - f^i G^0_{ij} x^j_0,$$

the above expression becomes

$$Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} + X^{i}_{0} \partial^{0}_{i} + \left(i \left(\stackrel{o}{f} + f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \mathbb{I},$$

where $f^0, f^i, f^i \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}).$

Then, $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ is projectable on Q if and only if

$$f^0, f^i, f \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$$

Moreover, if this condition is fulfilled, then

$$f = f^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 + f^0_i x^i_0 + f^0$$

turns out to be a quantisable function,

$$X = f^0 \,\partial_0 - f^i \,\partial_i$$

turns out to be the tangent prolongation X[f] of f and the projection Y of $Y[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ turns out to be the vector field with coordinate expression

$$Y = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} + \left(i \left(\stackrel{o}{f} + f^{0} A_{0} - f^{i} A_{i} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(f^{0} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} - \frac{\partial_{i} (f^{i} \sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) \right) \mathbb{I} \cdot \text{QED}$$

We denote the sheaf of Hermitian vector fields of Q^{\uparrow} projectable on Q by

$$\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \widetilde{\operatorname{Her}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$$

3.2.35. Theorem. If $f, \bar{f} \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ are prolongations of X[f] and $X[\bar{f}]$, then we obtain

(*)
$$\left[Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f], Y^{\uparrow}[\bar{X}^{\uparrow}, \bar{f}]\right] = Y^{\uparrow}\left[[X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow}], \ \left[\!\left[f, \bar{f}\right]\!\right]\right],$$

where $\llbracket f, \bar{f} \rrbracket \in \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $[X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow}] \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is projectable on the tangent prolongation $[X[f], X\bar{f}]]$.

Hence, the sheaf $\text{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) : Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] \mapsto Y[f]$$

is a morphism of Lie algebras. Its kernel is the horizontal prolongation of the sheaf $\operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, V_{\boldsymbol{E}} J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$.

PROOF. Formula (*) follows immediately from Proposition 3.2.33 and Proposition 2.3.34. Moreover, the Lie bracket of two projectable vector fields is projectable on the Lie bracket of their projections. Hence $\text{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket.

Formula *) shows that the map $\operatorname{Her}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Her}(\mathbf{Q}, T\mathbf{Q})$ is a morphism of Lie algebras. Moreover, the coordinate expressions of $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f]$ and Y[f] show that the kernel of the above map is the natural prolongation of the sheaf (see Remark 3.1.7) $\operatorname{Sec}(J_1\mathbf{E}, V_{\mathbf{E}}J_1\mathbf{E})$. QED

Actually, we are interested in the two distinguished prolongations X^{\uparrow} of X[f], determined, respectively, by the fibred structure of spacetime and by the cosymplectic structure of the phase space.

102

3.2.36. Definition. Let us consider a quantisable function f, the tangent lift X[f] of f, the Hamiltonian prolongation $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{Ham}}[f]$ of X[f], the holonomic prolongation $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]$ of X[f] and the quantum lift Y[f] of f.

The Hermitian vector field of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ projectable on \boldsymbol{Q}

$$Y_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] := Y^{\uparrow}[X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], f] = \operatorname{\mathsf{\Psi}}[X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]] + (\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f]) \mathbb{I},$$

is said to be the Hamiltonian quantum lift of f and the Hamiltonian quantum prolongation of Y[f].

The Hermitian vector field of $\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}$ projectable on \boldsymbol{Q}

$$Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] := Y^{\uparrow}[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f], f] = \mathbf{\Psi}[X_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]] + (\mathrm{i}\,f - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div} X[f])\,\mathbb{I}\,,$$

is said to be the holonomic quantum lift of f and the holonomic quantum prolongation of Y[f]. \Box

We denote the sheaves of Hamiltonian and holonomic vector field of Q^{\uparrow} projectable on Q, respectively, by

 $\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Hol}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$

3.2.37. Theorem. If $f, \overline{f} \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$, then we obtain

$$\begin{split} \begin{bmatrix} Y_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f], \ Y_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\bar{f}] \end{bmatrix} &= Y_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow} \left[\begin{bmatrix} f, \ \bar{f} \end{bmatrix} \right] \\ \begin{bmatrix} Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f], \ Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[\bar{f}] \end{bmatrix} &= Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow} \left[\begin{bmatrix} f, \ \bar{f} \end{bmatrix} \right]. \end{split}$$

Hence, the sheaves $\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ and $\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Hol}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ are closed with respect to the Lie bracket and the maps

Quan
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) : f \mapsto Y_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$$

Quan $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{hol}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) : f \mapsto Y_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]$

are morphisms of Lie algebras. Even more, these maps are isomorphisms of Lie algebras. Moreover, the maps

$$\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) : Y_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto Y[f]$$
$$\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Hol}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Her}(\boldsymbol{Q}, T\boldsymbol{Q}) : Y_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto Y[f]$$

are Lie algebra isomorphisms and the maps

$$\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$$
$$\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Hol}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$$

are central extensions of the Lie algebra $\operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$, by $\operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \otimes \mathrm{i} \mathbb{I}$.

PROOF. The closure of the sheaves follows from Theorem 3.2.35 Theorem 2.3.49, Lemma 1.6.3 and Proposition 3.2.33.

The above isomorphisms and central extensions follow from Theorem 3.2.35 and from the expression of Hermitian vector fields. QED

3.2.5 Symmetries of the quantum connection

Next, we analyze the infinitesimal symmetries of the quantum connection.

3.2.38. Definition. An *infinitesimal symmetry* (*i.s.*) of the quantum connection Ψ is defined to be a vector field $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$, such that

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{0} . \square$$

3.2.39. Lemma. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, we have the following coordinate expression:

$$\begin{split} L[Y^{\uparrow}] \, \mathbf{\mathcal{H}} &= - \, \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{\mu} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\mu} \\ &- \, \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y_{0}^{i} \, d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{i}^{0} \\ &+ \left(-\partial_{\lambda} Y^{\mathbf{a}} + Y^{\mu} \, \partial_{\mu} \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} + Y_{0}^{i} \, \partial_{i}^{0} \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} + Y^{\mathbf{b}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} + \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} \, \partial_{\mu} Y^{\lambda} - \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{b}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} Y^{\mathbf{a}} \right) d^{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \\ &+ \left(\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} \, \partial_{i}^{0} Y^{\lambda} - \partial_{i}^{0} Y^{\mathbf{a}} \right) d_{0}^{i} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \\ &+ \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \partial_{\lambda} \\ &+ \partial_{\mathbf{a}} Y_{0}^{i} \, d^{\mathbf{a}} \otimes \partial_{i}^{0} \\ &+ \, \mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{a}} \, \partial_{\mathbf{b}} Y^{\lambda} \, d^{\mathbf{b}} \otimes \partial_{\mathbf{a}} \, . \, \Box \end{split}$$

3.2.40. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of **H**;

2) the following equalities hold in a chart

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\mathbf{a}}Y^{\lambda} &= 0\\ \partial_{\mathbf{a}}Y^{i} &= 0\\ \partial_{\mathbf{a}}Y^{i} &= 0\\ \partial_{\lambda}Y^{\mathbf{a}} - Y^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} - Y^{i}_{0}\partial^{0}_{i}\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} - \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}Y^{\lambda} + \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{b}}_{\lambda}\partial_{\mathbf{b}}Y^{\mathbf{a}} - Y^{\mathbf{b}}\partial_{\mathbf{b}}\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} &= 0\\ \partial^{0}_{i}Y^{\mathbf{a}} - \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda}\partial^{0}_{i}Y^{\lambda} &= 0 \end{split}$$

PROOF. It follows immediately from Lemma 3.2.39. QED

3.2.41. Corollary. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. be an is an i.s. of Ψ . Then, Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on a vector field $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1E, TJ_1E)$.

PROOF. It follows from the first two equalities of the above system. QED

3.2.42. Lemma. Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$. Then, we have the following coordinate expression

$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = -\left(X_{j} x_{0}^{j} - \gamma_{0j} X^{j} + (\Gamma_{jh} - \Gamma_{hj}) (X^{h} - x_{0}^{h} X^{0}) x_{0}^{j}\right) d^{0} + \left(X_{j} - \gamma_{0j} X^{0} + (\Gamma_{jh} - \Gamma_{hj}) (X^{h} - x_{0}^{h} X^{0})\right) d^{j} - G_{ij}^{0} (X^{j} - x_{0}^{j} X^{0}) d_{0}^{i},$$

where $X_j := G_{ij}^0 X_0^i$.

PROOF. We have

$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = i(X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + X_{0}^{i} \partial_{i}^{0}) \left(G_{ij}^{0} \left(d_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} d^{0} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \theta^{h}\right) \wedge \theta^{j}\right)$$

= $G_{ij}^{0} \left(X_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} X^{0} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \left(X^{h} - x_{0}^{h} X^{0}\right)\right) \theta^{j}$
- $G_{ij}^{0} \left(d_{0}^{i} - \gamma_{00}^{i} d^{0} - \Gamma_{h0}^{i} \theta^{h}\right) \left(X^{j} - x_{0}^{j} X^{0}\right). \text{ QED}$

3.2.43. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent: 1) Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of **U**; 2) Y^{\uparrow} is of the type

$$Y^{\uparrow} = \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}) + \bar{Y}^{\uparrow} \,,$$

where

$$X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}), \qquad \bar{Y}^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, V_{J_1 \boldsymbol{E}} \boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$$

with

$$L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{\Psi} = -i(X^{\uparrow}) \,\Omega \otimes \mathbb{I}.$$

PROOF. If Y^{\uparrow} is projectable on $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$, then we can write

$$Y^{\uparrow} = \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}) + \bar{Y}^{\uparrow} \,,$$

with $\bar{Y}^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}, V_{J_1\boldsymbol{E}}\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$. By assumption, $R[\mathbf{Y}] = \mathrm{i}\,\Omega \otimes \mathbb{I}$. Hence, by recalling Lemma 1.2.2, we obtain

$$L[Y^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{\Psi} = L[\mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow})] \mathbf{\Psi} + L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{\Psi}$$
$$= i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega \otimes (\mathbf{i} \mathbb{I}) + L[\bar{Y}^{\uparrow}] \mathbf{\Psi}. \text{QED}$$

Next, we restrict our attention to i.s. of \mathbf{U} , which are Hermitian vector fields of \mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow} .

3.2.44. Definition. A Hermitian infinitesimal symmetry of Ψ is defined to be a Hermitian vector field of Q^{\uparrow} , which is an i.s. of \mathbf{U} . \Box

The sheaf of Hermitian i.s.'s of **Y** is denoted by

$$\tilde{\operatorname{Cov}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \tilde{\operatorname{Her}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$$

3.2.45. Proposition. Let $Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow}, f] \in \tilde{\operatorname{Her}}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$, with $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1E, TJ_1E)$ and $f \in \operatorname{Map}(J_1E, \mathbb{R})$.

Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1)
$$L[Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow},f]] \mathbf{H} = 0,$$

2)
$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = df, \qquad d(\operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}) = 0.$$

PROOF. By assumption, $R[\mathbf{Y}] = \mathrm{i} \,\Omega \otimes \mathbb{I}$. Hence, in virtue of Theorem 3.2.29, Lemma 1.2.2 and Lemma 1.2.7, we obtain

$$\begin{split} L\big[Y^{\uparrow}[X^{\uparrow},f]\big]\,\mathbf{H} &= L\big[\mathbf{H}[X^{\uparrow}]\big]\,\mathbf{H} + L\big[(\mathrm{i}\,f - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div}X^{\uparrow})\,\mathbb{I}\big]\,\mathbf{H} \\ &= \big(\mathrm{i}\,i[X^{\uparrow}]\,\Omega - \mathrm{i}\,df + \frac{1}{2}\,d(\operatorname{div}X^{\uparrow})\big)\,\mathbb{I}\,. \end{split}$$

Then, the result follows by splitting the above equality into the real and imaginary components. QED

3.2.46. Theorem. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is a Hermitian i.s. of $\mathbf{\Psi}$;

2) we have the expression

$$\begin{split} Y^{\uparrow} &= Y^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] \mathrel{\mathop:}= Y^{\uparrow} \Big[X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f], f \Big] \\ &:= \operatorname{\mathbf{H}}(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f]) + \left(\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f] \right) \mathbb{I} \,, \end{split}$$

where

$$\tau \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \overline{\mathbb{T}}), \quad f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \quad and \quad d(\operatorname{div} X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f]) = 0.$$

PROOF. Let $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}).$

Then, in virtue of Theorem 2.2.4, X^{\uparrow} can be uniquely written as

$$X^{\uparrow} = \gamma(\tau) + (\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat}) \left(X^{\uparrow} \right), \qquad \text{with} \qquad \tau \mathrel{\mathop:}= dt(X^{\uparrow}) \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \ , \bar{\mathbb{T}}) \,.$$

Moreover, if $i[X^{\uparrow}] \Omega = df$, then we obtain

$$X^{\uparrow} = \gamma(\tau) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) := X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f]$$

and

$$f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 E, I\!\!R).$$

Conversely, if $\tau \in \text{Map}(\mathbf{T}, , \overline{\mathbb{T}}), f \in \text{Map}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow} = \gamma(\tau) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)$, then, in virtue of Lemma 2.2.3, we obtain

$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = df - \gamma(df).$$

Moreover, if $f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$, then we obtain

$$i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega = df$$
.

Hence, the Theorem follows from Proposition 3.2.45. QED

3.2.6 Symmetries of the quantum structure

Here we study the infinitesimal symmetries of the full quantum structure, i.e. the vector fields of the extended quantum bundle, which are projectable on the quantum bundle and preserve the linear structure, the complex structure, the Hermitian metric and the quantum connection. These infinitesimal symmetries turn out to preserve the classical structure, as well.

3.2.47. Definition. An *infinitesimal symmetry of the quantum structure* is defined to be a Hermitian infinitesimal symmetry $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ of Ψ , which is projectable on \mathbf{Q} . \Box

We denote the sheaf of i.s.'s of the quantum structure by

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \subset \widetilde{\operatorname{Cov}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$$

We observe that an i.s. of the quantum structure turns out to be projectable with respect to all fibrings of Q^{\uparrow} , i.e. it is projectable on Q, J_1E , E, T.

3.2.48. Theorem. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is an i.s. of the quantum structure;

2) we have the expression

$$\begin{split} Y^{\uparrow} &= Y^{\uparrow}[f] \mathrel{\mathop:}= Y^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] \\ &= \operatorname{\mathbf{H}}[X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f]] + \left(\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f]\right) \mathbb{I}\,, \end{split}$$

with $f \in \operatorname{Self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$.

PROOF. In virtue of Theorem 3.2.34 Y^{\uparrow} is a projectable Hermitian vector field if and only if

$$Y^{\uparrow} = \mathbf{\Psi}(X^{\uparrow}) + (\mathrm{i}\,f - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div} X[f])\,\mathbb{I}\,,$$

where $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is any prolongation of X[f].

In virtue of Theorem 3.2.46, Y^{\uparrow} is a Hermitian i.s. of the quantum connection if and only

$$Y^{\uparrow} = \Psi(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[\tau, f]) + (\mathrm{i}\, f - \frac{1}{2}\,\operatorname{div} X[f])\,\mathbb{I}\,,$$

where

$$\tau \in \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \overline{\mathbb{T}}), \quad f \in \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \quad \text{and} \quad d(\operatorname{div} X_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\dagger}[\tau, f]) = 0.$$

But, by Theorem 2.4.33, $Self(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) = Con(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}) \cap Quan(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{I\!\!R}).$

On the other hand, in virtue of Remark 3.1.8, if a vector field $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ projectable on $J_1\mathbf{E}$ is also projectable on \mathbf{Q} , then X^{\uparrow} is projectable on \mathbf{E} .

Moreover, in virtue of Theorem 2.3.5, if $X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f]$ is projectable on \boldsymbol{E} , then $\tau = f$, hence $X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] = X_{\text{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f]$. QED

We recall (see Theorem 2.4.20 and Theorem 2.4.33) that

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) = \operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$$

3.2.49. Definition. For each $f \in \text{Self}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$, we call the vector field

$$Y^{\uparrow}[f] := Y^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] = Y^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = \operatorname{H}[X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f]] + (\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f]) \,\mathbb{I} \in \operatorname{Sec}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, \, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$$

the quantum lift of $f.\square$

3.2.50. Theorem. The sheaf $Cov(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Cov}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) : f \mapsto Y^{\uparrow}[f]$$

is an isomorphism of Lie algebras. Furthermore, the map

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$$

is a central extension of Lie algebras, by i $\mathbb{R} \otimes \mathbb{I}$.

PROOF. The closure of $\operatorname{Cov}(\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\mathbf{Q}^{\uparrow})$ follows from Theorem 3.2.37 and from the closure of the sheaf $\operatorname{Self}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ with respect to the special bracket.

The isomorphism $\operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Cov}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ follows from the isomorphism $\operatorname{Quan}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}).$

In virtue of Theorem 3.2.37,

$$\operatorname{Her}_{\operatorname{Ham}}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Pro}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y_{\operatorname{Ham}}^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$$

is a central extension by $Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \otimes i \mathbb{I}$.

Moreover, in virtue of Corollary 2.4.6,

$$\operatorname{Con}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Map}(\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R) = I\!\!R \,. \, \operatorname{QED}$$

Eventually, we can restrict the above constructions to the classical generators, by recalling

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) := \operatorname{Self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \cap \operatorname{Time}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \subset \operatorname{Unim}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R).$$

In fact, the vector fields generated by quantisable functions of the above type preserve the affine structure of time.

3.2.51. Definition. An *infinitesimal quantum symmetry* is defined to be an i.s. of the quantum structure, which is also an i.s. of dt. \Box

We denote the sheaf of infinitesimal quantum symmetries by

$$\operatorname{Quan}(oldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow},\,Toldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})\subset\operatorname{Cov}(oldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow},\,Toldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$$
 .

3.2.52. Corollary. Let $Y^{\uparrow} \in \text{Sec}(Q^{\uparrow}, TQ^{\uparrow})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) Y^{\uparrow} is an infinitesimal quantum symmetry;

2) we have the expression

$$\begin{split} Y^{\uparrow} &= Y^{\uparrow}[f] \mathrel{\mathop:}= Y^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f] \\ &= \operatorname{\mathbf{H}}[X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{Ham}}[f]] + \left(\operatorname{i} f - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f]\right) \mathbb{I}, \end{split}$$

with $f \in \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}). \square$

3.2.53. Corollary. The sheaf $\text{Quan}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow})$ is closed with respect to the Lie bracket. Moreover, the map

$$\operatorname{Clas}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R) \to \operatorname{Quan}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) : f \mapsto Y^{\uparrow}[f]$$

is an isomorphism of Lie algebras.

Furthermore, the map

$$\operatorname{Quan}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}, T\boldsymbol{Q}^{\uparrow}) \to \operatorname{Time}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : Y^{\uparrow}[f] \mapsto X[f]$$

is a central extension of Lie algebras, by i $I\!\!R \otimes \mathbb{I}$. \Box

3.3 Quantum Nöther symmetries

3.3.1 Holonomic symmetries of the quantum Lagrangian

I apply the above results to the quantum Lagrangian formalism. It turns out that the (holonomic) vector fields which preserve the quantum Lagrangian are also generated by the function $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$. Moreover, the map which associates with a classical generator the corresponding symmetry of the quantum Lagrangian is an isomorphism of Lie algebras. The standard Lagrangian formalism suggests me to associate with any quantisable function a quantum current. It turns out that the quantum currents which are associated with a function of $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ are conserved along the solutions of the covariant Schrödinger equation.

3.3.1. Proposition. Let us consider a function $f \in \text{Time}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and the associated Hermitian vector field $Y[f] \in \text{Her}(Q, TQ)$. Then, we obtain the holonomic prolongation

$$Y_{\text{hol}}[f] := (Y[f])_{(1)} \in \operatorname{Pro}(J_1 \boldsymbol{Q}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{Q}),$$

with real coordinate expression

$$Y_{\text{hol}}[f] = X[f]^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + (\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^{\lambda}A_{\lambda})(w^{1}b_{2} - w^{2}b_{1}) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f](w^{1}b_{1} + w^{2}b_{2}) \\ + \partial_{\mu}(\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^{\lambda}A_{\lambda})(w^{1}b_{2}^{\mu} - w^{2}b_{1}^{\mu}) - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}(\operatorname{div} X[f])(w^{1}b_{1}^{\lambda} + w^{2}b_{2}^{\lambda}) \\ + (\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^{\lambda}A_{\lambda})(w^{1}_{\mu}b_{2}^{\mu} - w^{2}_{\mu}b_{1}^{\mu}) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div} X[f](w^{1}_{\mu}b_{1}^{\mu} + w^{2}_{\mu}b_{2}^{\mu}) \\ - \partial_{\lambda}X[f]^{\mu}(w^{1}_{\mu}b_{1}^{\lambda} + w^{2}_{\mu}b_{2}^{\lambda}) . \Box$$

3.3.2. Lemma. Let $f \in \text{Time}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{\mathbb{R}})$. Then,

$$L[Y_{\text{hol}}[f]] \mathbf{L} = 0$$

if and only if

$$\begin{split} 0 &= -\partial_0 \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^j (\partial_j A_0 - \partial_0 A_j) + G_0^{ij} A_i (\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda (\partial_j A_\lambda - \partial_\lambda A_j) \\ &- G_0^{jk} (\partial_0 X[f]^k)) + \frac{1}{2} A_i A_j (G_0^{ik} (\partial_k X[f]^j) + G_0^{jk} (\partial_k X[f]^i) - X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda G_0^{ij})) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} k X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda r_0) \,, \\ 0 &= G_0^{ij} (\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda (\partial_j A_\lambda - \partial_\lambda A_j) - G_0^{jm} (\partial_0 X[f]^m)) \\ &+ A_i (G_0^{jk} (\partial_k X[f]^i) + G_0^{ik} (\partial_k X[f]^j) - X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda G_0^{ij})) \,, \\ 0 &= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|g|} G_0^{ij} \partial_i (\operatorname{div} X[f]) (w_j^1 w^1 + w_j^2 w^2) \,, \\ 0 &= \left(G_0^{ik} \sqrt{|g|} (\partial_k X[f]^j) - \frac{1}{2} X[f]^\lambda \sqrt{|g|} (\partial_\lambda G_0^{ij}) \right) (w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2) \,. \end{split}$$

PROOF. We have

$$L[Y_{\text{hol}[f]}] L =$$

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \Big(-\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] \sqrt{|g|} (2A_0 - G_0^{ij} A_i A_j - kr_0) + G_0^{ij} A_i \sqrt{|g|} \partial_j (\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda A_\lambda) \\ &- \sqrt{|g|} \partial_0 (\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda A_\lambda) + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|g|} \partial_\lambda X[f]^\lambda (2A_0 - G_0^{ij} A_i A_j - kr_0) \big) (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) \,, \\ 0 &= \Big(\frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} A_i \operatorname{div} X[f] \sqrt{|g|} + G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} \partial_i (\overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda A_\lambda) + \frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} A_i \operatorname{div} X[f] \sqrt{|g|} \\ &+ G_0^{ik} \sqrt{|g|} A_i (\partial_k X[f]^j) - \sqrt{|g|} \partial_0 X[f]^j - X[f]^\lambda \partial_\lambda (G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} A_i) \\ &- G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} A_i \partial_\lambda X[f]^\lambda \big) (w_j^1 w^2 - w_j^2 w^1) \,, \\ 0 &= \Big(-\frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} \partial_i \operatorname{div} X[f] \Big) (w_j^1 w^1 + w_j^2 w^2) \,, \\ 0 &= \Big(-\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|g|} \operatorname{div} X[f] - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|g|} \operatorname{div} X[f] - \sqrt{|g|} \partial_0 X[f]^0 + G_0^{ik} \sqrt{|g|} A_i \partial_k X[f]^0 \\ &+ X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda \sqrt{|g|}) + \sqrt{|g|} (\partial_\lambda X[f]^\lambda) \Big) (w_0^1 w^2 - w_0^2 w^1) \,, \\ 0 &= \Big(\frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} \operatorname{div} X[f] + G_0^{ik} \sqrt{|g|} \partial_k X[f]^j + \frac{1}{2} X[f]^\lambda \partial_\lambda (G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} \sqrt{|g|} (\partial_\lambda X[f]^\lambda) \Big) (w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2) \,. \end{split}$$

Performing the partial derivatives, we find the following equivalent system

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \left(G_{0}^{ij}A_{i}\sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{j}\overset{o}{f} + A_{\lambda}(\partial_{j}X[f]^{\lambda}) + X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{j}A_{\lambda})) - \sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{0}\overset{o}{f} + A_{\lambda}(\partial_{0}X[f]^{\lambda}) \\ &+ X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{0}A_{\lambda})) + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{|g|}X[f]^{\lambda}(2\partial_{\lambda}A_{0} - (\partial_{\lambda}G_{0}^{ij})A_{i}A_{j} \\ &- 2G_{0}^{ij}A_{i}(\partial_{\lambda}A_{j}) - k(\partial_{\lambda}r_{0}))\right)(w^{1}w^{1} + w^{2}w^{2}) \,, \\ 0 &= \left(G_{0}^{ij}\sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{j}\overset{o}{f} + A_{\lambda}(\partial_{j}X[f]^{\lambda}) + X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{j}A_{\lambda})) + G_{0}^{ik}\sqrt{|g|}A_{i}(\partial_{k}X[f]^{j}) \\ &- \sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{0}X[f]^{j}) - \sqrt{|g|}X[f]^{\lambda}((\partial_{\lambda}G_{0}^{ij})A_{i} \\ &+ G_{0}^{ij}(\partial_{\lambda}A_{i}))\right)(w_{j}^{1}w^{2} - w_{j}^{2}w^{1}) \,, \\ 0 &= \left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{|g|}G_{0}^{ij}\partial_{i}(\operatorname{div}X[f])\right)(w_{j}^{1}w^{1} + w_{j}^{2}w^{2}) \,, \\ 0 &= 0 \\ 0 &= \left(G_{0}^{ik}\sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{k}X[f]^{j}) - \frac{1}{2}X[f]^{\lambda}\sqrt{|g|}(\partial_{\lambda}G_{0}^{ij})\right)(w_{i}^{1}w_{j}^{1} + w_{i}^{2}w_{j}^{2}) \,. \end{split}$$

Ordering the equations with respect to different algebraic orders in the potentials A_{λ} and using the equality $A_i A_j (G_0^{ik}(\partial_k X[f]^j) - \frac{1}{2}X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{\mu} G_0^{ij})) = \frac{1}{2}A_i A_j (G_0^{ik}(\partial_k X[f]^j) + G_0^{jk}(\partial_k X[f]^i) - X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{\mu} G_0^{ij}))$

the system is equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= -\partial_0 \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^j (\partial_j A_0 - \partial_0 A_j) + G_0^{ij} A_i (\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda (\partial_j A_\lambda - \partial_\lambda A_j) \\ &- G_0^{jk} (\partial_0 X[f]^k)) + \frac{1}{2} A_i A_j (G_0^{ik} (\partial_k X[f]^j) + G_0^{jk} (\partial_k X[f]^i) - X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda G_0^{ij})) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} k X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda r_0) \,, \end{aligned} \\ 0 &= G_0^{ij} (\partial_j \overset{o}{f} + X[f]^\lambda (\partial_j A_\lambda - \partial_\lambda A_j) - G_0^{jm} (\partial_0 X[f]^m)) \\ &+ A_i (G_0^{jk} (\partial_k X[f]^i) + G_0^{ik} (\partial_k X[f]^j) - X[f]^\lambda (\partial_\lambda G_0^{ij})) \,, \end{aligned} \\ 0 &= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{|g|} G_0^{ij} \partial_i (\operatorname{div} X[f]) (w_j^1 w^1 + w_j^2 w^2) \,, \end{aligned}$$

3.3.3. Theorem. Let $f \in \text{Time}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ Then, the following equivalence holds

$$L[Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]] \mathbf{H} = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad L[Y_{\text{hol}}[f]] \mathbf{L} = 0$$

PROOF. The last equation in Lemma 3.3.2, by means of the polynomial identities for coordinates w_i^1 and w_i^2 (symmetrisation!!), turns out to be equivalent to the equation

$$0 = G_0^{ik}(\partial_k X[f]^j) + G_0^{jk}(\partial_k X[f]^i) - X[f]^{\lambda}(\partial_{\lambda} G_0^{ij}),$$

which is nothing else than the intrinsic condition $L[X[f]]\bar{G}=0$.

On the other hand, by means of Lemma 2.3.16, $L[X[f]]\bar{G} = 0$ implies that div X[f] = 0 and $X[f].r_0 = 0$.

Hence, the third equation in Lemma 3.3.2 becomes a consequence of the last equation.

Moreover, it makes the first and the second equation to become

$$0 = \left(\partial_{j} f - G_{ij}^{0} (\partial_{0} X[f]^{i}) - X[f]^{0} \Phi_{0j} - X[f]^{k} \Phi_{kj}\right) x_{0}^{j}$$

and

$$0 = \partial_0 \stackrel{o}{f} + X[f]^j \Phi_{0j} \,.$$

Hence, the system becomes equivalent to ... QED

3.3.4. Corollary. The map $f \to Y[f]$ is an isomorphism of Lie algebras between functions $f \in (\operatorname{Con}(J_1 E) \cap \operatorname{Quan}(J_1 E))$ with respect to the Poisson bracket and holonomic infinitesimal symmetries $Y[f]_{\text{Hol}}$ of the quantum Lagrangian with respect to the Lie bracket.

We can summarize the above symmetry results by the following theorem

3.3.5. Theorem. Let $f \in \text{Time}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent

1.
$$L[Y_{\text{hol}}^{\uparrow}[f]] \mathbf{\Psi} = 0$$
 (3.3.1)

2.
$$L[Y_{hol}[f]] L = 0$$
 (3.3.2)

3.
$$i(X_{\text{hol}}^{\top}[f]) \Omega = df$$
 (3.3.3)

$$4. \qquad \gamma f = 0 \tag{3.3.4}$$

5.
$$f \in \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$$
 (3.3.5)

3.3.2 Quantum currents

The quantum Poincaré-Cartan form and each quantisable function yields, in a covariant way, an horizontal n-form on the first jet prolongation of the quantum bundle. In the case when the quantisable function generates a symmetry of the quantum Lagrangian, the above form is conserved along the solutions of the Schrödinger equation.

3.3.6. Definition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$. We say the 3-form form

$$\mathfrak{j}[f] := -i[Y[f]] \Pi : J_1 \mathbf{Q} \to \Lambda^3 T^* \mathbf{Q}$$

to be the quantum current associated with f.

By direct calculation in coordinates we find the following result

3.3.7. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the coordinate expression of $\mathfrak{j}[f]$ is

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{j}[f] &= -\frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} (w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2) (f^0 v_0^0 - f^k v_k^0) \\ &- (A_0 - \frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} A_i A_j + \frac{1}{2} k \rho_0) (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) (f^0 v_0^0 - f^k v_k^0) \\ &- (\overset{o}{f} + f^0 A_0 - f^k A_k) (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) (G_0^{ij} A_i v_j^0 - v_0^0) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} \operatorname{div} X[f] (w^1 w_i^1 + w^2 w_i^2) v_j^0 \\ &+ G_0^{ij} (\overset{o}{f} + f^0 A_0 - f^k A_k) (w^1 w_i^2 - w^2 w_i^1) v_j^0 \\ &- G_0^{ij} (w_i^1 dw^1 + w_i^2 dw^2) \wedge ((f^0 \partial_0 - f^k \partial_k) \,\lrcorner\, v_j^0) \\ &+ (w^1 dw^2 - w^2 dw^1) \wedge (f^k \partial_k \,\lrcorner\, v_0^0) \\ &+ G_0^{ij} A_i (w^1 dw^2 - w^2 dw^1) \wedge ((f^0 \partial_0 - f^k \partial_k) \,\lrcorner\, v_j^0), \end{split}$$

where we have set $v^0_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha} \,\lrcorner (d^0 \wedge \eta)$.

3.3.8. Lemma. For any quantum section Ψ the pullback $j_1\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f])$ of a quantum current $\mathfrak{j}[f]$ is a 3-form of the type

$$j_1\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f]): E \to \Lambda^3 T^*E$$

We have the coordinate expression,

$$\begin{split} j_{1}\Psi^{*}(\mathfrak{j}[f]) &= \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} f^{0}G_{0}^{ij}A_{i}A_{j} - \frac{1}{2} f^{0}k\rho_{0} + \overset{o}{f} - f^{h}A_{h}\right)(\psi^{1}\psi^{1} + \psi^{2}\psi^{2}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} f^{0}G_{0}^{ij}(\partial_{i}\psi^{1}\partial_{j}\psi^{1} + \partial_{i}\psi^{2}\partial_{j}\psi^{2}) - (f^{i} - f^{0}G_{0}^{ij}A_{j})(\psi^{2}\partial_{i}\psi^{1} - \psi^{1}\partial_{i}\psi^{2}) \right) \quad v_{0}^{0} \\ &+ \left(\left(f^{k}A_{0} - \frac{1}{2} f^{k}G_{0}^{ij}A_{i}A_{j} + \frac{1}{2} f^{k}k\rho_{0}\right) - \left(\overset{o}{f} + f^{0}A_{0} - f^{h}A_{h}\right)G_{0}^{ik}A_{i})(\psi^{1}\psi^{1} + \psi^{2}\psi^{2}) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} f^{k}G_{0}^{ij}(\partial_{i}\psi^{1}\partial_{j}\psi^{1} + \partial_{i}\psi^{2}\partial_{j}\psi^{2}) - \left(\overset{o}{f} + f^{0}A_{0} - f^{h}A_{h})G_{0}^{ik}(\psi^{1}\partial_{i}\psi^{2} - \psi^{2}\partial_{i}\psi^{1}) \right. \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div}X[f]G_{0}^{ik}(\psi^{1}\partial_{i}\psi^{1} + \psi^{2}\partial_{i}\psi^{2}) - \left(f^{k} - f^{0}G_{0}^{ik}A_{i})(\psi^{2}\partial_{0}\psi^{1} - \psi^{1}\partial_{0}\psi^{2}) \right. \\ &+ f^{0}G_{0}^{ik}(\partial_{i}\psi^{1}\partial_{0}\psi^{1} + \partial_{i}\psi^{2}\partial_{0}\psi^{2}) \right) \quad v_{k}^{0} \\ &- \left(f^{k}G_{0}^{ij}A_{i}(\psi^{2}\partial_{l}\psi^{1} - \psi^{1}\partial_{l}\psi^{2}) - f^{k}G_{0}^{ij}(\partial_{i}\psi^{1}\partial_{l}\psi^{1} + \partial_{i}\psi^{2}\partial_{l}\psi^{2}) \right) \quad d^{l} \wedge (\partial_{k} \sqcup v_{j}^{0}) \Box \end{split}$$

Let us set $v_{\alpha\beta}^0 := \partial_{\alpha} \lrcorner v_{\beta}^0$. **3.3.9. Example.** If $f \in \text{Aff}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$, then we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{j}[f] &= \\ &= \left(\left(-f^i A_i + \stackrel{o}{f} \right) (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) \right) v_0^0 \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{2} f^h G_0^{ij} (w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2) + (-f^i A_i + \stackrel{o}{f}) G_0^{hj} (w^1 w_j^2 - w^2 w_j^1) \right) v_h^0 \\ &- \left((-f^i A_i + \stackrel{o}{f}) A_0^h - f^h (A_0 - \frac{1}{2} A_0^i A_i + \frac{1}{2} k \rho_0) \right) (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) v_h^0 \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] G_0^{hj} (w^1 w_j^1 + w^2 w_j^2) v_h^0 \\ &+ f^h (w^2 dw^1 - w^1 dw^2) \wedge v_{0h}^0 \\ &- f^k \Big(G_0^{hj} (w_j^1 dw^1 + w_j^2 dw^2) + A_0^h (w^2 dw^1 - w^1 dw^2) \Big) \wedge v_{hk}^0 \,, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f]) = \\ &= -f^i \left(\Psi^2 \partial_i \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \partial_i \Psi^2\right) v_0^0 \\ &+ \left(-f^i A_i + \overset{o}{f}\right) \left(\Psi^1 \Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \Psi^2\right) v_0^0 \\ &+ \left(f^i G_0^{hj} - \frac{1}{2} f^h G_0^{ij}\right) \left(\partial_i \Psi^1 \partial_j \Psi^1 + \partial_i \Psi^2 \partial_j \Psi^2\right) v_h^0 \\ &+ f^h \left(\Psi^2 \partial_0 \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \partial_0 \Psi^2\right) v_h^0 \\ &+ \left(-f^i A_i + \overset{o}{f}\right) G_0^{hj} \left(\Psi^1 \partial_j \Psi^2 - \Psi^2 \partial_j \Psi^1\right) v_h^0 \\ &- \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div} X[f] G_0^{hj} \left(\Psi^1 \partial_j \Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \partial_j \Psi^2\right) + \left(f^h A_0^i - f^i A_0^h\right) \left(\Psi^2 \partial_i \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \partial_i \Psi^2\right)\right) v_h^0 \\ &+ \left(\left(f^i A_i - \overset{o}{f}\right) A_0^h + f^h \left(A_0 - \frac{1}{2} A_0^i A_i + \frac{1}{2} k \rho_0\right)\right) \left(\Psi^1 \Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \Psi^2\right) v_h^0. \Box \end{split}$$
Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics

3.3.10. Example. If $f \in Map(\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}\!\!R)$, then we obtain

$$\mathfrak{j}[f] = f\left((w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) v_0^0 + \left(G_0^{hj} (w^1 w_j^2 - w^2 w_j^1) - A_0^h (w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) \right) v_h^0 \right)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f]) &= f\left(\left(\Psi^1 \,\Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \,\Psi^2 \right) v_0^0 \\ &+ \left(G_0^{hj} \left(\Psi^1 \,\partial_j \Psi^2 - \Psi^2 \,\partial_j \Psi^1 \right) - A_0^h \left(\Psi^1 \,\Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \,\Psi^2 \right) \right) v_h^0 \right). \square \end{split}$$

3.3.11. Example. We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{j}[\mathcal{H}_0] &= \\ &= \left(-\frac{1}{2} \, G_0^{ij} \left(w_i^1 \, w_j^1 + w_i^2 \, w_j^2 \right) + \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(A_0^i \, A_i - k \, \rho_0 \right) - A_0 \right) \left(w^1 \, w^1 + w^2 \, w^2 \right) \right) v_0^0 \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \, \frac{\partial_0 \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \, G_0^{hj} \left(w^1 \, w_j^1 + w^2 \, w_j^2 \right) v_h^0 \\ &- \left(G_0^{hj} \left(w_j^1 \, dw^1 + w_j^2 \, dw^2 \right) + A_0^h \left(w^2 \, dw^1 - w^1 \, dw^2 \right) \right) \right) \wedge v_{0h}^0 \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Psi^{*}(\mathbf{j}[\mathcal{H}_{0}]) &= \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} G_{0}^{ij} \left(\partial_{i} \Psi^{1} \partial_{j} \Psi^{1} + \partial_{i} \Psi^{2} \partial_{j} \Psi^{2}\right) + A_{0}^{i} \left(\Psi^{2} \partial_{i} \Psi^{1} - \Psi^{1} \partial_{i} \Psi^{2}\right)\right) v_{0}^{0} \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(A_{0}^{i} A_{i} - k \rho_{0}\right) - A_{0}\right) \left(\Psi^{1} \Psi^{1} + \Psi^{2} \Psi^{2}\right) v_{0}^{0} \\ &- \left(G_{0}^{hj} \left(\partial_{j} \Psi^{1} \partial_{0} \Psi^{1} + \partial_{j} \Psi^{2} \partial_{0} \Psi^{2}\right) + A_{0}^{h} \left(\Psi^{2} \partial_{0} \Psi^{1} - \Psi^{1} \partial_{0} \Psi^{2}\right)\right) v_{h}^{0} \\ &+ \left(-\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_{0} \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} G_{0}^{hj} \left(\Psi^{1} \partial_{j} \Psi^{1} + \Psi^{2} \partial_{j} \Psi^{2}\right)\right) v_{h}^{0} . \Box \end{split}$$

3.3.12. Example. We obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{j}[\mathcal{P}_j] &= \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \, G_0^{hk} \left(w_h^1 \, w_k^1 + w_h^2 \, w_k^2 \right) v_j^0 + \left(A_0 - \frac{1}{2} \, A_0^i \, A_i + \frac{1}{2} \, k \, \rho_0 \right) \left(w^1 \, w^1 + w^2 \, w^2 \right) v_j^0 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \, \frac{\partial_j \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \, G_0^{hk} \left(w^1 \, w_k^1 + w^2 \, w_k^2 \right) v_h^0 \\ &+ \left(w^2 \, dw^1 - w^1 \, dw^2 \right) \wedge v_{0j}^0 - \left(G_0^{hk} \left(w_k^1 \, dw^1 + w_k^2 \, dw^2 \right) + A_0^h \left(w^2 \, dw^1 - w^1 \, dw^2 \right) \right) \wedge v_{hj}^0 \,, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[\mathcal{P}_j]) &= \\ &= -(\Psi^2 \,\partial_j \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \,\partial_j \Psi^2) \,v_0^0 \\ &+ G_0^{hk} \left(\partial_j \Psi^1 \,\partial_k \Psi^1 + \partial_j \Psi^2 \,\partial_k \Psi^2\right) \,v_h^0 - \frac{1}{2} \,G_0^{hk} \left(\partial_h \Psi^1 \,\partial_k \Psi^1 + \partial_h \Psi^2 \,\partial_k \Psi^2\right) \,v_j^0 \\ &+ \left(\Psi^2 \,\partial_0 \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \,\partial_0 \Psi^2\right) \,v_j^0 \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{2} \,\frac{\partial_j \sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \,G_0^{hj} \left(\Psi^1 \,\partial_j \Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \,\partial_j \Psi^2\right) + A_0^h \left(\Psi^2 \,\partial_j \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \,\partial_j \Psi^2\right)\right) \,v_h^0 \\ &- A_0^i \left(\Psi^2 \,\partial_i \Psi^1 - \Psi^1 \,\partial_i \Psi^2\right) \,v_j^0 \\ &+ \left(A_0 - \frac{1}{2} \,A_0^i \,A_i + \frac{1}{2} \,k \,\rho_0\right) \left(\Psi^1 \,\Psi^1 + \Psi^2 \,\Psi^2\right) \,v_j^0 \,.\,\Box \end{split}$$

3.3.13. Corollary. Vertical restriction with respect to the fibres of spacetime yields the vertical 3–form $(j_1\Psi^*(j[f]))^V : \mathbf{E} \to \Lambda^3 T^*\mathbf{E}$ with coordinate expression

$$\left(j_1 \Psi^*(j[f]) \right)^V = \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} f^0 G_0^{ij} A_i A_j - \frac{1}{2} f^0 k \rho_0 + \stackrel{o}{f} - f^h A_h \right) (\psi^1 \psi^1 + \psi^2 \psi^2) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} f^0 G_0^{ij} (\partial_i \psi^1 \partial_j \psi^1 + \partial_i \psi^2 \partial_j \psi^2) - (f^i - f^0 G_0^{ij} A_j) (\psi^2 \partial_i \psi^1 - \psi^1 \partial_i \psi^2) \right) \eta \quad \Box$$

On the other hand, by means of the Hermitian product, a function $f \in \text{Quan}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and a quantum section Ψ yield in a covariant way the real valued vertical 3-form

$$\frac{1}{2i} \Big(\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, Y[f].\Psi) - h(Y[f].\Psi, \Psi) \Big) : \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^3 V^* \boldsymbol{E}.$$
(3.3.6)

3.3.14. Remark. Recalling that Z[f] := iY[f], we can write the expression 3.3.6, equivalently, as

$$\frac{1}{2} \Big(\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, Z[f].\Psi) + h(Z[f].\Psi, \Psi) \Big) : \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^3 V^* \boldsymbol{E}.$$

3.3.15. Lemma. We have the coordinate expression

$$\frac{1}{2i} \Big(h(\Psi, Y[f].\Psi) - h(Y[f].\Psi, \Psi) \Big) = \Big(f^0(\psi^1 \partial_0 \psi^2 - \psi^2 \partial_0 \psi^1) + f^i(\psi^2 \partial_i \psi^1 - \psi^1 \partial_i \psi^2) \\ - (\mathring{f} + f^0 A_0 - f^h A_h)(\psi^1 \psi^1 + \psi^2 \psi^2) \Big) \eta \quad \Box$$

3.3.16. Corollary. Let $f \in Aff(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and $\Psi \in Sec(\mathbb{Q}, T\mathbb{Q})$. Then, the following equality holds

$$(j[f] \circ j_1 \Psi)^V = \frac{1}{2i} \Big(h(\Psi, Y[f].\Psi) - h(Y[f].\Psi, \Psi) \Big)$$
(3.3.7)

We have the coordinate expression

$$(\mathfrak{j}[f] \circ \mathfrak{j}_1 \Psi)^V = f^i (\psi^2 \partial_i \psi^1 - \psi^1 \partial_i \psi^2) - (\overset{o}{f} - f^h A_h) (\psi^1 \psi^1 + \psi^2 \psi^2) \eta. \square$$
(3.3.8)

Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics

3.3.17. Remark. The results in this section can be generalized. In [69], we introduce, for any quantisable function in analogy with expression (3.3.6) the real vertical form

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(h\left(S[f].\Psi, \Psi\right) + h\left(\Psi, S[f].\Psi\right)\right),$$

where S[f] is the Schrödinger operator associated with the quantisable function. The results of the sections 3.1.5 and 3.3.2 suggest to introduce the notion of quantum expectation forms, where $\mathbf{e}_1[f] := \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{h}(\Psi, Z[f], \Psi) + \mathbf{h}(Z[f], \Psi, \Psi) \right)$ is called first order quantum expectation form and where $\mathbf{e}_2[f] := \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{h} \left(\mathbf{S}[f], \Psi, \Psi \right) + \mathbf{h} \left(\Psi, \mathbf{S}[f], \Psi \right) \right)$ is called second order quantum expectation form. There is a unique combination (see introduction) $\widehat{Y[f]} - \widehat{S[f]}$ of the naturally induced operators $\widehat{Y[f]}$ and $\widehat{S[f]}$ which acts on the fibres of the Hilbert bundle. Thus, we call

$$\mathbf{e} \coloneqq \mathbf{e}_1 - \mathbf{e}_2$$

the quantum expectation form associated with f.

I think that this could be the pre-quantum source of the probabilistic interpretation in covariant quantum mechanics. \Box

Now, let us recall the well known result of Nöther

3.3.18. Proposition. Let Y be a vector field of Q. If $L[Y_{(1)}] L = 0$, then, the current $j = -i_Y \prod$ is conserved along critical sections Ψ .

3.3.19. Definition. We say the current j associated with a holonomic symmetry of L to be a *quantum conserved current*.

Now, we are going to apply the Nöther theorem to our results above

3.3.20. Proposition. Let $f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$. Then, the quantum current $\mathfrak{j}[f]$ is a conserved current.

If, additionally, $f \in Aff(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ and $\Psi \in Sec(E, Q)$, we have the equality

$$\left(j_1\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[f])\right)^V = \frac{1}{2i} \left(\mathfrak{h}(\Psi, Y[f].\Psi) - h(Y[f].\Psi, \Psi)\right).$$

Finally, I apply the machinery above to the classical backgrounds, which we have modeled at the end of section 2.6.

3.3.21. Example. Let $(\mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{\Psi})$ a quantum structure and $(J_1\mathbf{E}, \Omega, dt)$ the associated classical background. We consider the natural infinitesimal action of the \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra i $\otimes \mathbb{R}$ (associated to the group action of U(1)) on the fibres of \mathbf{Q}) given by $Y[f] = i \otimes \mathbf{1}$.

We observe that $f = 1 \in \mathbb{R}$ has no classical meaning since it corresponds to the classical gauge freedom in the choice of a potential function. Clearly, $f \in \text{Clas}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$. The associated (globally) conserved quantum current has the coordinate expression

$$\mathbf{j}[1] = -(w^1 w^1 + w^2 w^2) \left(G_0^{ij} A_i v_j^0 - v_0^0 \right) + G_0^{ij} \left(w^1 w_i^2 - w^2 w_i^1 \right) v_j^0$$

We say $\mathbf{j}[1]$ to be the *conserved probability current*. In particular, for any quantum section Ψ , we have

$$(j_1\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[1]))^V = (\psi^1\psi^1 + \psi^2\psi^2)\eta$$

3.3.22. Example. Let $t: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T}$ an affine space with affine projection t. Let G be the euclidian metric, K^{\natural} the natural flat connection and F = 0. We consider the natural vertical action of the associated vector space \mathbf{S} of \mathbf{E} given by $\mathbb{S} \times \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E} : (u, e) \mapsto (e+u)$. Then, any Poincaré-Cartan form Θ is globally defined and $f = \mathcal{P}(u) := -i_u \Theta \in Clas(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ is the conserved kinetic momentum (defined up to an additive constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$). In a cartesian chart, we have the expression $\mathcal{P}(u) = G_{ij}^0 u^i x_0^j$.

Let (Q, Ψ) be a quantum structure for this background. Then, in a cartesian chart, the associated conserved quantum current has the coordinate expression

$$\mathfrak{j}[\mathcal{P}(u)] = -\frac{1}{2} G_0^{ij} (w_i^1 w_j^1 + w_i^2 w_j^2) (-u^k v_k^0) -G_0^{ij} (w_i^1 dw^1 + w_i^2 dw^2) \wedge (-u^k \partial_k \,\lrcorner\, v_j^0) + (w^1 dw^2 - w^2 dw^1) \wedge (u^k \partial_k \,\lrcorner\, v_0^0)$$

We say $\mathfrak{j}[\mathcal{P}(u)]$ to be the conserved quantum momentum current. In particular, we have $(j_1\Psi^*(\mathfrak{j}[\mathcal{P}]))^V = +u^i(\psi^1\partial_i\psi^2 - \psi^2\partial_i\psi^1)\eta.$

3.3.23. Example. Let $\boldsymbol{E} := \boldsymbol{T} \times SO(3)$ be the configuration space for a rigid body with a fixed point. We assume the *inertia tensor* I as the scaled vertical metric. Let K^{\natural} be the inertial connection and F = 0. We have a global (classical) Θ , the rotational energy. Θ is invariant w.r.t. the action of SO(3) on itself. The conserved quantity associated with every infinitesimal generator $\sigma so(3) \simeq \mathbb{L}^{-1} \otimes \boldsymbol{S} \ni X(\sigma)$ is the angular momentum $\mathcal{J}(\sigma c.$

The induced infinitesimal quantum symmetry is $Y[\mathcal{J}(\sigma)] = X(\sigma)$. Clearly,

$$i_{X[\mathcal{J}(\sigma)]_1} \Omega = d(\mathcal{J}(\sigma)).$$

This induces a conserved quantum angular momentum current $j[\mathcal{J}(\sigma)]$. We get its expression from equation ?? by substituting $G_0^{ij} \to I_0^{ij}$ and $u^i \to \sigma^i$ and adding a mass term due to a non vanishing scalar curvature for this configuration space.

CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

At this point, I spend some words on my results and I give an outlook on further developments within this field.

I have studied the symmetries of the (full) classical structure, i.e. the vector field of phase space which preserve what we call the "classical structure", and the symmetries of the (full) quantum structure, i.e. vector field which preserve the "quantum structure". Both symmetries can be classified by means of a subalgebra of the algebra of special functions of phase space, namely the classical generators $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ using a covariant lift of functions of phase space to vector fields of phase space. In particular, I have found a morphism of Lie algebras between $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and the symmetries of the classical structure and an isomorphism of Lie algebras between $\text{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ and the symmetries of the quantum structure. In our formalism, we can directly express our results in terms of central extensions. In particular, we recover well known results found by other approaches in other contexts.

On the other hand, I have "systematically" studied the symmetries of classical and quantum structure. That is, I have classified step by step the vector fields which preserve only a part of the structure. It turned out that many of the above (well known) results are due to more general geometric structures. Let us recall, at this point, the isomorphism of Lie algebras between quantisable functions and Hermitian vector fields of the quantum bundle. Here, the main contribution is due to the algebra of special functions, more precisely, the special subalgebra of quantisable functions.

Moreover, the covariance in the sense of naturality and observer independence yield a new insight into the notion of holonomicity within a concrete physical model of fundamental type. That is, the symmetries which preserve the classical or quantum structure are automatically of holonomic type.

Furthermore, the model provides a canonical quantum Lagrangian, hence, a canonical quantum Lagrangian formalism. This leads to a new insight into a quantum theory and the quantum symmetries by means of standard (classic field theoretic) methods. In particular, with any quantisable function, we can associate a quantum current. For functions in $\operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{I}_{\!\!R})$ the associated quantum current is conserved along the solutions of the (covariant) Schrödinger equation. We have explicit coordinate expressions for these currents. They look like well known expressions of field theory. More generally, these currents are completely determined by the classical structure, since they are associated with a quantisable function. Moreover, for each affine function and quantum section, we obtain, in a covariant way, a spacelike 3–form (which can be integrated on the fibres of spacetime). These results can be generalised and seem to be the pre-quantum source of the (standard) probabilistic interpretation within covariant quantum mechanics.

The results are promising for further investigation. In the following I give an outlook on the next main steps.

We study the quantum Lagrangian formalism. In particular, we proceed with our analysis of the quantum currents and quantum expectation forms. Additionally, we look for a quantum momentum map.

Moreover, we apply our pre-quantum results to the (natural) Hilbert bundle in order to get the standard probabilistic interpretation for these currents.

On the other hand, we plan to go back, from the Hilbert bundle to the pre-quantum structure, in order to compare standard techniques in quantum mechanics with (covariant) geometric techniques on the pre-quantum structure.

There are other possible directions of future research. Some of them are still too far away, hence, they are not worth to be mentioned right now.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis has been partially supported by Department of Mathematics of University of Mannheim, Department of Applied Mathematics of University of Florence (Italy), DAAD, LGFG (Germany), GNFM of INDAM (Italy).

Dirk Saller would like to thank everybody who has contributed to this thesis, especially, the following persons.

I thank my supervisor Marco Modugno. He has taught me how to work scientifically. Our collaboration was not restricted to working hours. At any time, I could discuss with him, ask him questions (follow his analysis based on two neurons). I am convinced that he did an excellent job being able to bear me continuously. He never got angry with me .(?) By the way, Marco Modugno taught (forced) me, to be more organized and clear. I am sure this has influenced my future live positively beyond mathematical studies.

I thank my supervisor Ernst Binz, for his complete support. From the very beginning, he was interested in my own ideas. He made it possible that I could study several mathematical problems rather than focusing immediately on one particular topic. The first year, I lost a lot of time on searching for precise mathematical formulations of my (physical) problems. However, I could always go ahead, having the necessary financial support. Finally, I could find my approach to partially organize my mental confusion.

I thank both, Marco Modugno and Ernst Binz, to convey me the "good" attitude to be (hopefully) open minded to other ideas, modest and to not judge something before I understand it. I hope I can cultivate this philosophy even if, it seems not to be so much popular. I have to thank them for the fact that, nowadays, I am an enthusiastic research worker.

I thank Raffaele Vitolo for the collaboration and the spiritual support. He has the great capacity to treat with human and scientific respect even young researchers. He helped me a lot to prepare for my talk in Tenerife. As a friend, he helped me to overcome several problems during my work.

I thank Josef Janyška for the discussions in Florence. Moreover, I thank Antonella Cabras, Daniel Canarutto for their warm hospitality during my time in Florence.

I thank Werner M. Seiler and Dirk Fesser for our recent seminars and frequent discussions. It was their interest in a collaboration, which made it possible to find intersecting topics. I have enjoyed these seminars a lot. They help me to learn to present my ideas (hopefully) in a precise manner.

I thank Werner M. Seiler and Jürgen Tolksdorf for the discussions and the time which they have dedicated to me during my thesis. I thank all colleagues and friends for the positive vibrations, which are necessary to pass the bad times and to feel better in good times.

Last but not least, I have to thank my family. Words cannot explain the deep gratitude I feel. I thank my wife Sara who shows me each day that nature is even much more beautiful than natural science; my daughter Deianira, that she makes chaos relative and beautiful; my parents Marie-Luise and Hubert and my parents in law Paola and Vasco, that they always give asking nothing in return and my sister Silke for her support. I love you all.

I hope I can give a few things back.

ERKLÄRUNG

Ich erkläre, dass ich die Arbeit *Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics* selbständig angefertigt und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel verwendet habe.

D. Saller

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. ABRAHAM, J. E. MARSDEN: Les méthodes mathématiques de la mecanique classique Editions Mir, Moscou, 1974.
- [2] R. ABRAHAM, J. E. MARSDEN: Foundations of Mechanics, second edition, Benjamin-Cummings 1978.
- [3] C. ALBERT: Le théorème de reduction de Marsden-Weinstein en géométrie cosymplectique et de contact, J. Geom. Phys., 6, n.4, 1989, 627–649.
- [4] I. M. ANDERSON: Natural Variational Principles on Riemannian Manifolds, Ann. Math. 120 (1984), p. 329 ff.
- [5] A. P. BALACHANDRAN, H. GROMM, R. D. SORKIN: Gauge symmetries and Fiber bundles, Lect. Notes Phys. 188 (Berlin: Springer 1983).
- [6] A. P. BALACHANDRAN, H. GROMM, R. D. SORKIN: Quantum symmetries from Quantum phases. Fermions from Bosons, a Z₂ Anomaly and Galileian Invariance, Nucl. Phys. 281 B (1987), p. 573 ff.
- [7] A. P. BALACHANDRAN, G. MARMO, N. MUKUNDA, J.S. NILLSON, E. C. G. SUDARSHAN,
 F. ZACCARIA: Universal Unfolding of Hamiltonian Systems: from Symplectic structure to Fiber Bundles, Phys. Rev. D 27 (1983), p. 2327 ff.
- [8] V. BARGMANN: On unitary Ray representations of Continuous groups, Ann. Math. 59 (1954), p. 1 ff.
- [9] K. H. BASHKARA, K. VISWANATH: Poisson Algebras and Poisson Manifolds, Research Notes in Math. 174, (London: Pitman 1988).
- [10] K. H. BASHKARA, K. VISWANATH: Calculus on Poisson manifolds, Bull. London Math. Soc. 20 (1988), pp. 68–72.
- [11] F. BAYEN, C. FRONSDAL, A. LICHNEROWICZ, D. STERNHEIMER: Quantum Mechanics as a Deformation of Classical Mechanics, Letters in Math. Phys. Vol 1 (1977), pp. 521–530.
- [12] F. BAYEN, C. FRONSDAL, A. LICHNEROWICZ, D. STERNHEIMER: Deformation Theory and Quantization, Part I + II, Ann. Phys. III (1978), pp. 61–152.
- [13] P. BERGMANN, I. GOLDBERG: Dirac Bracket Transformations in Phase Space, Phys. Rev. 98 (1955), p 531 ff.

- [14] S. BENENTI, W. M. TULCZYJEW: The Geometrical Meaning and Globalization of the Hamilton-Jacobi Theory, in Differential Geometric Methods in Mathematical Physics, Lecture Notes in Math. 836, Springer (Berlin, 1980), pp. 9–21.
- [15] S. BENENTI, W. M. TULCZYJEW: Sur le théoreme de Jacobi en mécanique analytique, preprint 1982.
- [16] J. D. BJORKEN, S. D. DRELL: Relativistische Quantenfeldtheorie, B.I. Hochschultaschenbuch Band 101 (Mannheim: B.I. 1965).
- [17] D. E. BLAIR: Contact manifolds in Riemannian Geometry, Lect. Notes in Math 509 (Berlin: Springer 1976).
- [18] J. L. BRYLINSKI: A differential complex for Poisson manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 28 (1988), pp. 93–114.
- [19] F. CANTRIJN, M. DE LEÓN, E. A. LACOMBA: Gradient vector fields on cosymplectic manifolds, J. Phys. A 25 (1992) 175–188.
- [20] D. CANARUTTO, A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: Quantum mechanics of a spin particle in a curved spacetime with absolute time, Rep. on Math. Phys., 36, 1 (1995), 95–140.
- [21] J. F. CARIÑENA: Canonical Group Actions, preprint ICTP, IC /88/37.
- [22] J. F. CARIÑENA, L. A. IBORT: Geometric Theory of the Equivalence of Lagrangians for Constraint systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 18 (1985), p. 3355 ff.
- [23] V. CATTANEO: Invariance Relativiste, Symetries Internes et Extensions d'Algébre de Lie, Thesis Université Catholique de Louvain (1970).
- [24] C. CHEVALLEY, S. EILENBERG: Cohomology Theory of Lie Groups and Lie Algebras, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 63 (1948), p. 85 ff.
- [25] D. CHINEA, M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO: Prequantizable Poisson manifolds and Jacobi Structures, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen 29 (1996), pp. 6313–6324.
- [26] D. CHINEA, M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO: A canonical differential complex for Jacobi manifolds, preprint.
- [27] P. DAZORD: Integration d'algébres de Lie locale et groupoides de contact, C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. I, Math. 320 (1995), pp. 959–964.
- [28] P. DAZORD, A. LICHNEROWICZ, C. M. MARLE: Structure locale des varietés de Jacobi, J. Math. Pures et Appl. 70 (1991), pp. 101–152.
- [29] P. A. M. DIRAC: The Principles of Quantum Mechanics, (Oxford: Clarendon Press 1958).
- [30] V. V. DODONOV, V. I. MANKO, V. SKARZHINSKY: The Inverse Problem of the Variational Calculus and Non-uniqueness of the Quantization of Classical Systems, Hadron J. 4 (1981), p. 1734 ff.

- [31] H. D. DOMBROWSKI, K. HORNEFFER: Die Differentialgeometrie des Galileischen Relativitätsprinzips, Math. Z. 86 (1964), 291–.
- [32] C. DUVAL: The Dirac & Levy-Leblond equations and geometric quantization, in Diff. geom. meth. in Math. Phys., P.L. García, A. Pérez-Rendón Editors, L.N.M. 1251 (1985), Springer-Verlag, 205-221.
- [33] C. DUVAL: On Galilean isometries, Clas. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993), 2217-2221.
- [34] C. DUVAL, G. BURDET, H. P. KÜNZLE, M. PERRIN: Bargmann structures and Newton-Cartan theory, Phys. Rev. D, 31, n. 8 (1985), 1841–1853.
- [35] C. DUVAL, G. GIBBONS, P. HORVATY: Celestial mechanics, conformal structures, and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 43, 12 (1991), 3907–3921.
- [36] C. DUVAL, H. P. KÜNZLE: Minimal gravitational coupling in the Newtonian theory and the covariant Schrödinger equation, G.R.G., 16, n. 4 (1984), 333–347.
- [37] A. ECHEVARRIÁ-ENRIQUEZ, M. C. MUÑOZ-LECANDA, N. ROMÁN-ROY, C. VICTORIA-MONGE: Mathematical foundations of geometric quantization, Part I, preprint UPC 1993.
- [38] J. EHLERS: The Newtonian limit of general relativity, in Fisica Matematica Classica e Relatività, Elba 9-13 giugno 1989, 95-106.
- [39] M. FERNÁNDEZ, R. IBAÑEZ, M. DE LEON: Poisson cohomology and canonical cohomology of Poisson manifolds, Archivium Mathematicum (Brno) 32 (1996), pp. 29–56.
- [40] R. P. FEYNMAN, A. R. HIBBS: *Quantum mechanics and path integrals*, (New York: McGraw-Hill 1965).
- [41] M. FLATO, A. LICHNEROWICZ, D. STERNHEIMER: Algébres de Lie attachés á une varieté canonique, J. Math. Pures et Appl. 54 (1975), pp. 445–480.
- [42] M. FRANCAVIGLIA, M. PALESE, R. VITOLO: Symmetries and conservation laws in variational sequences, submitted to Czech Math. J. (1999).
- [43] A. FRÖLICHER, A. NIJENHUIS: Theory of Vector Valued Differential Forms, Nederl. Acad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 59, Indag. Math. 18 (1956), p. 338 ff.
- [44] P. L. GARCÍA: Connections and 1-jet fibre bundle, Rendic. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 47 (1972), 227–242.
- [45] GODBILLON: Géometrie différentielle et mécanique analytique, Hermann Paris (1969).
- [46] M. J. GOTAY: Constraints, reduction and quantization, J. Math. Phys. 27 n. 8 (1986), 2051–2066.
- [47] M. GOTAY, J. ISENBERG, J. E. MARSDEN: Momentum maps and the Hamiltonian Structure of Classical Relativistic Field Theories, part II, preprint, available from http://www.cds.caltech.edu/~marsden/.

- [48] W. GREUB, S. HALPERIN, R. VANSTONE: Connections, Curvature and Cohomology, Vol I + II, (New York: Academic Press 1972, 1973).
- [49] F. GUIDERA, A. LICHNEROWICZ: Géometrie des algébres de Lie locale de Kirillov, J. Math. Pures et Appl. 63 (1984), pp.407–484.
- [50] V. GUILLEMIN, S. STERNBERG: Symplectic Techniques in Physics, (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press 1984).
- [51] P. HAVAS: Four-dimensional formulation of Newtonian mechanics and their relation to the special and general theory of relativity, Rev. Modern Phys. 36 (1964), 938–965.
- [52] L. P. HORWITZ, F. C. ROTBART: Non relativistic limit of relativistic quantum mechanics, Phys. Rew. D, 24 (1981), 2127-2131.
- [53] J. HUEBSCHMANN: Poisson cohomology and quantization, J. Reine Angew. Math. 408 (1990), pp. 57–113.
- [54] A. JADCZYK, J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics revisited, "Geometria, Física-Matemática e Outros Ensaios", A. S. Alves, F. J. Craveiro de Carvalho and J. A. Pereira da Silva Eds., 1998, 253–313.
- [55] A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: An outline of a new geometric approach to Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics, in C. N. Yang, M. L. Ge and X. W. Zhou editors, Differential geometric methods in theoretical physics, World Scientific, Singapore, 1992, 543-556.
- [56] A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: A scheme for Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics, in Proceedings of the 10th Italian Conference on General Relativity and Gravitational Physics, World Scientific, New York, 1993.
- [57] A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics, Report Dept Appl. Math, Univ. of Florence, 1994.
- [58] J. JANYŠKA: Remarks on symplectic and contact 2-forms in relativistic theories, Boll. U.M.I., 7 (1994), 587-616.
- [59] J. JANYŠKA: Remarks on symplectic and contact 2-forms in relativistic theories, Bollettino U.M.I. 7, 9-B (1995), 587-616.
- [60] J. JANYŠKA: Natural quantum Lagrangians in Galilei general relativistic quantum Lagrangians, Rendiconti di Matematica, S. VII, Vol. 15, Roma (1995), 457–468.
- [61] J. JANYŠKA: Natural Lagrangians for quantum structures over 4-dimensional spaces, Rendiconti di Matematica, S. VII, Vol. 18, Roma (1998), 623–648.
- [62] J. JANYŠKA: A remark on natural quantum Lagrangians and natural generalized Schrödinger operators in Galilei quantum mechanics, Proc. of Winter School of Geometry and Physics, Srni 2000, to appear.
- [63] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Classical particle phase space in general relativity, Proc. Conf. Diff. Geom. Appl., Brno 1995, Masaryk University 1996, 573-602, electronic edition: http://www.emis.de/proceedings/.

- [64] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Relations between linear connections on the tangent bundle and connections on the jet bundle of a fibred manifold, Arch. Math. (Brno), 32 (1996), 281
 - 288, electronic edition: http://www.emis.de/journals/.
- [65] J JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO : On quantum vector fields in general relativistic quantum mechanics, General Mathematics 5 (1997), Proc. 3rd Internat. Workshop Diff. Geom. and its Appl., Sibiu (Romania) 1997, 199-217.
- [66] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: On the graded Lie algebra of quantisable forms, in Differential Geometry and Applications, I. Kolář, O. Kowalski, D. Krupka J. Slovak Eds., Proc. of the 7th Intern. Conf., Brno, 10-14 August 1998, Masaryk University, 1999, 601–620.
- [67] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: On the graded Lie algebra of quantisable forms, in Differential Geometry and Applications, I. Kolář, O. Kowalski, D. Krupka J. Slovak Eds., Proc. of the 7th Intern. Conf., Brno, 10-14 August 1998, Masaryk University, 1999, 601–620.
- [68] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Quantisable functions in general relativity, in "Opérateurs différentiels et Physique Mathématique", J. Vaillant, J. Carvalho e Silva Eds., Textos Mat. Ser. B, 24, 2000, 161-181.
- [69] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO, D. SALLER: Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics, preprint 2001.
- [70] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO, D. SALLER: Covariant quantum mechanics and quantum symmetries, preprint, to be published in PROCEEDINGS OF A MEETING ON GENERAL REL-ATIVITY, Genoa 2000.
- [71] M. V. KARASEV, V. P. MASLOV: Nonlinear Poisson Brackets, Geometry and Quantization, Translations of Mathematical Monographs 119, AMS Providence, RI (1993).
- [72] A. KIRILLOV: Local Lie algebras, Russ. Math. Surv. **31** (1976), pp. 55–75.
- [73] A. KIRILLOV: Elements of the Theory of Representations, (Berlin: Springer 1976).
- [74] S. KOBAYASHI: Principal fiber bundle with 1-dimensional toroidal group, Tohoku Math J.
 8, n. 2 (1956), pp. 29–45.
- [75] I. KOLÁŘ, P. MICHOR, J. SLOVÁK: Natural Operations in Differential Geometry,, Springer-Verlag, 1993.
- [76] I. KOLÁŘ, M. MODUGNO: On the algebraic structure on the jet prolongation of fibred manifolds, Czech. Math. Jour., 40 (115), 1990, 601–611.
- [77] J. L. KOSZUL: Homologie et Cohomologie des Algébres de Lie, Bull. Soc. Math. de France 78 (1950), p. 65 ff.
- [78] B. KOSTANT: Quantization and unitary representations, Lectures in Modern Analysis and Applications III, Springer-Verlag, 170 (1970), 87–207.
- [79] J. L. KOSZUL: Crochet de Schouten-Nijenhuis rt cohomologie, Elie Cartan et les Math. d'Aujour d'Hui (Asterisque hors-serie 1985), pp. 251–271.

- [80] D. KRUPKA: Variational sequences on finite order jet spaces, in Proc. Conf. on Diff. Geom. and its Appl., World Scientific, New York, 1990, 236-254.
- [81] K. KUCHAŘ: Gravitation, geometry and nonrelativistic quantum theory, Phys. Rev. D, 22, n. 6 (1980), 1285–1299.
- [82] H. P. KÜNZLE: Galilei and Lorentz structures on space-time: comparison of the corresponding geometry and physics, Ann. Inst. H. Poinc. 17, 4 (1972), 337-362.
- [83] H. P. KÜNZLE: Galilei and Lorentz invariance of classical particle interaction, Symposia Mathematica 14 (1974), 53-84.
- [84] H. P. KÜNZLE: Covariant Newtonian limit of Lorentz space-times, G.R.G. 7, 5 (1976), 445-457.
- [85] H. P. KÜNZLE: General covariance and minimal gravitational coupling in Newtonian spacetime, in Geometrodynamics Proceedings (1983), A. Prastaro ed., Tecnoprint, Bologna 1984, 37–48.
- [86] B. A. KUPERSCHMIDT, A. VINOGRADOV: The structures of Hamiltonian Mechanics, first publ. in Russian 1974, reprinted in Integrable systems, Lond. Math. Soc., Lect. Not. Ser. 60, Cambridge University Press (Cambridge 1981), pp. 173–239.
- [87] H. P. KÜNZLE, C. DUVAL: Dirac field on Newtonian space-time, Ann. Inst. H. Poinc., 41, 4 (1984), 363-384.
- [88] A. KYPRIANIDIS: Scalar time parametrization of relativistic quantum mechanics: the covariant Schrödinger formalism, Phys. Rep 155 (1987), 1-27.
- [89] N. P. LANDSMAN, N. LINDEN: The geometry of inequivalent quantizations, Nucl. Phys. B 365 (1991), 121-160.
- [90] G. LANDI, G. MARMO: Lie Algebra Extensions and Abelian Monopoles, Phys. Lett. B 193 (1987), p. 429 ff.
- [91] M. LE BELLAC, J. M. LEVY-LEBLOND: Galilean electromagnetism, Nuovo Cim. 14 B, 2 (1973), 217-233.
- [92] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO: Constrained time-dependent Lagrangian systems and Lagrangian submanifolds, J. Math. Phys. 34, n. 1 (1993).
- [93] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: A generalization for Jacobi manifolds of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson cohomology, in Proc. of the V Fall Workshop: Diff. Geom. and its Appl., Jaca Sept. 23–25, 1996.
- [94] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: On the geometric quantization of Jacobi manifolds, p. 6185 ff., J. Math. Phys. 38 (12), 1997
- [95] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: Lichnerowicz-Jacobi cohomology of Jacobi manifolds, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris I 324 (1997), pp. 71–76.

- [96] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: Lichnerowicz-Jacobi cohomology, J. Phys. A 30 (1997), pp. 6029–6055.
- [97] M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: Complex polarizations on cosymplectic and contact manifolds, preprint.
- [98] M. DE LEON, M. SARALEGI: Cosymplectic reduction for singular momentum maps, J. Phys. A 26 (1993) 5033-5043.
- [99] M. DE LEON, G. M. TUYNMAN: A universal model for cosymplectic manifolds, J. Geom. Phys. 20 (1996), pp. 77–86.
- [100] J. M. LEVY-LEBLOND: Galilei group and Galilean invariance, in Group theory and its applications, E. M. Loebl Ed., Vol. 2, Academic, New York, 1971, 221-299.
- [101] P. LIBERMANN: Sur le problème d'equivalence de certaines structures infinitésimale régulières, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 36 (1954), pp. 27–120.
- [102] P. LIBERMANN: Sur les automorphismes infinitésimaux des structures symplectiques et des structures de contact, Colloque de géometrie différentielle globale, Bruxelles, 19.–22. Décembre 1958, Gauthier–Villars (Paris, 1959), pp. 37–59.
- [103] P. LIBERMANN, CH. M. MARLE: Symplectic Geometry and Analytical Mechanics, Reidel Publ., Dordrecht, 1987.
- [104] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Algébre de Lie des Champs de Vecteur, Cohomologie 1-differentiable et Deformations, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris 281 A (1975), p. 507 ff.
- [105] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Varietés symplectiques, varietés canoniques et systemés dynamiques in Topics in Differential Geometry, (London: Academic Press 1976), pp. 57–85.
- [106] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Les varietés de Poisson et les algébres de Lie associeés, J. Diff. Geom. 12 (1977), pp. 253–300.
- [107] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Les varietés de Jacobi et leurs algébres de Lie associeés, J. Math. Pures Appl. 57 (1978), pp. 453–488.
- [108] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Generalized foliations and local Lie algebras of Kirillov, Differential Geometry, L. A. Cordero ed. (London: Pitman 1985), Research Notes in Math. 131, pp. 198–210.
- [109] A. LICHNEROWICZ: La géometrie des transformations canoniques, Bull. Soc. Math. de Belgique 31 (1979), pp. 105–135.
- [110] L. MANGIAROTTI: Mechanics on a Galilean manifold, Riv. Mat. Univ. Parma (4) 5 (1979), 1-14.
- [111] L. MANGIAROTTI, M. MODUGNO: Fibered Spaces, Jet Spaces and Connections for Field Theories ,in Proceed. of the Int. Meet. on Geometry and Physics, Pitagora Editrice, Bologna, 1983, 135–165.

- [112] C. M. MARLE: Differential geometry and relativity, M. Cahen, M. Flato eds., (Dordrecht: Reidel 1976).
- [113] C.-M. MARLE: Lie group action on a canonical manifold, Symplectic Geometry (Research notes in mathematics), Boston, Pitman, 1983.
- [114] C. M. MARLE: Contact manifolds, canonical manifolds and the Hamilton-Jacobi Method in Analytical Mechanics, Geometrie Symplectique et Mecanique (Seminaire Sud-Rhodanien de Geometrie), J. P. Duffour (Paris: Hermann).
- [115] C. M. MARLE: Quelques proprietés des varietés de Jacobi, Geometrie Symplectique et Mecanique (Seminaire Sud-Rhodanien de Geometrie), J. P. Duffour (Paris: Hermann), pp. 125–139.
- [116] G. MARMO, G. MORANDI, C. RUBANO: Symmetries in the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalism: the equivariant inverse problem, preprint.
- [117] G. MARMO, G. MORANDI, A. SIMONI: Quasi-invariance and Central Extensions, Phys. Rev D 37 (1988), p.2196 ff.
- [118] J. E. MARSDEN, T. RATIU: Introduction to Mechanics and Symmetry, Texts in Appl. Math. 17, Springer, New York, 1995.
- [119] G. MARMO, C. RUBANO: Particle Dynamics on Fiber Bundles, Bibliopolis, Naples 1988.
- [120] J. E. MARSDEN, S. SHKOLLER: Multisymplectic geometry, covariant Hamiltonians and water waves, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 125 (1999), pp. 553–575.
- [121] E. MASSA, E. PAGANI: Classical dynamics of non-holonomic systems: a geometric approach, Ann. Inst. H. Poinc. 55, 1 (1991), 511-544.
- [122] L. MICHEL: Invariance in Quantum Mechanics and Group extensions, in Group Theor. Concepts and Methods in Elem. Part. Phys., F. Gürsey ed. (New York: Gordon and Breach 1965).
- [123] C. W. MISNER, K. S. THORNE, J. A. WHEELER: *Gravitation*, monograph, (New York: Freeman And Company 1970).
- [124] M. MODUGNO: Torsion and Ricci tensor for non-linear connections, Diff. Geom. and Appl. 1 No. 2 (1991), 177–192.
- [125] M. MODUGNO: Covariant quantum mechanics, book pre-print, 1999
- [126] M. MODUGNO: Covariant quantum mechanics, book in preparation, 2000.
- [127] M. MODUGNO, C. TEJERO PRIETO, R. VITOLO: A covariant approach to classical and quantum mechanics of a rigid body, preprint 1999.
- [128] M. MODUGNO, C. TEJERO PRIETO, R. VITOLO: Comparison between Geometric Quantisation and Covariant Quantum Mechanics, in Proceed. "Lie Theory and Its Applications in Physics - Lie III", 11 - 14 July 1999, Clausthal, Germany, H.-D. Doebner, V.K. Dobrev and J. Hilgert Eds., World Scientific, Singapore, 2000, 155–175.

- [129] M. MODUGNO, R. VITOLO: Quantum connection and Poincaré-Cartan form, Proc. of the Conf. in Honour of A. Lichnerowicz, Frascati, ottobre 1995; ed. G. Ferrarese, Pitagora, Bologna.
- [130] M. MODUGNO, R. VITOLO: Quantum connection and Poincaré- Cartan form, in "Gravitation, electromagnetism and geometrical structures", G. Ferrarese Ed., Pitagora Editrice Bologna, 1996, 237–279.
- [131] A. NIJENHUIS, R. W. RICHARDSON JR.: Cohomology and deformations of algebraic structures, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 70 (1964), pp. 406–411.
- [132] P. PALAIS: A global formulation of the Lie theory of transformation groups, Memoires AMS 22 (1957).
- [133] R. PENROSE: Quantum gravity, C.I. Isham, R. Penrose, D. W. Sciama eds., (Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press 1975).
- [134] L. E. PURSELL, M. E. SHANKS: The Lie algebra of a smooth manifold, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), pp. 468–472.
- [135] M. PUTA: Hamiltonian Mechanical Systems and Geometric Quantization, Math. and its Appl. 260, (Dordrecht: Kluwer 1993).
- [136] G. REEB: Sur certaines proprietés topologiques des trajectoires des systèmes dynamiques, Memoires Acad. Sc. Bruxelles 27 (1952).
- [137] L. H. RHYDER: Quantum Field Theory, Cambridge University Press, first published 1985, second edition (1998).
- [138] D. SALLER, R. VITOLO: Symmetries in covariant classical mechanics, J. Math. Phys., 41, 10, (2000), 6824–6842.
- [139] D. J. SAUNDERS: The geometry of jet bundles, Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [140] D. SALLER, R. VITOLO: Symmetries in covariant classical mechanics, J. Math. Phys., 41, 10, (2000), 6824–6842.
- [141] E. SCHMUTZER, J. PLEBANSKI: Quantum mechanics in non inertial frames of reference, Fortschritte der Physik 25 (1977), 37-82.
- [142] D. J. SIMMS: Lie groups and Quantum mechanics, in Lect. Notes Math. Vol. 52 (Berlin: Springer 1968).
- [143] D. J. SIMMS: Projective Representations, Symplectic manifolds and Extensions of Lie algebras, Lect. Notes at CPT/CNRS, Marseille 1969.
- [144] D. J. SIMMS, N. WOODHOUSE: Lectures on Geometric Quantization, Lect. Notes Phys. 53 (Berlin: Springer 1977).
- [145] J. SNIATICKI: Geometric quantization and quantum mechanics, Springer–Verlag, New York 1980.

- [146] J.-M. SOURIAU: Structures des systèmes dynamiques, Dunod, Paris 1970.
- [147] S. STERNBERG: Lectures on Differential Geometry, (Prentice-Hall, englewood Cliffs 1964).
- [148] S. Sternberg: Minimal Coupling and the Symplectic Mechanics of a Classical Particle in the Presence of a Yang-Mills Field, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 74 (1977), p. 5253 ff.
- [149] S. TANNO: The automorphism groups of almost contact Riemannian manifolds, Tohoku Math. J. 21 (1969), pp. 21–38.
- [150] PH. TONDEUR: Foliations on Riemannian manifolds, Universitext (New York: Springer 1988).
- [151] A. TRAUTMAN: Sur la théorie Newtonienne de la gravitation, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris, t. 257 (1963), 617–620.
- [152] A. TRAUTMAN: Comparison of Newtonian and relativistic theories of space-time, In Perspectives in geometry and relativity, N. 42, Indiana Univ. press, 1966, 413-425.
- [153] W. M. TULCZYJEW: Classical and Quantum Mechanics of particles in External Gauge Fields, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Torino 39 (1981), p. 111 ff.
- [154] W. M. TULCZYJEW: An intrinsic formulation of nonrelativistic analytical mechanics and wave mechanics, J. Geom. Phys., 2, n. 3 (1985), 93–105.
- [155] G. M. TUYNMAN, W. A. J. J. WIGERINCK: Central extensions and physics, J. Geom. Phys., 4, n. 3 (1987), 207–258.
- [156] R. W. URWIN: The prequantization representations of the Poisson Lie algebra, Adv. Math. 50 (1983), pp. 126–154.
- [157] I. VAISMAN: Basic ideas of geometric quantization, Rend. Sem. Mat. Torino 37 (1979), pp. 31–41.
- [158] I. VAISMAN: On the geometric quantization of Poisson manifolds, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991), pp. 3339–3345.
- [159] I. VAISMAN: Lectures on the Geometry of Poisson manifolds, Progress in Math. 118 (Basel: Birkenhäuser 1991).
- [160] I. VAISMAN: On the geometric quantization of the symplectic leaves of Poisson manifolds, Diff. Geom. Appl. 7, n. 3 (1997), pp. 265–277.
- [161] R. VITOLO: Spherical symmetry in classical and quantum Galilei general relativity, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré, 64, n. 2 (1996), 177–203.
- [162] R. VITOLO: Quantum structures in general relativistic theories, Proc. of the XII It. Conf. on G.R. and Grav. Phys., Roma, 1996; World Scientific.
- [163] R. VITOLO: Finite order Lagrangian bicomplexes, Math. Proc. of the Camb. Phil. Soc., 128 n. 3, 1998.

- [164] R. VITOLO: Quantum structures in Galilei general relativity, Ann. Inst. 'H. Poinc.' 70, n.3, 1999.
- [165] A. WEINSTEIN: A Universal Phase Space for Particles in a Yang-Mills Field, Lett. Math. Phys. 2 (1978), p. 417 ff.
- [166] A. WEINSTEIN: The local structure of Poisson manifolds, (a) J. Diff. Geom. 18 (1983), pp. 523–557, and, (b) J. Diff. Geom. 22 (1985), p. 255 ff.
- [167] E. D. WIGNER: Do the Equations of Motion determine the Quantum Mechanical Commutation relations?, Phys. Rev 77 (1950), p. 711 ff.
- [168] N. WOODHOUSE: Geometric quantization, Second Ed., Clarendon Press, Oxford 1992.